Technische Universität München TUM School of Computation, Information and Technology



The Impact of Gamification

on

Corporate Extended Reality Training

Fabrizio Palmas

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Computation, Information and Technology

der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitz: Prof. Dr. Cristina Piazza

Prüfer*innen der Dissertation:

- 1. Prof. Gudrun J. Klinker, Ph.D.
- 2. Prof. Dr. Peter F.J. Niermann

Die Dissertation wurde am 24.02.2023 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Computation, Information and Technology am 24.04.2023 angenommen.

Acknowledgments

I express my sincere gratitude to Prof. Klinker for her scientific support and insightful discussions that broadened my perspective. I am grateful to Prof. Niermann for pointing out the importance of merging science and business, and for his support in my personal growth.

I am deeply thankful to my parents for their enduring patience throughout my youth and for their support of my life choices. I am thankful to my sister for always being there for me. I extend special thanks goes out to my German family for their encouragement.

I am grateful to my friends for their constant support and to my beloved wife, who has been my constant source of love, strength, and unwavering support through every moment of our journey together.

I would like to acknowledge the love and guidance that I have received from those who have passed away who continue to inspire me and fill my heart with gratitude. Their memories will forever be cherished as a testament to the profound influence they have had on my life.

I dedicate this work to my children. I hope to instill in them the values of courage, hard work, and determination.

Abstract

The digital transformation of the modern workplace has meant that people must constantly acquire new skills and deepen their knowledge to remain competitive. This poses a problem for companies, as they need to find effective ways to provide their employees with the latest training and knowledge that prompt them to increase their investment in technology and employee training programs. One strategy that has received attention as a possible solution is the use of gamification in corporate training. Gamification can have a positive impact on corporate training in a variety of contexts due to its ability to foster engagement and motivation. Integrating immersive technology, particularly extended reality (XR), with gamification strategies may provide employees with a more immersive and engaging learning experience. Despite its potential, the impact of gamification on corporate XR training has yet to be fully explored. Establishing an accurate and comprehensive definition of XR is challenging due to the rapid and continuous evolution of the underlying technology. Furthermore, since XR is multifaceted and complex, the concept of XR specifically related to training presents an additional challenge.

A comprehensive analysis of XR leads to the development of a set of characterizations and concepts, which serve to classify and define extended reality training, offering a definitive and enduring definition.

To assess the impact of gamification on corporate XR training, an evaluation of the effectiveness of hard and soft skills training using virtual reality (VR) was performed. Three separate studies were conducted to collect comprehensive data and analyze the impact of gamification on the effectiveness and acceptance of virtual reality training. The first study focused on an assembly task, while the other two studies focused on VR speech training.

In the first study, the potential of VR for training was evaluated using an assembly task, with a focus on integrating gamification to increase the effectiveness of hard skills training. A study was conducted in which participants were randomly assigned to either a gamified or non-gamified version of the same VR training, and their performance was compared based on the time taken and errors made during the training session. The results of the study suggest that the integration of gamification into VR training simulations may have positive effects, particularly for those new to using VR technology.

In the second study, an evaluation of the acceptance and effectiveness of virtual reality speech training (VR-ST) as a tool to improve public speaking skills was performed in the context of soft skills training. The immersive and safe environment provided by VR technology allows trainees to practice and hone their skills in an engaging and non-threatening manner. The results of this study suggest that VR-ST has significant potential as a tool for developing public speaking skills, and may be useful in reducing public speaking anxiety. This study provides evidence that VR-ST is an effective and accepted tool for developing public speaking

skills. In the third study, a further investigation was conducted regarding the effects of gamified direct feedback on the technology acceptance of an evolution of the VR speech training application used in the previous study. This was investigated by comparing a direct feedback version to a simulation-based version and measuring partecipants' technology acceptance using the technology acceptance model (TAM). The results showed a preference for the direct feedback version, suggesting that direct feedback improved technology acceptance among the participants. Furthermore, it was found that VR speech training was generally better accepted by participants without public speaking anxiety, suggesting that integrating direct feedback can improve technology acceptance and may facilitate learning transfer in VR training applications.

In an additional fourth study, a novel educational concept, Adverlearning, has been developed and presented as a final contribution to the ongoing discourse on innovative approaches in learning, education, and corporate training.

The findings of this dissertation suggest that gamification is capable of positively impacting corporate XR training.

Kurzfassung

Der digitale Wandel am modernen Arbeitsplatz führt dazu, dass Menschen laufend neue Fähigkeiten erwerben und ihr Wissen vertiefen müssen, um wettbewerbsfähig zu bleiben. Für Unternehmen stellt das eine Herausforderung dar, da sie ihre Mitarbeitenden möglichst effektiv mit den neuesten Trainingsmethoden und Informationen ausstatten müssen. Dazu werden höhere Investitionen in Technologien und Weiterbildungsprogramme für ihre Mitarbeitenden benötigt. Ein Ansatz, der als mögliche Lösung angesehen wird, ist der Einsatz von Gamification in betrieblichen Trainings. Gamification kann sich positiv auf die unternehmerische Weiterbildung in diversen Anwendungsfeldern auswirken, da sie das Engagement und die Motivation der Mitarbeitenden Steigern kann. Die Verbindung immersiver Technologien, insbesondere von Extended Reality (XR), mit Gamification-Strategien bietet das Potenzial für ein immersiveres und fesselnderes Lernerlebnis für Mitarbeitende. Trotz des vorhandenen Potenzials sind die Auswirkungen von Gamification auf Extended-Reality-Corporate Trainings noch nicht vollständig erforscht.

Eine exakte und umfassende Definition für XR ist, aufgrund der kontinuierlichen und schnelllebigen Weiterentwicklung der zugrundeliegenden Technologien, schwer zu formulieren. Zudem ist das Konzept der XR vielschichtig und komplex und seine spezifische Anwendung in der betrieblichen Aus- und Weiterbildung wird somit zu einer weiteren Herausforderung.

Anhand einer umfassenden Analyse von XR konnten eine Reihe von Eigenschaften und Konzepten entwickelt werden, die dazu dienen Extended-Reality-Trainings zu klassifizieren sowie zu definieren und die Formulierung einer definitiven und langlebigen Definition ermöglichen. Um die Auswirkungen von Gamification auf Extended-Reality-Trainings in Unternehmen einschätzen zu können, wurden Untersuchungen zur Effektivität von Hardund Soft-Skill-Trainings in der virtuellen Realität (VR) durchgeführt. Über drei separat durchgeführte Studien wurden umfassende Daten gesammelt und die Auswirkungen von Gamification auf die Effektivität von und die Akzeptanz gegenüber Virtual-Reality-Trainings analysiert. Die erste Studie umfasste eine Montageaufgabe, während sich die beiden anderen Studien auf Sprechtrainings in der virtuellen Realität konzentrierten.

In der ersten Studie wurde das Schulungspotenzial von Virtual Reality anhand einer Montageaufgabe bewertet. Der Schwerpunkt lag auf der Integration von Gamification zur Steigerung der Effektivität des Hard-Skills-Trainings. Die Teilnehmer der Studie wurden nach dem Zufallsprinzip entweder einer gamifizierten oder einer nicht gamifizierten Version des selben VR-Trainings zugewiesen. Ihre Leistung wurde anhand der benötigten Zeit und der während der Trainingseinheit begangenen Fehler verglichen. Die Ergebnisse der Studie lassen darauf schließen, dass die Integration von Gamification in VR-Trainingssimulationen positive Auswirkungen haben kann, insbesondere für diejenigen, die im Umgang mit Virtual-RealityTechnologien noch unerfahren sind.

In der zweiten Studie wurden die Wirksamkeit von und die Akzeptanz gegenüber einem Virtual- Reality Sprachtraining (VR-ST) zur Entwicklung von Kommunikationskompetenzen für das öffentliche Reden im Kontext eines Soft-Skills-Training untersucht. Die immersive und sichere Umgebung, welche die Virtual-Reality-Technologie zur Verfügung stellt, ermöglicht es den Teilnehmern, ihre Fähigkeiten auf eine ansprechende und sichere Weise zu verbessern. Die Ergebnisse dieser Studie deuten darauf hin, dass ein VR-ST als Instrument für den Ausbau von Redefertigkeiten erhebliches Potenzial birgt und zum Abbau der Angst vor dem Sprechen in der Öffentlichkeit beitragen kann. Die Studie belegt, dass ein VR-ST ein effektives und akzeptiertes Instrument zur Entwicklung von Kommunikationsfertigkeiten für öffentliches Sprechen ist.

In der dritten Studie wurden die Auswirkungen eines gamifizierten direkten Feedbacks auf die Technologieakzeptanz der Teilnehmer gegenüber einer Weiterentwicklung der VR-ST-Anwendung aus der vorherigen Studie erforscht. Hierfür wurde eine Version der Anwendung mit direktem Feedback mit einer rein simulationsbasierten Version verglichen und die Technologieakzeptanz der Teilnehmer mit Hilfe des Technology Acceptance Models (TAM) bemessen. Die Ergebnisse demonstrierten eine Präferenz für die Version mit direktem Feedback und deuteten somit darauf hin, dass direktes Feedback die Technologieakzeptanz der Teilnehmer erhöht. Darüber hinaus konnte beobachtet werden, dass das VR Speech Training von Teilnehmern ohne Angst vor öffentlichem Sprechen besser angenommen wurde. Das deutet darauf hin, dass die Integration von direktem Feedback in VR-Trainingsanwendungen sowohl die Technologieakzeptanz verbessern als auch den Lerntransfer erleichtern kann.

In einer zusätzlichen vierten Studie wurde ein neuartiges Bildungskonzept namens Adverlearning entwickelt und als zunächst letzter Beitrag zur weiter anhaltenden Debatte über innovative Ansätze in den Bereichen Lernen, Bildung und der Weiterbildung vorgestellt.

Die Ergebnisse dieser Dissertation deuten darauf hin, dass Gamification das Extended-Reality- Training in Unternehmen positiv beeinflussen kann.

Prior Publications

The publications are ordered from newest to oldest, with the newest publication appearing first.

- Niermann, P. F. J., Palmas, F. (2023, January). Die Zukunft ist hier: Schlüsselkompetenzen mit Virtual Reality trainieren! In: Harwardt, M., Niermann, P.F.J., Schmutte, A.M., Steuernagel, A. (eds) Lernen im Zeitalter der Digitalisierung. Springer Gabler, Wiesbaden.
- Rudolph, L., Pantförder, D., Palmas, F., Fischer, M., Niermann, P., Klinker, G., Vogel-Heuser, B. (2022, December). Maintenance in Process Industries with Digital Twins and Mixed Reality: Potentials, Scenarios and Requirements. In 2022 IEEE International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management (IEEM) (pp. 0474-0481). IEEE.
- Palmas, F., Niermann, P. F., Plecher, D. A., Klinker, G. (2022, October). Extended Reality Training for Business and Education: The New Generation of Learning Experiences. In 2022 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality Adjunct (ISMAR-Adjunct) (pp. 322-326). IEEE.
- Palmas, F. (2022, July). Using Artificial Intelligence to Improve Human Performance: A Predictive Management Strategy. In: Tareq Ahram, Jay Kalra and Waldemar Karwowski (eds) Artificial Intelligence and Social Computing. AHFE (2022) International Conference. AHFE Open Access, vol 28. AHFE International, USA. http://doi.org/10.54941/ahfe1001441
- Palmas, F., Niermann, P. F. (2022, July). Daily Learning Challenge: A Gamified Approach For Microlearning. In 2022 International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT) (pp. 104-105). IEEE.
- Palmas, F., Niermann, P. F. (2021, July). Extended Reality Training: Ein Framework für die virtuelle Lernkultur in Organisationen. Springer Gabler, Wiesbaden.

- Palmas, F., Reinelt, R., Klinker, G. (2021, July). In-Game Advertising: Brand Integration and Player Involvement as Key Influencing Factors on Brand Recall. In International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction (pp. 352-367). Springer, Cham.
- Palmas, F., Klinker, G. (2021, July). Defining Adverlearning: a Novel Concept to Enhance Learning Using In-Game Advertising. In 2021 International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT) (pp. 72-74). IEEE.
- Palmas, F. (2021, Juni). **Die Zukunft des Corporate Training: Gamified Extended Reality Training**. In: Laske Stephan, Orthey Astrid and Schmid Michael (eds) PersonalEntwickeln. Deutscher Wirtschaftsdienst, Köln.
- Palmas, F., Reinelt, R., Cichor, J. E., Plecher, D. A., Klinker, G. (2021, March). Virtual reality public speaking training: Experimental evaluation of direct feedback technology acceptance. In 2021 IEEE Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR) (pp. 463-472). IEEE.
- Palmas, F., Klinker, G. (2020, July). **Defining extended reality training: a long-term definition for all industries**. In 2020 IEEE 20th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT) (pp. 322-324). IEEE.
- Palmas, F., Raith, J., Klinker, G. (2020, July). A novel approach to interactive dialogue generation based on natural language creation with context-free grammars and sentiment analysis. In 2020 IEEE 20th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT) (pp. 79-83). IEEE.
- Palmas, F., Cichor, J., Plecher, D. A., Klinker, G. (2019, October). Acceptance and effectiveness of a virtual reality public speaking training. In 2019 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality (ISMAR) (pp. 363-371). IEEE.
- Palmas, F., Labode, D., Plecher, D. A., Klinker, G. (2019, September). Comparison of a gamified and non-gamified virtual reality training assembly task. In 2019 11th International Conference on Virtual Worlds and Games for Serious Applications (VS-Games) (pp. 1-8). IEEE.
- Langbein, A., Plecher, D. A., Pankratz, F., Eghtebas, C., Palmas, F., Klinker, G. (2018, October). Gamifying stereo camera registration for augmented reality. In 2018 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality Adjunct (ISMAR-Adjunct) (pp. 125-126). IEEE.

Contents

Acknowledg	nents	iii
Abstract		iv
Kurzfassung		vi
Prior Publica	tions	viii
1. Introducti	on	1
1.1. Disse	ertation Overview	2
1.2. Thesi	is Goals and Research Questions	3
2. Theoretica	al Foundations	6
2.1. Busir	ness Challenges	6
2.1.1.	Digital Transformation	7
2.1.2.	Lifelong Learning and Learning Organization	9
2.1.3.	Public Speaking	11
2.1.4.	Engagement and Generational Clash	16
2.2. Corp	orate Training	18
2.2.1.	The Importance of Employee Skills	19
2.2.2.	Hard Skills and Soft Skills	21
2.2.3.	Skill Gap	23
2.2.4.	Upskilling and Reskilling	24
2.2.5.	Skills for the Future	25
2.3. Learn	ning	27
2.3.1.	Learning Theory	27
2.3.2.	The Types of Learning	31
2.3.3.	Educational Technology	32
2.4. Motiv	vation Theories	34
2.4.1.	Motivation	34
2.4.2.	Maslow's Theory of Human Motivation	35
2.4.3.	ERG Theory	36
2.4.4.	Two-Factor Motivation Theory	36
2.4.5.	Self-Determination Theory	37
2.4.6.	Flow Theory	39
2.4.7.	ARCS Motivational Model	41

Contents

	2.5.	Gamification	2
		2.5.1. Games and Play: Their Value and Importance	2
		2.5.2. History of Gamification	4
		2.5.3. Defining Gamification	6
		2.5.4. Overview of Gamification Design Elements	1
		2.5.5. Gamification and Serious Games	3
		2.5.6. Overview of Gamification and Design Principles	5
		2.5.7. Challenges in Integrating Gamification	0
	2.6.	Video Games	1
		2.6.1. Video Game Market	1
		2.6.2. Business Models and In-Games Advertising	5
		2.6.3. The Efficacy of Video Games	7
		2.6.4. Contextualizing Motivation Theories	8
		2.6.5. Immersive Components of Video Games	4
2	Easta	a de d Deslite Training	r
3.	2 1	Defining Extended Beality	0 6
	3.1.	Augmented Reality	07
	0.∠. 2.2	Augmented Reality 7 Virtual Paality 7	/ 0
	5.5.	221 History	9 1
		2.2.2 Technical Specifications and Characteristics	1 0
		2.2.2. Virtual Poolity for Training	Э Л
	2.4	Defining Extended Deality Training	t o
	5.4.	241 Using Camification for Immoreiva Learning	о 0
		2.4.2 Training Domains and Continuum of VP Training Applications	о 0
		2.4.2. The VB Training Domains and Continuum of XK framing Applications 96) 1
		2.4.4. Discussion 10	1
		2.4.5. Summary 10	2
		3.4.3. Summary 10.	2
4.	Asse	mbly Task in Virtual Reality 104	4
	4.1.	Background	4
	4.2.	Methods and Study Design	5
		4.2.1. VR Hardware	5
		4.2.2. Design of the Training Application	6
		4.2.3. Research Questions and Sample	4
		4.2.4. Metrics	6
	4.3.	Results	7
	4.4.	Discussion and Future Works	2
	4.5.	Summary	3
5	Vint	12 Reality Speech Trainer	1
5.	v 11T	Background 12	± ∕\
	5.1.	Duckgiouna	T

Contents

	5.2.	VR-ST	Version 1	128
		5.2.1.	Implementation	128
		5.2.2.	Phases of the Study	130
		5.2.3.	Metrics	132
		5.2.4.	Sample and Results	139
		5.2.5.	Discussion and Future Works	141
		5.2.6.	Summary	142
	5.3.	VR-ST	Version 2	142
		5.3.1.	Direct Feedback	143
		5.3.2.	Technology Acceptance Model	146
		5.3.3.	Methods and Study Design	147
		5.3.4.	Setup and Implementation	148
		5.3.5.	Sample	153
		5.3.6.	Questionnaires	154
		5.3.7.	Study Design	155
		5.3.8.	Results	156
		5.3.9.	Discussion and Limitations	158
	5.4.	Summ	ary	161
6	A 1			100
6.		erlearn	ing	162
	6.1.	Dafini		162
	6.Z.	Denni	ng Adverlearning	162
	6.3.	Discus		163
	0.4.	Summ	aly	104
7.	Disc	cussion	and Future Work	166
8.	Con	clusion	l	175
۸	Ann	andix		176
А.		Tutori	al stops	176
	A.1.	Corrol	ations and descriptive results	170
	A.2.	Correr		179
Lis	st of I	Figures		181
Lis	st of '	Tables		184
Ac	rony	ms		185
Bi	bliog	raphy		186
	5			

1. Introduction

It is undeniable that the world, economies, and labor markets worldwide are changing rapidly, driven by seemingly endless technological advances. The rate of progress has been exponential and will increase even more in the coming years, making it difficult for many companies to keep up with this rapid change. As a result, the conditions under which people live and work are constantly evolving [NP23; PN21].

These technological advances are likely to lead to changes and innovations that could affect people's jobs and their lifestyles. However, despite the need for digital transformation, companies are struggling to embrace it. As a result, businesses in today's society could be forced into a "survival of the fittest" scenario, in which those who do not adapt quickly enough are left behind [Pal21].

Having the right skills can be one of the deciding factors between success and failure. Therefore, understanding how to more proficiently manage difficult challenges and tasks is crucial for organizations. Consequently, now more than ever, employees must acquire the competencies and skills that will enable them to work efficiently and be fit for the economy of the future [Pal+22]. For example, acquiring digital knowledge is a skill that will be increasingly in demand over the next decade. The demand for programming and IT skills in North America and Europe is expected to increase rapidly as digital transformation becomes commonplace across all sectors [Bug+18].

The digital revolution is already having an undeniable impact on various aspects of people's lives. Communications, learning processes, and working environments have already changed significantly as a result of this development [NP23; PN21]. More changes are expected in the future, and virtually all aspects of people's lives will be affected by this transformation, with significant consequences. Innovative digital technologies promise to simplify everyday life. Technological advances also bring new opportunities, challenges, and uncertainties. One element of the future is uncertainty about which professions will disappear or emerge due to technological advances, confirming that change is an inevitable part of life. Individuals must continually develop and meet industry-specific requirements for their work. Consequently, there is a demand for continuous learning throughout life, as new skills must be learned to enable employees to benefit from changes in the workplace, stay up to date, and remain competitive in the labor market [Pal21].

Due to the changing economic environment, reskilling and upskilling are essential to meet the demands of a globalized economy. In this context, new technological possibilities can be used to support the learning process. In addition, learning must be active and forwardlooking and should be understood as an ongoing process. Therefore, corporate training and learning must be reimagined as an engaging process that is based on experience and knowledge, rather than facts, and that can be supported by integrating newly available technological possibilities into learning activities to achieve entirely new forms of learning.

Incorporating immersive technology and gamification into the corporate training and learning environment has the potential to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of this environment. Immersive technologies allow learners to engage with simulated real-world scenarios and challenges, thus providing them with opportunities to develop practical skills in a controlled setting. Furthermore, the integration of gamification elements could increase the motivation of learners, provide them with feedback on their progress, and engage them in the learning process through providing sense of accomplishment. This approach could lead to improved retention of information by learners and improved learning outcomes.

1.1. Dissertation Overview

The purpose of this section is to provide a brief overview of key concepts that are central to understanding the structure of this dissertation.

First, the theoretical foundations are examined (see Chapter 2). The starting points for this work are the current challenges in business (see Section 2.1). The concept of digital transformation, which refers to the integration of digital technology into all aspects of society and the economy, is discussed. This process is accompanied by a number of challenges, including the need to adapt to new technologies, the potential disruption of traditional business models, and the need to address issues of digital literacy. Subsequently, the concept of lifelong learning is explained, which refers to the continuous process of acquiring new knowledge and skills in order to adapt to changing circumstances and maintain professional competence. In addition, the importance of public speaking for professionals and the differences between generations are discussed.

Next, a comprehensive examination of corporate training (see Section 2.2) and various learning theories (see Section 2.3) is conducted in order to gain a deeper understanding of the processes of knowledge acquisition, retention, and application. These theories have important implications for the design and delivery of educational programs, as well as for measuring learning outcomes. Another topic that will be covered is the distinction between hard and soft skills. Hard skills are specific technical abilities that are often quantifiable and easily demonstrable, while soft skills are more broadly applicable personal attributes that are necessary for success in a range of contexts. Given the rapidly evolving technological landscape and the growing importance of digital literacy, there is a growing need for individuals to engage in upskilling and reskilling in order to maintain their competitiveness in the job market. The importance of these processes and the various strategies and resources available to individuals seeking to enhance their skills and knowledge are discussed.

The presentation of theoretical foundations is concluded with a discussion of motivation theories (see Section 2.4), gamification (see Section 2.5), and video games (see Section 2.6). The use of these three methods in learning and training has proven not only to be effective in

a variety of settings but also to make learning more engaging and interactive.

The subsequent chapters are organized to provide a complete overview of the studies relevant to this dissertation and to present their findings.

Chapter 3 provides an overview of extended reality (XR) technologies and their use for learning. In addition, the concept of extended reality training is defined and discussed.

The next chapter (Chapter 4) focuses on a study concerning the impact of gamification on performance in a virtual reality (VR) assembly task and highlights its potential to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of hard skills training.

Chapter 5 presents an overview of two published studies on VR-ST and its evolution toward a gamified version with direct feedback. The potential of this training approach to improve soft skills is demonstrated in this chapter.

The purpose of Chapter 6 is to provide an in-depth understanding of a novel concept called Adverlearning and to highlight its potential role in future learning, education, and corporate learning.

Chapter 7 contains a discussion of the results of this dissertation and their implications, as well as suggestions for possible directions for future research.

Finally, in the last chapter (Chapter 8), a summary of the most important points of this dissertation is presented.

1.2. Thesis Goals and Research Questions

This dissertation aims to contribute to a greater understanding of the potential impact of gamification and XR on corporate training, with a particular focus on both hard and soft skills. To answer the main research question of this dissertation, the definition of gamification was refined to better reflect the current understanding of its limitations and to provide clarity on its ever-evolving nature. Furthermore, the definitions of adverlearning, training domains, extended reality training and virtual reality training applications were developed; these applications were used in studies to assess the impact and potential of the use of gamification and extended reality technology in corporate training.

This dissertation addresses the following research question:

• Does gamification have the potential to positively impact corporate extended reality training?

To effectively explore the use of XR and gamification in corporate training, a long-term definition of XR training was first created for all industries to provide a clear understanding

of this topic (see Section 3.4).

To assess the impact of gamification on hard skills training, a VR assembly task was designed and developed in order to compare the performance and learning outcomes between a gamified version and a non-gamified version (see Chapter 4). The purpose of this study was to explore the potential benefits of using gamification in VR training for knowledge transfer. Its central hypothesis was that integrating game elements into VR training would increase the training program's effectiveness. To test this hypothesis, subhypotheses were formulated and tested (see Section 4.2.3):

- **H1** The experimental group ¹ will exhibit a different distribution of error counts than the control group.
- **H2** *The experimental group will exhibit a different distribution of error criticalness than the control group.*

The purpose of these hypotheses is to assess the potential impact of gamification on the number and criticality of errors made by users during training. In particular, this study aims to determine whether integrating game elements into the training program leads to a reduction in the total number and severity of user errors.

Two additional subhypotheses were developed to explore the potential benefits of using gamification to enhance the effectiveness of VR training for novices with no prior experience in VR:

- **H3** *VR inexperienced users of the experimental group will exhibit a different distribution of error counts than the respective part of the control group*.
- **H4** *VR inexperienced users of the experimental group will exhibit a different distribution of error criticalness than the respective part of the control group*

These hypotheses aim to investigate the impact of the gamified version of VR training on error frequency and criticalness in VR-inexperienced users. In particular, the gamified version was examined to understand whether it leads to a reduction in error counts and a reduction in error criticalness among these users.

To assess the possibilities of XR for teaching soft skills, a VR-based application called VR-ST (see Section 5.2) was developed to train people in public speaking. The purpose of the study was to systematically assess the effect of VR-ST and determine its acceptability and effectiveness as a training method by collecting data using Likert scales and open-ended questionnaires on participants' experiences and self-reported improvements. Given the limited use of VR for soft skills training and the challenges of measuring its effectiveness, the potential

¹This group used the gamified version.

1. Introduction

value of VR-ST as a learning tool to improve soft skills needs to be carefully evaluated. This analysis aims to contribute to a better understanding of the usefulness of VR-ST as a training modality and to make decisions regarding its implementation in corporate training programs.

To further investigate the potential of VR-ST, two new versions were developed and compared: one that incorporated gamified elements to provide gamified direct feedback, and one that offered pure simulation training without any game elements (see Section 5.3). This comparison was carried out to determine which version was perceived more positively by the learners and to assess the feasibility of each approach for future use in the context of corporate training. In addition to examining the technology acceptance model (TAM), two other constructs were examined to gain a deeper understanding of the acceptance of direct feedback and to assess the potential benefits of gamification, in terms of increasing intrinsic motivation, and the risks of sensory overload. Furthermore, this study aims to provide a more complete understanding of the factors that can affect the acceptance and effectiveness of VR-ST.

Hypothesis 1 for this study can be defined as follows:

• H1 Direct feedback results in higher technology acceptance than simulation-based feedback.

Within the scope of this study, it was hypothesized that people with a fear of public speaking may be more receptive to using VR-ST, resulting in higher acceptance. Additionally, earlier exposure to VR may lead to increased use of VR-ST, which could improve the perceived ease of use. VR-ST could be perceived as more useful and thus be more likely to be used if its ease of use were improved.

Consequently, hypotheses 2 and 3 are as follows:

- **H2** *Participants with public speaking anxiety show higher acceptance of technology than participants without public speaking anxiety.*
- **H3** *Participants with prior VR experience show higher technology acceptance than participants without prior VR experience.*

Besides the aforementioned research goals, the focus was placed on developing and presenting the novel concept of Adverlearning, which aims to contribute to the ongoing discourse on innovative approaches to learning, education, and corporate training (see Chapter 6).

2. Theoretical Foundations

The purpose of this chapter is to provide a comprehensive examination of various theoretical principles relevant to the topic of corporate training. In particular, this chapter is focused on the concept of digital transformation and the challenges it poses to organizations, as well as the different learning theories that help to understand how individuals acquire and retain knowledge and skills. The distinction between hard and soft skills and the importance of upskilling and reskilling in the context of a rapidly changing technological landscape are discussed. In addition, an overview of public speaking as a valuable professional skill and an exploration of the use of gamification and video games as learning and training tools are provided.

In general, this chapter provides a theoretical foundation for understanding future-oriented corporate training.

2.1. Business Challenges

With the rise of digital technology, business faces new challenges and must adapt to remain relevant and responsive. As the business landscape changes rapidly, it is increasingly important for employers and employees to embrace lifelong learning to to current with the latest technological advances. In addition to technological challenges, a number of others challenges are based on human problems.

It is generally accepted that the ability to present confidently in front of an audience or speak in front of a group is considered a hallmark a successful person. As a result, those who lack these skills may be at a disadvantage when competing for promotions or new employment opportunities. Additionally, public speaking is frequently cited as one of the most common fears, which can manifest in a variety of ways. Despite its high prevalence as an essential skill for success in business, the value of public speaking is often under-recognized and underrated. However, public speaking can be improved through training.

Additionally, companies face generational conflicts in the workplace, which also pose challenges to individual managers. These challenges require companies to provide their employees with opportunities for continuous learning and development and to create a culturale change of openness to learning. As a result, companies remain competitive and are able to prepare their workforces for future challenges.

The following sections examine each of these challenges in more detail and provide a

comprehensive understanding of each topic.

2.1.1. Digital Transformation

The convergence of digital technologies has changed culture, the way people live, and business processes. This changing environment is also affecting the way companies operate as they adapt their business models [Alm+21; Via19], while most companies are reluctant to act due to changes in the business landscape. Furthermore, many companies and individuals have not been willing to acknowledge the disruptive effects of this current development [Vey+17].

The term digital transformation is widely used and misinterpreted, leading to confusion and implying that it is imperative to ensure conceptual rigor regarding the topic [GR21]. However, the nature of the nuances of digital transformation is broad and has not been well defined. Digital transformation is gaining popularity as a buzzword and is used by various stakeholders to describe forms of innovation in their respective sectors and domains. "Digital" suggests that many changes will be influenced by information technology to provide better information to stakeholders. In addition, downstream digitization would be able to optimize, automate, and utilize a variety of production techniques. The term "transformation" describes a general process of changing a situation for the better. However, due to the evolutionary nature of this transformation, the word transformation may not be appropriate [GR17].

Gong and Ribiere [GR21] presented a comprehensive and concise definition of digital transformation, based on a thorough review of 134 related publications, as follows:

"A fundamental change process, enabled by the innovative use of digital technologies accompanied by the strategic leverage of key resources and capabilities, aiming to radically improve an entity* and redefine its value proposition for its stakeholders. (*An entity could be: an organization, a business network, an industry, or society.)" [GR21]

With the advent of digital transformation, the importance of internal and external knowledge is gaining in prominence and requires corporate training [OIB18; Vey+17] and a culture of tech-savvy employees [Via19]. In addition, corporate training has evolved as a different field that requires technological progress in accordance with new technologies [KOK17].

Several companies have already invested in employee training by expanding their investments in continuous learning and growth opportunities. However, many executives are unaware of the far-reaching implications of digitization. A thorough understanding of digital transformation and the required skills, knowledge, and attitudes are essential to enable leaders and employees positions to effectively lead an organization through this process [Vey+17].

Digital transformation requires companies to invest continuously in the skills and knowledge of their employees. In this way, they can mitigate the risks associated with such a transformation. The long-term corporate training necessary to achieve this goal develops and improves the digital skills of employees, which are essential for success in today's economy [Alm+21]. Digital competence is an extremely valuable skill that is applicable to many aspects of daily life [FBR21] and seems to be associated with higher income [Don+21]. The failure of innovative projects is also often caused by the inability of decision makers in organizations to understand how best to implement technology [Pal21]. This may result in projects that do not meet the expectations of stakeholders. Furthermore, the top executives of large organizations can face severe consequences, as they can be blamed for the failure of the project and the detrimental impact on the business. This could have a negative impact on their professional reputations and future career prospects.

Taking this into account, digital literacy can be seen as an essential skill to succeed in a job [GPH20], especially for nondigital natives [Con19]. In addition, studies have shown that small- and medium-sized companies need a high level of basic digital skills. In fact, a lack of these competencies can further complicate the implementation of digitization [Lei21].

Using information and communication technologies and digital media requires a variety of skills, knowledge, and attitudes, which Ferrari defines as digital competence [Joi12]. Digital competence includes the ability to use information and communication technologies in an effective, critical, and creative manner to achieve work-related goals, gain employability, and learn. Moreover, it includes social and personal skills, which means that digital competence is also an important leadership skill; in combination with other skills, it becomes a competitive factor in dealing with complex situations in the new work environment [NS20]. Furthermore, to increase longevity and competitiveness, companies need to become learning organizations to maintain their existing knowledge and actively develop their knowledge base [PK20].

An employee's attitude towards changes and digitalization is crucial for coping with digital transformation, and this transformation is more likely to be accepted by the organization if there is openness to it [Seu+20]. Therefore, in this context, employees' individual ability and willingness to change play an essential role for companies [Ull+17]. Fundamentally, digital transformation requires technology acceptance and a positive attitude toward digitalization from employees.

To meet the diverse needs of employees in the workplace today, corporate training should leverage new technologies [NP23; Pal21]. Outdated skills are likely to result in employees becoming obsolete and consequently affecting their marketability. For this reason, companies must create an environment that encourages learning and growth at all levels. Therefore, companies that offer learning opportunities have an advantage in building long-term relationships with their employees and in attracting and retaining a qualified workforce [HK20; Wil18].

The organizational culture of a company can play a crucial role in its success in digital transformation [OIB18]. In terms of intercultural relationships and learning ability, an organization's culture is a direct reflection of the behavior of its employees. An organization's culture determines how employees behave within a company and is crucial to supporting change within the organization [GHS06; Pal21]. It should also be noted that in this symbiosis of strategy, structure, and processes, corporate culture plays an important role in the cultural sustainability and innovative ability of a company [GHS06].

2.1.2. Lifelong Learning and Learning Organization

Learning and change are essential components of private and professional life. By accepting change and understanding the gaps between a person's current situation and their intended future status quo, learning creates new opportunities for future growth [Lon11].

In recent years, there has been a growing awareness of the importance of lifelong learning [AA12; DR14]. As in the past, the notion that education was limited to our formative years is no longer valid [Fis00]. During the lifelong learning process, people can build on their previous knowledge and skills, giving them endless opportunities for improvement that could positively impact their career advancement.

Today, to be successful on the job or in other areas of life, people must have skills that go beyond what can be learned through formal education [Don+21].

The European Commission's [Eur01] definition of lifelong learning is as follows:

"all learning activity undertaken throughout life, with the aim of improving knowledge, skills and competences within a personal, civic, social and/or employment-related perspective." [Eur01]

This definition focuses on activities that fall into the category of learning activities, such as formal and informal activities, and shows similarities with other definitions of lifelong learning.

Furthermore, several definitions of lifelong learning show common understandings of the meaning and characteristics of terms used (see Tab. 2.1).

Lifelong Learning (LLL)			
Autor	Date	Definition	
UNESCO International Bureau of Education	1984	All learning activity undertaken throughout life, with the aim of im- proving knowledge, skills and/or qualifications for personal, social and/or professional reasons.	
International Labour Organization	2006	All learning activities undertaken throughout life for the development of competencies and qualifications.	
Technical Education and Skills Development Authority	2010	The process of acquiring knowledge or skills throughout life via educa- tion, training, work and general life experience.	
European Commission Lifelong Learning Programme	2011	This refers to all general education, vocational education and training, non-formal education and infor- mal learning undertaken through- out life, resulting in an improve- ment in knowledge, skills and com- petences within a personal, civic, social and/or employment-related perspective. It includes the provi- sion of counselling and guidance services.	
South African Qualifications Authority	2013	Learning that takes place in all con- texts in life-formally, nonformally and informally. It includes learn- ing behaviors and obtaining knowl- edge; understanding; attitudes; val- ues and competences for personal growth, social and economic wellbe- ing, democratic citizenship, cultural identity and employability.	

Table 2.1.: Lifelong learning: some definitions offered by the UNESCO-UNEVOC [UNE14]

A different view is provided by Jarvis [Jar06], who defined lifelong learning as follows:

"The combination of processes throughout a life time whereby the whole person—body (genetic, physical and biological) and mind (knowledge, skills, attitudes, values, emotions, beliefs and senses)—experiences social situations, the perceived content of which is then transformed cognitively, emotively or practically (or through any combination) and integrated into the individual person's biography resulting in a continually changing (or more experienced) person." [Jar06]

By focusing on the learner, this definition recognizes the human aspect of learning, taking into account the learner's individual life experiences, body, and mind. Furthermore, according to this definition, life could be understood as a continuous learning process or learning experience.

According to all of these definitions, lifelong learning has the potential to enable individuals, organizations, and nations to become more competitive and perform better. However, there are strong expectations and perhaps even pressure to continue studying and participating in employment-related forms of learning [Tig98].

With the advent of new technologies in the digital world of work, the need for lifelong learning is becoming increasingly important for both employers and employees, underscoring the need for skilled workers and employers to increase their investment in human capital [NS20].

Companies not only must be able to learn to remain competitive and extend their lifespan; they also have the responsibility to further develop the knowledge and skills of their employees. It is possible to achieve this goal by embracing change to become a learning organization that retains knowledge within the organization and continuously improves it. Furthermore, an active and continuous effort is required to build a productive learning environment to facilitate this transformation [PK20].

In this context, a learning organization can be described as an organization that provide the necessary organizational structure and capacity to develop an enabling environment that ultimately leads to knowledge development and financial viability [WK18].

2.1.3. Public Speaking

It is general knowledge that successful communication is a key asset that can be applied to a wide range of professional situations, including politics, education, and the workplace. In organizations, individuals with strong communication skills are crucial because their communication skills allow them to have a significant impact on the company and be successful in management [Pal+19a].

Furthermore, the ability to effectively communicate in public has many benefits, including the ability to positively influence others, develop leadership capabilities, and increase authority ¹ [Har17].

Ineffective human resource management contributes significantly to the costly and inadequate flow of communication. Additionally, business losses from poor communication can

¹Thought leadership.

result from a lack of preparation, inefficient speakers, an overwhelming amount of information presented, and other communication difficulties. Understanding the sources of ineffective communications and taking steps to avoid them are essential for organizations to mitigate these costs [Pal+19a].

Public speaking is the act of preparing and presenting a speech in front of an audience. To achieve this goal, it is essential to understand the audience and the goals of the speech, to choose elements that motivate the audience to pay attention, and to deliver an effective message. Those who are successful in public speaking understand that speech preparation is the key to success. Moreover, to avoid mistakes, their material should be planned, organized, and revised in advance [Har17; Hau22; SE16].

According to Harris [Har17], public speeches can be classified into three types:

- **Informative:** One of the most popular types of public speaking is informative speech. Informative speeches serve to exchange information or impart knowledge about a specific topic. The audience is informed about new topics or enlightened about things that they were not aware of. Speeches of this kind are common in the workplace.
- **Persuasive:** This type of speech aims to persuade a group of people. For some individuals, making persuasive speeches is essential to achieving and maintaining professional success.
- **Ceremonial/Entertaining:** Since early ancient Greece, ceremonial and entertaining speaking has played a prominent role in society. It is common for such speeches, from short introductions to longer speeches, to be given on many occasions, such as wedding toasts or eulogies. In addition, ceremonial speeches may include after-dinner speeches and motivational speeches.

Despite its diffusion and importance, public speaking can be challenging for many people due to lack of experience and other factors [Pal+19a; PK21]. However, by understanding how effective public speaking is built (see Fig. 2.1) and practicing it, it is possible to improve public speaking skills.

2. Theoretical Foundations



Figure 2.1.: Effective public speaking. Retrieved from Harris [Har17]

Palmas et al. [Pal+19a; Pal+21] summarized the main criteria for a well-received and successful public speech as follows:

• **Body Language:** In order to deliver a successful speech, it is necessary to build a relationship between the communicator and the audience. Whether the communication is verbal or non-verbal, the body plays a major role. The body language of a speaker during a speech reflects both confidence and well-being. This also affects how the audience perceives the speaker. Therefore, it is important to be aware of the different ways body language can be used to make a positive impression. An important aspect of body language is posture. Confidence can be instilled by assuming an open posture with one's feet planted firmly on the ground. In addition, a person with uncrossed hands and arms appears approachable and open. Another way to communicate effectively is through gestures (see Fig. 2.2). The most effective place to use persuasive gestures is in an imaginary TV window between the head and the waist. When a speaker uses gestures within this frame, the likelihood that the audience will see and understand their gestures increases.



Figure 2.2.: Hands orientation. Own representation based on Schott [Sch21]

• Eye Contact: Eye contact is an essential part of a speech that creates a sense of connection and engagement with the audience (see Fig. 2.3). In addition, it is important to maintain the audience's attention and present content effectively. The key to maintaining eye contact with an audience of just a few people when giving a speech is to take turns looking at each listener in the room. Considering that employees communicate primarily in meetings, this approach is beneficial in everyday business situations. When communicating with a larger audience, it is a good idea to alternate making eye contact with the audience in different parts of the room so that each listener feels included and therefore more apt to pay attention.



Figure 2.3.: The connection with the audience is established and maintained through eye contact. Own representation based on Schott [Sch21]

• Language: Speakers need to maintain proper posture and breathe calmly in order to ensure a distinct volume and the smooth flow of their speech. The aim of this technique is to make the speech more pleasant to listen to by giving it a melody that is pleasant to the audience. For maximum audience understanding, the speaking rate should vary between 100 and 150 words per minute. In addition, eliminating filler words can improve the effectiveness of communication, improve the listener's perception of the speaker's competence, and direct audience's attention.

There is significant fear and anxiety ² related to public speaking among employees in professional settings. In addition, people consider public communication to be one of the most threatening and challenging situations [Gal+22; Pal+19a]. Because employees are expected to

²This condition is also known as public speaking anxiety.

communicate their ideas and concepts to colleagues in the professional environment, public speaking situations are often unavoidable. According to research, these situations can lead to high emotional distress for some employees. In addition, this emotional burden of public speaking can lead to a range of mistakes during presentation, such as poor body posture, avoiding eye contact, speaking with one's back towards the audience, and speaking too quickly without catching one's breath [PK21]. Anxiety associated with public speaking can cause distress in some individuals.

Anxiety related to public speaking has been recognized as a social phobia and an anxiety disorder ³. A primary symptom of this type of anxiety disorder is a strong fear of (social) situations that evoke complex emotional reactions [Pal+21].

Fear is conceptualized in terms of the connection of two or more associative networks ⁴ that are responsible for maintaining information about the fear-eliciting stimulus, the responses to the stimulus, and its meaning. The fear structure is activated by associative networks as soon as the feared stimulus appears in the environment. As a result, the fear structure is reinforced by avoidance behavior that inhibits learning [KF15].

One therapy method that has been shown to reduce symptoms of public speaking anxiety is gradual behavioral exposure. Through behavioral exposure, participants are exposed to repeated challenging public speaking situations in a safe environment [Eng+12; Pal+21]. Additionally, another goal is to reduce the emotional response associated with public speaking by practicing presentation techniques. In repeated exercises, the participants will become familiar with the skills required to give a presentation successfully ⁵ [Pal+21].

Notably, public speaking skills and behaviors can be taught and learned to enable speakers to develop their confidence in real-life situations [Har17; Pal+21]. In addition, new, technologically enhanced training methods offer innovative training methods. An example is the use of VR as an innovative approach for exposure to challenging situations over time. Upon adoption of VR, a safe training environment can be created in which real-life situations can be simulated and faced according to the individual requirements of the participants [Pal+21; Pal+22; Pre+22].

2.1.4. Engagement and Generational Clash

Employee motivation is a crucial factor in the long-term success of any company. According to Gallup ⁶, employee engagement can be defined as the extent to which employees are interested and enthusiastic about their work and workplace. Employee engagement can also be described as the extent to which organizations can measure and manage employee perceptions of key elements of workplace culture [Gal20].

A long-term study ⁷ showed a steady tendency without significant fluctuation that around

³DSM-IV: diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders.

⁴Cognitive fear structures.

⁵E.g. Participants can improve their body language, eye contact, and communication skills.

⁶A global analytics and advice firm.

⁷The study is called "Gallup Engagement Index". Data were collected in Germany, and this study lasted from 2001 to 2019.

15% of employees ⁸ of a company felt a strong emotional bond with their employer [Nin19]. Given that most of the employees reported little or no engagement, companies should consider improvements to be necessary. In addition, in more than five decades of research on employees engagement, Gallup has found that engaged employees in all industries, at all company sizes, in all countries lead to better business outcomes than their peers, and even in tough economic times [Gal20].

One of the biggest challenges companies face is understanding the importance of employee engagement and how to engage them. Furthermore, this challenge carries a high level of risk, considering that the cost of lost productivity caused by disengaged employees is estimated to be 7.8\$ trillion worldwide ⁹ [Pen22]. It has been found that employees are more likely to perform well when rewards are not limited to money or other material factors ¹⁰ [NS17b]. However, the personal needs and goals of employees can come into conflict with organizational requirements and company goals ¹¹.

Culture and generational diversity have increased in the workplace, resulting in differing values and needs among employees [Cuc+21]. Consequently, there are generational differences and distinguishing characteristics [Ber14; Cla17; Nie16] (see Fig. 2.4).

Generation	Х	Y	Z
Birth period	1965-1980	1980 - 1999	2000+
Major global events	 End of Cold War Vietnam War Fall of the Berlin Wall 	 > Technology > 9/11 terrorist attacks > Social media > Google 	 Global crisis Mobile devices Arab spring Data cloud
Device most frequently used Most frequent	 TV set Desktop computer SMS 	 Smartphone Laptop SMS 	 Tablet Smartphone
communication methods	 Phone e-mail 	 Social media Online media 	 Social media Online media
Technologies	> Tool that I use	Perfect tool that I use	 Real world and virtual reality are interwoven
Feeling of security	Permanent jobSkills	SkillsMoney	Relationships
Work outlook	CareerJob	Work-life balance	Working at homeMultitasking
Major characteristics	 Flexibility Individualism Scepticism towards authority Job security 	 Technological convenience Global communications Optimism Freedom Flexibility 	 Distrust of political systems Permanent connection with the Web Freedom Mobile generation

Figure 2.4.: Overview of the generations. Adapted from Nieradka [Nie16]

⁹This corresponds to 11% of global gross domestic product.

⁸The survey was conducted among 1,000 employees. The results reflect the demographics of the German workforce aged 18 and over.

¹⁰There is a widespread belief in the business world that material factors are the most effective way of motivating employees.

¹¹In contrast to corporate goals, employees generally place more value on opportunities for personal and professional development and advancement, according to Palmas [Pal21].

Although employees have different values, interests, and needs and belong to different generations, the workforce must work in harmony and function as a cohesive organizational entity. Furthermore, human resource management must take into account these generational differences and characteristics in order to find ways to motivate employees by satisfying their individual or generational interests [Pal21].

Conversely, the increasing attention paid to generations has been accompanied by a rising number of studies questioning the validity of empirical evidence of generational differences, due to oversimplified generational clustering ¹² [PU21]. Based on the current state of research in this area, it is evident that further research is needed to determine the extent to which such differences exist and how they can be efficiently managed in the workplace.

For organizations affected by generational conflicts, a targeted investigation may be required and an intervention such as team building or diversity training may be recommended [Cuc+21], given that there are often generational differences in education and training environments [Cla17].

2.2. Corporate Training

Training on the job has historically been a crucial component of acquiring skills and knowledge. Furthermore, training has a proven history of developing and improving professional competencies [Bel+17; Car03; MMK20].

The industrial revolution led to significant changes in the way companies operate. To remain competitive in the marketplace, companies had to not only adopt new technologies but also adapt to them. This adjustment process was further complicated by the emergence of a skills gap resulting from the limited availability of professionals to fill positions within the company. As a result, many organizations introduced internal training programs to fill this skills gap. As technology advances, the need for a skilled workforce becomes more important [Car03].

In recent years, the importance of human capital for business success has become increasingly recognized [Qui14]. In the literature on human resource management and human resource development, training, development, and education have been the subject of considerable debate and discussion [Gar97]. While training and development share similarities, they also possess characteristics that distinguish them. In addition, training and development, as some of the critical functions of human resources, are management-initiated activities carried out within an organization [DS20].

In this context, training aims to provide employees with the skills needed to perform their duties effectively [Car03; Rui+20], while development focuses on long-term professional advancement and prepares employees for future organizational roles [Car03; DS20]. Consequently, both training and development programs serve as fundamental and indispensable elements to facilitate employees' acquisition of knowledge and competencies that are essential for performing effectively in their respective positions.

¹²For example, the different generations are classified strictly by year but different characteristics can be observed within a generation.

A more effective strategy for organizations would be to adopt an integrated approach to training, development, and education that recognizes the interconnectedness of these activities and the importance of learning as a unifying principle [Gar97] ¹³.

There is a widespread misconception that training is an expensive investment without guarantee of return [LP00]. Keeping training costs low is one of the biggest challenges for many companies. The adoption of technology provides a viable solution to this problem, as it allows low-cost training that can be performed almost anywhere, anytime [Bis19]. Training programs often fail to meet the needs of employees when they are not properly linked to the organization's objectives [LP00]. For training to be considered valuable, it should result in positive changes in behavior in the real workplace [Bri06]. Rather than viewing training as a cost, it should be viewed as an investment that can lead to a more productive and engaged workforce. This can lead to productivity gains. Therefore, training can significantly affect employee performance and behavior if it is designed and implemented properly [LP00].

In order to determine a training's success or failure and to improve the quality of future programs, evaluation is essential. Furthermore, evaluating the effectiveness of corporate training is important to ensure that it meets the needs of the company [Gue15]. The evaluation process helps to assess the different aspects of the training, including its content, its design, the success of the learners, and the benefits provided to the organization. Training evaluations are also imperative in improving the quality of future training programs [Rui+20].

It is also important to find common ground between concepts and terms on which to make these evaluations. A review of the literature on training evaluations indicates that the numerous aspects of training program evaluation have been described using several terms. Different terms are sometimes used to refer to the same activities, and sometimes, multiple authors cover a variety of evaluation activities using similar or the same terms. This inconsistency in terminology makes it imperative for those involved in the evaluation of training programs to first establish a common language before evaluating the training programs [LP00].

In this dissertation, corporate training refers to an intentional and organized process intended to enhance the expertise and skills of an organization's workforce through the use of evidence-based methodologies and technology. Corporate training aims to equip employees with the skills and knowledge relevant to their current or future professional role. By increasing the performance and competence of employees in the workplace, corporate training strives to increase the overall productivity and competitiveness of an organization in both the short and long term.

2.2.1. The Importance of Employee Skills

The importance of investing in training and development is underpinned by a wealth of research on the subject. In recent years, technological advances have made it even more important for companies to invest in their people [ASB15]. In fact, there are several positions

¹³Such an approach would allow companies to optimize the development and use of human capital and improve the overall performance of the organization.

within an organization that require specific skills that cannot be learned through formal education [Eur19].

According to Ursula von der Leyen ¹⁴ [Eur22], skills are an important aspect of economic growth:

"The green and digital transitions are opening up new opportunities for people and the EU economy. Having the relevant skills empowers people to successfully navigate labour market changes and to fully engage in society and democracy. This will ensure that nobody is left behind and the economic recovery as well as the green and digital transitions are socially fair and just. A workforce with the skills that are in demand also contributes to sustainable growth, leads to more innovation and improves companies' competitiveness." [Eur22]

In this context, skills can be seen as competencies or qualifications that employers and employees must have for a company to operate effectively and, in turn, for the economy to function effectively. Although some of these skills may be known, others may not and must be identified to ensure proper training and development. Several factors contribute to changes in the skills needs of the economy. In an organizational setting, the typical approach to addressing a skills gap is to find individuals with the necessary competencies to meet evolving business needs. However, this may not always be a viable or feasible solution. A lack of employees with the required skills may be due to quantitative constraints that lead to the existence of a skills gap. In other cases, this gap may be due to the introduction of new technologies [FBR21]. However, companies must work to bridge the gap to be successful.

A recent study by the European Investment Bank [JCT18] confirmed the importance of skill development. It found that achieving future prosperity requires a focus on developing skills to create growth and inclusion in economies, while laying the foundation for future innovation. Investing in education and training helps countries unlock the potential of their workforce and enables them to participate in the global economy. Furthermore, skills are not only important for economic growth but can also lead to positive changes in societies that are crucial for social development [JCT18].

According to Nicholas Schmit ¹⁵ [Eur22], investing immediately and heavily in people's skills is imperative:

"Skills mean jobs – quality jobs. During the European Year of Skills, we have an opportunity to connect the dots between labour market-oriented training and labour shortages. To make sure that the transition to a carbon-neutral economy is truly fair and inclusive, we need massive and immediate investment in people's skills." [Eur22]

In most organizations, learning and development are an integral part of improving the competitiveness and life of employees. These ultimately contribute to their success [Arn17].

¹⁴President of the European Commission.

¹⁵European commissioner for jobs and social rights.

Furthermore, to empower their employees, organizations should invest in and provide a variety of learning resources and tools to allow employees to improve their skills [Arn17; CMP20].

In recognition of the fact that the effectiveness of training transfer on the job can sometimes be low, organizations should carefully consider all the factors involved when designing training interventions to optimize outcomes [Sak02; SB06]. In addition, increasing labor competition, as accentuated by technological advances, has made it more necessary for people to invest in themselves [Arn17; Tho03].

Organizations must examine the prerequisites for success to determine their individual and organizational learning needs. To support the optimal development of an ideal employee, it is necessary first to establish what skills current employees are lacking. By comparing current skills with the skillset of ideal employees, companies can determine how to adapt training programs to improve the performance of the workforce [Arn17].

2.2.2. Hard Skills and Soft Skills

When defining skills, it is helpful to recognize that they are broad terms that can have a variety of meanings. Skills can include experience and knowledge acquired over time or specific abilities that can be used in a professional environment to complete tasks or solve work-related challenges. A person's skills are usually classified according to their level of qualification, such as low-skilled, medium-skilled, or high-skilled [FBR21].

Developing effective corporate training requires an understanding of skills that traditionally fall into two categories: hard skills and soft skills. It is generally accepted that hard skills are more transferable to the workforce than soft skills. Furthermore, the perception that soft skill training is ineffective has led to the misconception that companies should hire employees who already have soft skills, rather than assuming that they can develop them through training [LP11].

According to Laker and Powell [LP11], hard (see Tab. 2.2) and soft skills (see Tab. 2.3) training can be distinguished based on the effects of the following characteristics on trainees:

- Prior learning and experience
- Trainee resistance to learning
- Organizational resistance to transfer
- Managerial support and resistance
- Identification of training needs and objectives
- The immediacy and salience of feedback and consequences
- Degree of similarity between training, work, and work environments
- Level of proficiency (mastery) achieved in and after training

- Degree of self-efficacy achieved
- Scope of training responsibilities and methods of instruction

Hard skills are those that can be quantified using certain metrics (e.g., they are commonly measured in formal education and technical training) [Dal+15; Rob12]. For hard skills, it is likely that the transfer environment and the need for other skills will change. The cause of this phenomenon is the simultaneous development of technology and the skills required to keep up with it [LP11]. In contrast, soft skills are more abstract and are defined as a set of skills that extend beyond technical expertise.

Characteristic	Hard-Skill Training	
Prior learning and experience	Less prior experience	
Thor learning and experience	Less negative transfer	
Trainee resistance to learning	Less trainee resistance	
Organizational resistance to training	Less organizational resistance	
Managerial support and resistance	Greater support and less resistance	
Identification of training needs and objectives	More precise identification	
Immediacy and salience of feedback and consequences	More immediate and more salient on the job	
Similarity between training, work, and work environment	More immediate and more salient on the job	
Level of proficiency (mastery) achieved in training	Greater degree of proficiency (mastery) achieved	
Degree of self-efficacy achieved	Greater degree of self-efficacy achieved	
Scope of training responsibilities	Hard-skill trainers and methods	
and methods of instruction	of instruction are frequently hard-skill specific	

Table 2.2.: Characteristics of hard skills training. Adapted from Laker and Powell [LP11]

Soft skills can be defined as a comprehensive term that refers to a diverse and broad categorization of interpersonal or intrapersonal skills, including but not limited to effective communication, professional behavior, emotional intelligence, leadership, teamwork, negotiation prowess, and the skills related to managing time and stress [DS13; LP11; FBR21]. Essentially, soft skills encompass personality traits, behaviors, and the natural qualities of individuals, and they promote a positive work environment [Dal+15; LP11]. Consequently, soft skills are harder to develop [LP11; PE16] and have gained increasing attention in recent years [LP11; MWI97; Wel05] due to their relevance when introducing new technologies [Seu+20].

2.	Theoretical	Foundations

Characteristic	Soft-Skill Training
Prior learning and experience	Greater prior experience
	Greater negative transfer
Trainee resistance to learning	Greater trainee resistance
Organizational resistance to training	Greater organizational resistance
Managerial support and resistance	Less support and greater resistance
Identification of training needs and objectives	Less precise identification
Immediacy and salience of feedback and consequences	Less immediate and less salient on the job
Similarity between training, work, and work environment	Less immediate and less salient on the job
Level of proficiency (mastery) achieved in training	Lesser degree of proficiency (mastery) achieved
Degree of self-efficacy achieved	Lesser degree of self-efficacy achieved
Scope of training responsibilities	Soft-skill trainers and methods
and methods of instruction	of instruction are frequently soft-skill specific

Table 2.3.: Characteristics of soft skills training. Adapted from Laker and Powell [LP11]

An individual's past experiences influence how they respond to new circumstances. In addition, learning new skills is particularly challenging, as previous experiences often provide the framework for understanding new concepts. This means that most of the course participants are familiar with the material presented in soft skills training. Prior knowledge can also be a deterrent, as participants may be resistant to learning new skills. In this context, it is essential that trainers know the previous experiences and skills of the participants [LP11].

According to Tyson [Tys20], the acquisition of soft skills together with cognitive and/or academic skills, leads to better economic, employment, and academic outcomes. As a result, these traits are believed to translate into greater success at work [Tys20]. In addition, executives consider soft skills to be among the most important employability skills among job applicants due to their direct impact on the workplace [Rob12]. Therefore, it is imperative to equip students with the soft skills required to succeed in their careers as new professionals [SN16].

2.2.3. Skill Gap

It is generally accepted that there will be a surplus of low-skilled workers in the coming years. Previous studies have also predicted a shortage of skilled workers for the global workforce due to an estimated surplus of low-skilled workers [Jan+15; Mt+16; MMK20]. As a result, many vacant positions will remain unfilled and workers will be unemployed or underemployed [Bis19], creating a significant challenge for companies when it comes to finding suitable candidates.

When the skill set required for a job does not match the skill set possessed by the employee, a skill gap occurs. This gap is considered a problem in our contemporary economy [FBR21] that can hinder employers and employees from meeting the needs of the industry, resulting in lower productivity and higher employee turnover rates [Bis19; Cap15].

In order to address the skills gap, it is essential to provide adequate knowledge and training to allow employees to interact effectively with other people and develop the personal attributes of each individual [Gya+14].

2.2.4. Upskilling and Reskilling

The learning and development industry often relies on counterproductive practices. Over the past quarter century, organizations have changed drastically, but their approach to learning solutions based on unified or event-based approaches has not. In contrast to maintaining a stationary organizational learning process, it is imperative to embrace a continuous and widespread learning program [Qui14].

In today's fast-paced and volatile work environment, there is a new urgency for organizations to upskill and reskill their workforce [Pal21; PN21]. In fact, many of today's organizations rely on their people to develop skills in order to perform at their best, although every organization has employees with different skill levels and competencies. Overall, this workplace reality suggests that companies must focus on training their employees and confirm that lifelong learning has become an inevitable necessity for success in today's workplace and for surviving in an ever-changing world [Con19].

Upskilling can be viewed as a process that helps employees quickly adapt to changing work environments, technologies, companies, and industry developments. This can be achieved by updating, refreshing, and reviewing the employee skillset through continuous learning and training programs [Con19]. This allows employees to improve their current skills or deepen their skills to make a meaningful impact in their area of expertise [Pal21]. Furthermore, the skill gap can be filled by upskilling, which can contribute to increased revenues, productivity, and efficiency, as well as cost savings and improved customer satisfaction [Gya+14].

Reskilling has become an increasingly important part of preparing employees for changes in business, as it consists of training current employees in entirely new job-specific knowledge and skills to be prepared for future challenges that may also arise from technological advances [Li22; Pal21].

Nowadays, not all types of employee development can be placed in a single category, and training and development can combine elements that best suit their needs, allowing for a customized approach that better suits the specific needs of organizations. The Confederation of British Industry, which represents around 190,000 companies and includes more than 70 universities and 30 colleges, has examined the concept of training and learning new techniques in the business sector. Their results emphasize that employee training, learning, and personal development are changing based on the latest advances in technology and the labor market [Con19]. This changing labor market means that companies must focus on empowering their workforce through training and personal development to remain competitive.

As the future of work becomes more uncertain, it is imperative that the upskilling and reskilling processes allow people to acquire the skills they need to respond to challenges such as the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic and others they may encounter in the future. The unpredictable global impact of the COVID-19 pandemic required companies to have a high degree of versatility and a culture of innovation regarding employee training programs [NP23]. The lockdown measures ¹⁶ have led almost all companies to offer digital and virtual training

¹⁶Stay-at-home restrictions.
formats [Int21; NP23; PN21]. The response has been to increase the amount of online learning available to companies and organizations. However, some challenges have been encountered due to the limited digital literacy of employees and the lack of infrastructure to provide online training [Int21]. Besides the traditional training methods employed by companies, innovative methods, such as VR and augmented reality (AR), could offer advantages in such scenarios to support upskilling and reskilling processes. However, the willingness and courage to change of decision makers in companies, as well as the desire to adopt innovative learning concepts, are fundamental with respect to new technologies, such as XR [PN21].

2.2.5. Skills for the Future

"The illiterate of the 21st century will not be those who cannot read and write, but those who cannot learn, unlearn, and relearn." [Oxf16]

These forward-looking observations on education by Alvin Toffler [Joh22] suggest that teaching students how to learn, unlearn, and relearn can bring an influential new dimension to education [Oxf16]. However, with technological innovations rapidly developing and changing, it becomes challenging to identify and forecast what future skills and knowledge will be required to remain competitive in the economy of tomorrow [FBR21]. Additionally, to actively prevent skill gaps, it is necessary to identify skill shortages through sectoral forecasting [Eur17] and plan accordingly. Thus, corporate training should become a more integral part of an organization's strategy [Car03].

Furthermore, individual skills can develop over time, and this process is influenced by several factors, such as the individual's age, level of education, environment, and peers [Kau+14]. This suggests that organizations can potentially benefit from adopting new learning methodologies and technologies to support their corporate training.

A report released by the World Economic Forum in 2016 identified the ten skills that employees must have or develop by 2020 and emphasized the importance of soft skills [Wor16]. Recently, the World Economic Forum predicted that the skills necessary to perform many jobs will change significantly. In addition, employees will face an increasing instability of skills, underscoring the importance of reskilling and upskilling as essential to remain competitive [LRZ18; Wor20b]. Furthermore, the World Economic Forum also predicted that in the future, a significant number of jobs will require some form of digital skills. This implies that a training ecosystem needs to develop within an organization to effectively support the development of employee skills [LRZ18; Wor20a] and that a training ecosystem within an organization must evolve to effectively support the development of employee skills.

Given what has been discussed previously, digital transformation can be viewed as an inevitable and irreversible process that challenges companies to train their employees for unpredictable, emerging professions, and unpredictable specific skills needed for their success.

A 2021 study conducted by the McKinsey Global Institute [Don+21] looked at the types of skills that will be needed in the future and found that manual, physical, and basic cognitive activities will decrease, while higher cognitive skills that require technological or social skills will increase and gain importance [Don+21]. Furthermore, these findings are supported by

2. Theoretical Foundations

other studies [FBR21; LRZ18]. The study identified 56 elements of talent in 13 skill groups and four broad categories (cognitive, digital, interpersonal, and self-leadership) that will benefit all citizens and will enable them to thrive in the future work environment (see Fig. 2.5). Furthermore, these findings indicated that people with college degrees performed better in the 56 different areas of talent and are better prepared for changes on the job [Don+21].



Figure 2.5.: The 56 foundational skills. Retrieved from Dondi et al. [Don+21]

The study found that the respondents were least proficient in two skill groups in the digital category: software usage and development and understanding of digital systems. They also underperformed in cognitive skills such as communication, planning, and working methods [Don+21].

With the increasing number of professions being redefined by digital technologies, it is also imperative to adapt education to the needs of the future. The current education system

does not seem to prepare students, who are future workers, in the best possible way for the challenges of the digital revolution because it is based heavily on the curricula of previous industrial revolutions [NS20].

In summary, while the exact skills that employees will need in the future are uncertain, organizations must prepare in advance. Furthermore, the results of the McKinsey Global Institute [Don+21] suggest which topics should be prioritized in corporate training programs.

2.3. Learning

In the broader context of a competitive society, learning is widely recognized as a critical element for individual and organizational success. Given the multifaceted and complex nature of learning, applying learning theory principles could be a valuable tool to improve the effective use of resources within an organization.

Learning theories are a fundamental aspect of understanding the mechanisms and processes of learning. Various theories offer different perspectives on how learning occurs, and it is important to note that these theories are not inherently geared toward the application or optimization of resources for sustainable and economically efficient learning. Rather, they serve to provide a general understanding of the underlying principles and mechanisms of learning. The value of learning theories lies in their potential to help develop a broader and more accurate understanding of learning and to support the identification and implementation of more effective instructional practices. In this sense, learning theories, while not having direct practical relevance, play a crucial role in supporting the advancement of our understanding of learning and ultimately in facilitating improvements in the learning process.

The forthcoming topics will include a comprehensive examination of learning theory, types of learning, and educational technology.

2.3.1. Learning Theory

Learning is a complex and multifaceted phenomenon that has significant implications for individuals and society. Although no universal definition of learning is widely accepted, there is general agreement that learning is a process by which people acquire and apply knowledge, skills, and values. Learning can take place in both formal structured settings, such as schools and universities, and in informal settings, such as at home, at work, and through daily life experiences. The impact of learning is also far-reaching, affecting not only individuals but also families, communities, organizations, and societies [Sch12]. As new technologies advance, it becomes increasingly difficult to provide effective new learning opportunities. Moreover, the application of appropriate approaches based on learning theories may vary depending on the nature of the subject matter, the cognitive profile of the learners, and situational factors [PLT10].

Although the exact nature of learning is unclear, the criteria considered central to learning

are generally accepted (see Tab. 2.4). Furthermore, there is a wide spectrum of interpretations and beliefs between individuals regarding core concepts and mechanisms of learning [Sch12]. These beliefs originate from a variety of sources, including introspection, personal experiences, external observations, and academic studies [Wan12].

Learning involves change	
Learning endures over time	
Learning occurs through experience	

Table 2.4.: Central, generally accepted learning criteria. Own representation based on Schunk [Sch12]

The creation of learning environments is based on three main learning theories: behaviorism, cognitivism, and constructivism. However, these theories predate the significant impact of technology on the learning process. Today, theories that convey principles and learning processes must reflect the social contexts in which learning now takes place.

Educational approaches often involve different learning theories, which can be categorized as follows [NP23]:

- **Behaviorism** focuses solely on the connection between stimulus and response. Accordingly, human behavior, including learning, is determined by consequences. When a stimulus (input) is received, a response (output) is produced. The human brain is viewed as a black box, and the fact that reality is a construct of the brain is not taken into account. In addition, neither the motivation nor the emotion of the learners is considered in this theory. Only the result counts, not how new behavior arises [McL03; NN09; NP23]. It is asserted by Ansar et al. [ARR21], that the behaviorist perspective is and will remain the most effective strategy to achieve successful results through educational processes.
- **Cognitivism** assumes that learners play an active role in the observation and experience process, through which they can access their stored knowledge. Learners establish a solution-oriented and goal-oriented action plan [Arp13; NN09]. The teacher largely determines what is learned and how and intervenes actively and supportively if necessary. Likewise, learners are responsible for developing their own learning or problem-solving strategy by choosing appropriate methods and reflecting on the outcomes and the learning process [McL03]. In summary, procedural knowledge instead of pure factual knowledge is in the foreground.
- **Constructivism** is an epistemology based on psychological and philosophical principles rather than a theory in itself. This viewpoint does not postulate that learning principles can be determined and experimentally validated; instead, it claims that learners generate their reality and learn through perceptual observations. Cognition and perception are constructive and nonrepresentative activities of the observer. As a result, reality can be seen as the self-description of the brain based on past experiences in which observer

and matter merge to form a cognitive world, our reality. The constructivist perspective emphasizes the mutual relationship between individuals and their surroundings in the enhancement and acquisition of skills and knowledge [NN09; Sch12]. According to this learning theory, along with the processing of information, new things, concepts, or truths are created. Furthermore, learners and teachers are two distinct, loosely coupled systems in which learners develop their own knowledge and do not rely on teacher-mediated instructions [McL03].

• **Connectivism** is a theory of learning for the digital age, the central idea of which is that learning occurs in self-organized systems and networks, in which interpersonal relationships are formed as part of an interconnected network [Sie05]. This concept clearly refers to the relationship between human learning and the widespread access to knowledge enabled by the current technological environment [CS20]. Although connectivism provides a useful lens through which teaching and learning can be better understood and managed, technologically enabled networks are unlikely to be explained by a single theory.

As reflected in the following learning theory, Nagowah and Nagowah [NN09] assessed the strengths and weaknesses of their approach:

• Behaviorism

Strength: Throughout the learning process, the learners are aware of and respond to a defined goal to ensure that they behave similarly under the given circumstances. *Example:* A monthly sales report should be produced by the same query each month. *Weakness:* Learners often find themselves in situations where they need to react in real time, but the instructions presented are incongruent and do not match their previously learned information.

Connectivism

Strength: Learners are trained to approach a task in the same way repeatedly. *Example:* Customer service departments need to be able to answer the same questions in the same way.

Weakness: The individual learns a method to perform a particular task, which may not always be the most appropriate method in the circumstances. *Example:* In programming, there can be different ways to write a certain code to perform a same task and produce the same results, but some may be less efficient than others.

• Constructivism

Strength: Due to the ability to relate new life challenges to similar problems solved in the past, learners will be better prepared to deal with real-world situations. *Example:* Students can apply the knowledge gained from solving previous case studies to solve a new one.

Weakness: In situations that require conformity in thinking and behavior, this learning

theory is not applicable. *Example:* Key performance indicators cannot be evaluated based on individual understandings of them.

Learning theories have evolved from behavioral to cognitive, situational, and sociocultural explanations, shifting the focus from behavioral change to knowledge acquisition to social participation [Shu01]. Despite the differing interpretations of learning theories among scholars, they are useful as guidelines to help individuals in specific situations. In addition, any theory of learning is designed to lead learners to a change in perspective through growth and development [Wan12].

Given the importance of learning, developing effective learning applications requires examining its complexity and trying to understand its many aspects. According to contemporary theories, a meaningful learning process has the following characteristics [Shu01]:

- active
- self-regulated
- constructive
- cumulative
- goal-oriented
- context-dependent
- social
- cultural
- interpersonal

Understanding the human cognitive architecture through evolutionary theory may provide powerful insights into the learning process. The cognitive load theory suggests that a person's ability to process information is limited and determined by the amount and type of information received [Kal09a; Kal09b; SAK11]. As information processing is a fundamental aspect of learning, this theory provides a framework for constructing more effective instructional design, as well as an explanation of why certain types of information are easier to understand than others.

A study by Pange et al. [PLT10] points out that different learning theories have different effects on students and have different effects in a computational environment when applied to different subjects. This study illustrated the complexity of this topic by showing that, in addition to learning theory, the content, structure, and nature of the course and social interactions were important factors in the learning process.

In education, such theories suggest that the meaning and understanding of the information conveyed to students do not depend solely on the content presented or the method of delivery; rather, it is the responsibility of the learners to construct meaning through their own cognitive interpretive processes [Shu01]. However, to achieve the desired learning outcomes, it is important to design instructional solutions according to learning theories [CM22].

While cognitivism, behaviorism, constructivism, theories of social interaction, and humanistic theories have long been dominant approaches to the study of learning, new approaches are emerging that incorporate or combine new and known theories. Education has been transformed by new technologies that have gained prominence in both formal and informal educational processes, adding new dimensions to pedagogy, theory, and practice [PLT10].

2.3.2. The Types of Learning

Several terms are commonly related to lifelong learning, considering that it allows learners to be as flexible as possible in their learning process, such as self-directed or self-organized learning¹⁷. However, there is no universally accepted definition of these terms [NS20; NP23].

Erpenbeck and Heyse [EH99] categorized them as follows [NP23]:

• Self-directed

Learners have access to all given elements and components of the learning system.

• Externally-regulated

Learning objectives are established by the teacher, along with operations, strategies, and control processes.

• Self-organized

Learners choose and take action in an effort to increase their own professional, methodological, social, personal, and interpersonal competencies.

• Externally-organized

In order to achieve self-organization goals within the learning system, a teacher assigns complex and changing learning situations that cannot be created with previous operations or strategies.

In the second half of the twentieth century, humanistic traditions in adult education promoted the notion of self-directed learning as an expression of human agency. From this point of view, it is believed that a person can be an active, energetic, free, and conscious person, choosing their own goals, directions, and patterns of behavior, rather than always being exposed to external and internal influences. The essence of learner autonomy can be seen as an expression of self-determination¹⁸ and self-management¹⁹. In order to enable self-directed learning, both conditions of learner autonomy must be met [Bou12].

¹⁷The concept of self-directed learning is wider than but related to self-organized learning.

¹⁸The willingness to learn must be present.

¹⁹A person's ability to exercise control over the learning process.

Based on the perspectives of Harri-Augstein and Thomas [HT91], self-organized learning can be defined as the conscious and active participation of learners in their own learning. In constructive discussions with oneself and others, the learning process is observed, sought, analyzed, formulated, and reflected upon. Several benefits can be gained from this approach, including greater flexibility and creativity and a better understanding of the learning process [LJ12]. Additionally, self-organized learning is considered a central prerequisite for the development of competencies, and organizational learning is based on individual learning aimed at developing competencies, which includes both the acquisition of knowledge and the development of values. Companies that support self-organized and organizational learning is process and organizational learning is process. (Reg98].

2.3.3. Educational Technology

The term "educational technology" encompasses a wide range of technologies, methods, processes, and resources that can be used to enhance learning experiences in different educational settings [HSY19].

Educational technology is based on the assumption that new technologies and applications can have an impact ²⁰ on learning. It should be noted that learning is a dynamic process and that the characteristics and functioning of educational institutions are influenced by the social, cultural, economic, and political realities and factors surrounding them. Additionally, technological developments can affect these realities by creating technological pressures on society that impact the educational practices of educators and schools [Kim19].

Educational technology research is a relatively young field, and the relationship between technology and education has been debated for almost as long as the two have existed together. Despite its questionable effectiveness, research on the subject has shifted from theory building to understanding the most effective way to implement new technologies in educational settings [KI21].

Kimmons and Irvine [KI21] identify the main topics in educational technology research from 1970 to 2020. Their results can be summarized as follows:

• 1970s:

Despite the young age of educational technology of these years, researchers had already begun exploring its potential. To determine the most efficient way to use technology in education, they examined many different educational methods and theories. Research focused primarily on television and other visual communication media to assess their potential use in the classroom. In addition, education technology in general has experienced rapid growth.

• 1980s:

Researchers have been exploring how their fields²¹ might interact in order to improve

²⁰Depending on the technology and application, this influence can be positive or negative.

²¹Education, technology, and psychology.

education. Despite its many challenges, research has enhanced educational technology through increased awareness and advancement.

• 1990s:

To date, technological advances have had the most significant impact in the field of education, with numerous debates surrounding the implementation of technology in educational settings. The research focus has been primarily on strengthening the theoretical foundations of the field, with limited investigation of new technologies. Some authors have challenged existing frameworks, while others have attempted to defend their fundamental theories to provide stronger arguments for the effective use, development, or evaluation of educational technology.

• 2000s:

As technology has become more ubiquitous, questions have also been asked about the impact of this new technology on learners. One such question relates to the so-called digital natives ²² and their needs. In addition, concerns have been raised about technological advances and the integration of novel resources into a classroom. As a result, this decade has witnessed a marked increase in empirical studies and tests examining technology's effectiveness in education. These years were marked by a focus on technological advances and the use of technology in education. Various studies ²³ have been conducted in which researchers and educators were able to assess the impact of technology on education, leading to useful ideas for future research.

During this period, e-learning was the most popular research topic, and a related topic was blended learning. In addition to mobile learning and educational games, Facebook was also a frequently discussed topic.

• 2010s:

This decade was a great time for technological advances, with mobile technology having a particularly large impact on education. As more and more people used smartphones and other mobile devices, the popularity of mobile games increased and led to significant advances in this industry. There was a growing trend of incorporating play elements into educational situations to enhance learning. This is often referred to as gamification. Furthermore, educators explored alternative methods to enhance the learning experience, such as leveraging social media platforms, and using augmented reality technology. Others were interested in teachers' adoption of technology. Therefore, the TAM received considerable attention due to several factors, including its applicability to a wide variety of contexts and examples, its ability to explain variations in usage intent or actual usage of technology, and its ease of design within

²²People who have grown up immersed in technology.

²³These studies includes e-learning, blended learning, digital native, learner satisfaction, technological acceptance model, environmental factors, Facebook, and integration of new technologies.

the structural equation models. The use of augmented and VR technology in education gained traction as researchers explored its potential to improve the learning process.

• 2020s:

The COVID-19 pandemic has required a review of education. As a result of the pandemic, schools were forced to close almost overnight and switch to a distance learning model. Around the world, these changes have presented challenges to teachers, schools, students, and their families. Furthermore, many questions about education, politics, and pedagogy still need to be addressed.

2.4. Motivation Theories

A motivated employee is a productive employee. This is a simple equation that is widely accepted and has been proven time and time again in organizations around the world. When employees are motivated, they are more likely to be committed to their work and to achieving results, which in turn leads to higher productivity and better business outcomes. Given the importance of motivation, it is not surprising that companies place such high value on it. Organizations need all the advantages they can get in today's competitive business environment, and motivated employees can give them a significant advantage.

A theoretical basis for employee motivation that facilitates understanding of this topic must be created. There have been numerous attempts to define and explain motivation in the literature.

This section addresses these topics and provides an overview of the theory behind gamification.

2.4.1. Motivation

Psychology and economic studies of motivation have provided valuable insight into why people behave in certain ways. According to research, various motivating factors can affect performance and the successful completion of tasks [Nie14; NS17b; RK12; TJ12; Wri91].

The terms "motivation" and "motives" are still used today to describe the reasons for human behavior [HS13]. For a proper understanding of the topic, an explanation of the differences between the terms is necessary. As a term, "motive" can be traced back to Latin, where motivum means reason or impulse and can be defined as the underlying reason for a specific behavior [HS13]. However, motivation can be viewed as the psychological process that describes general behavior. In addition, it is a process of establishing, controlling, and maintaining certain behaviors [RK12; TJ12; Wri91] that should not be confused with either willpower or optimism [RK12].

A thorough comprehension of motivational theories is critical to accurately predicting and understanding human behavior. With an understanding of the different types of motivational theories, a company can develop more effective strategies to motivate its employees.

2.4.2. Maslow's Theory of Human Motivation

Maslow's theory of human motivation states that the fulfillment of five fundamental needs is necessary for an individual to reach their highest level of development and realization [Mas43]. The needs identified by Maslow's theory ²⁴ are organized hierarchically, with basic needs at the lower levels and more sophisticated needs at the upper levels. According to Maslow, each level of need must be satisfied before a person can move on to the next level. Finally, once all of these other needs are met, a person can reach self-actualization, which is the highest level of need. This is the point at which a person reaches and realizes their full potential ²⁵ [Mas43]. Maslow's theory has been very influential in the field of psychology and has helped to shape our understanding of human motivation.



Figure 2.6.: Maslow pyramid of needs. Retrieved from Poston [Pos09]

²⁴There are five basic needs according to Maslow [Mas43]: physiological needs, safety needs, social belonging, self-esteem, and self-actualization.

²⁵According to Maslow [Mas43], it is the desire for self-fulfillment.

Maslow's theory of motivation has encountered widespread criticism for failing to consider the complex interrelationships between different needs and for oversimplifying the relationship between needs and motivation. However, it also achieved a high profile, so many contemporary theories of motivation make direct comparisons with his theory. According to Maslow and many contemporary studies, physiological and sociophysiological needs drive motivation. However, to the best of our knowledge, these drivers do not follow the same hierarchical order proposed by Maslow [NS17b].

2.4.3. ERG Theory

In response to the limitations of Maslow's theory, Alderfer developed the Existence, Relatedness and Growth (ERG) theory theory to reconcile the hierarchy of needs with empirical research [AB02; AG79]. This theory relates to the understanding of the factors that influence different human behaviors [Cau12]. Currently, researchers consider ERG theory to be a more valid version of Maslow's hierarchy of needs as it relates to motivation at work [AB02].

Accordingly, existence refers to physical safety needs and physiological needs, while relationship encompasses all interpersonal relationships and interactions with other people. Through growth, people can express their creativity and develop as individuals. This involves self-development, personal growth, and development [Ald72].

2.4.4. Two-Factor Motivation Theory

Two-factor motivation theory is well known in job satisfaction research. This theory assumes that there are two groups of factors in the workplace that influence job satisfaction or dissatisfaction and can be distinguished as motivators ²⁶ and hygiene factors ²⁷. Motivators have a direct impact on work motivation and represent an intrinsic point of view. In contrast, the hygiene factors related to the work environment represent an extrinsic consideration [ASM17; Her03].

Herzberg [Her03], analyzed 12 studies to determine how different factors affect job attitudes. The results show that a significant influence is attributed to motivators. The findings regarding hygiene factors suggested that company policies and administration actively increased dissatisfaction in the company (see Fig. 2.7).

²⁶E.g. sense of achievement, successes, recognition.

²⁷E.g. salary, working conditions, interpersonal relations.



2. Theoretical Foundations

Figure 2.7.: Factors that influence work attitude. Retrieved from Herzberg [Her03]

According to Hackman and Oldham [HO76], as shown in Fig. 2.7, the primary factors of employee satisfaction are intrinsic to the work that is undertaken, while the primary causes of employee dissatisfaction are extrinsic to the work itself.

2.4.5. Self-Determination Theory

By examining the effects of external rewards on intrinsic motivation, Ryan and Deci [RD00b] explored the distinction between intrinsic and extrinsic motivation and concluded that some activities are intrinsically motivating. As a result, they developed the self-determination theory [RD00a; RD00b] and defined intrinsic and extrinsic motivation as follows:

- **Intrinsic motivation** is defined as engaging in an activity for its own sake, as opposed to being motivated by receiving external rewards. A person's intrinsic motivation indicates that a person is motivated primarily by pleasure or challenge and not by external incentives or pressure.
- **Extrinsic motivation** depicts the motivation that is present when an activity is conducted to accomplish a specific, separate goal.

Therefore, intrinsic motivation is opposed to extrinsic motivation. According to the selfdetermination theory, the degree of autonomy of extrinsic motivation can vary greatly [Kel10; RD00a], and it is possible to represent the types of motivation as a continuum [Han+21] (see Fig. 2.8).



Figure 2.8.: Self-determination theory's overview. Retrieved from Hansen et al. [Han+21]

Self-determination theory provides an empirical explanation of intrinsic motivation by identifying three main psychological needs that drive intrinsic human motivation [RD17] (see Fig. 2.9). These needs are as follows:

- **Competence** means the pursuit of competence and the attainment of proficiency to master a situation. The individual must come to terms with their own behavior and goals. Feeling empowered by being able to take direct action that leads to actual change is an important factor in empowering oneself.
- **Relatedness** refers to social connections. To maintain a sense of belonging, people desire social connections. These connections can be encouraged in an individual either by being noticed by others or by being praised for their behavior. Consequently, they feel connected and a sense of belonging to a group.
- Autonomy: A person's autonomy refers to the voluntary nature of their actions. The core of autonomy is being able to regulate one's own actions without relying on others. The individual must come to terms with their own behavior and goals. Independence and self-reliance are not necessarily synonymous with autonomy. In the case of extrinsic motivations, the need for autonomy and thus intrinsic motivation decreases.



Figure 2.9.: Motivational constructs based on self-determination theory. Retrieved from Hansen et al. [Han+21]

2.4.6. Flow Theory

The importance of intrinsic motivation in an educational context cannot be underestimated, as various studies over the years have confirmed its importance as an intrinsic drive to acquire knowledge [Ame92; Anj+21; Got85; Wig+04].

Intrinsic motivation may be found in people experiencing a state of flow. According to the flow theory of the psychologist Csikszentmihalyi, a person experiencing this state is fully engaged in a task and performs at their best [NC09].

According to its original definition, flow can be understood as the holistic feeling that people experience when they are fully engaged. Furthermore, to experience flow, an individual must achieve an equilibrium between the challenges inherent in a given situation and their ability to overcome them. Such a positive state can increase motivation and engagement [Bea15]; it is experienced as an intrinsically motivated and self-rewarding state in which the perception of space and time is felt as detached from reality [CC06; NC02; Wil89].

To study the nature and conditions of enjoyment, Csikszentmihalyi studied activities that emphasized enjoyment as the primary reason for engaging in a particular activity. Consequently, to experience flow, awareness of barriers and opportunities for intervention, a clear set of proximal goals, and instant feedback on progress must be met [NC02]. Many people report that they are more likely to experience flow at work than in recreational activities [CL89].

For an experience to be optimal, there must be a balance between skill and challenge. This, in turn, results in intrinsic motivation and the best results. In contrast, when the challenge is too great compared to current abilities, it can lead to anxiety and poor performance. In addition, a lack of challenges can lead to boredom, which in turn reduces motivation. Achieving an optimal balance between the level of difficulty and the complementary skills of the individual is crucial to maximizing the experience [Bea15; Che07; CC06; NC02] (see Fig. 2.10).

The flow experience is described by Chen [Che07] as follows:

"During the Flow experience, we lose track of time and worries. Indeed, our level of focus maximizes our performance in and pleasurable feelings from the activity. Flow is also called the optimal experience, or being in "the Zone". Though often associated with professional athletes and artists, it is a feeling shared by every human being. Recall being so engaged in something that you forget to eat or sleep." [Che07]



Figure 2.10.: Representation of the flow principle. Own representation based on Niermann and Schmutte [NS17a]

In addition, nine elements are related to this theory [Bea15]:

- Challenge skill balance
- Clear goals

- Unambiguous feedback
- Action awareness merging
- Concentration on the task at hand
- Sense of control
- Loss of self consciousness
- Transformation of time
- Autotelic experience

This theory can be seen an instructive and informative resource for educators [Bea15] and is commonly used in video games and gamification research [Che07; Oli+21].

2.4.7. ARCS Motivational Model

A consideration of the different factors that influence learning motivation is crucial to better understanding and improving it. According to the ARCS motivational model, four categories of variables ²⁸ that have an impact on motivation can be identified ²⁹ as follows [Kel87; Kel10; Kel12]:

- Attention: The ability to pay attention is an essential part of learning ³⁰. In order to motivate learners, it is necessary to develop curiosity and gain and maintain their attention. It is extremely difficult to maintain a satisfactory level of attention throughout the learning process. Therefore, the aim is to find a balance between boredom and indifference versus hyperactivity and anxiety.
- **Relevance:** At its basic level, relevance is about making connections between the instructional environment and learners' goals, learning styles, and previous experiences. The purpose of creating a relevant environment is to motivate the learner to learn, which is essential in this context ³¹.
- **Confidence:** Confidence is determined primarily by feelings of control and expectations of success. In addition, confidence encompasses areas of motivational research.

²⁸According to Keller[Kel12], each of these major categories is further subdivided into several subcategories composed of smaller homogenous sets of concepts.

²⁹Based on research into human motivation and a motivational design process compatible with traditional instructional design models.

³⁰Keller [Kel87] states that attention is a prerequisite for learning.

³¹According to Keller [Kel12], relevance is also supported in this context by several other concepts, including achievement, affiliation, power, competence, flow, and authenticity. Moreover, learning can be motivated by both extrinsic demands and intrinsic desires. According to self-determination theory, it can be effective to combine extrinsic factors and intrinsic factors.

• **Satisfaction:** Learning experiences must be satisfying in order for learners to develop a continuous motivation to learn. Furthermore, accomplishments can be reinforced by both internal and external rewards. In this context, learners need to feel a sense of fairness and justice.

According to the model, these four conditions must be met for people to be and remain motivated to learn [Kel87; Kel10; Kel12].

2.5. Gamification

Increasing competition and constant market changes mean that more and more companies are changing their organizational requirements. Consequently, adaptability must become more dynamic to function efficiently, which also means that work environments are changing significantly inside and outside of the organization. There is no doubt that global projects will continue to grow, involving teams of internal and external collaborators working on individual projects or on a project basis to achieve specific goals. Without an overarching goal that ties them together, these reorganized workforce structures are unlikely to remain cohesive in the long term. It is common for companies to quickly adopt established organizational structures and patterns that do not encourage employee participation. As such, it is not uncommon for organizations to consider restructuring themselves or developing new methods to perform specific tasks to create more exciting and varied roles. Despite this, organizations are finding it increasingly difficult to motivate their employees to maintain rigid and outdated organizational structures.

This section introduces the concept of gamification, which can be used to increase productivity and playfulness and create a more engaging work environment for generations in organizations that are struggling to adopt traditional strategies.

2.5.1. Games and Play: Their Value and Importance

Play, games, and game-inspired designs have often been praised throughout history for improving the condition of mankind [ND17].

The 1980s showed that computer games had the potential ability to engage users, and consequently researchers began to look for productive uses of this technological medium and what could be applied to other fields [Mal80; Mal81; Mal82]. An example of these are business areas that constantly strive for improvement. In 1984, Coonradt wrote a book aimed at helping companies find ways to make work more enjoyable while improving engagement, productivity, and results [CN07].

This book³² encompasses two concepts, expressed by the terms "game" and "play" that share similarities but also notable differences. Distinguishing between these two concepts is

³²The Game of Work: How to Enjoy Work as Much as Play.

crucial to understanding their meaning and gaining a deeper understanding of gamification and its origins.

Homo ludens (man the player) is a term coined by Huizinga in 1938 to describe the urge to play as the primary drive in human life. Huizinga argued that all human culture and civilization is influenced by play, viewed as a means of learning, acquiring, and mastering skills. It can also be seen as a way to build social bonds and relationships [HNF06]. Huizinga further discusses how the definition of play changes between cultures, noting that in most modern European languages, play is defined as a voluntary, free activity that has rules and a goal. Play itself is not considered serious, but is performed seriously and is usually accompanied by a feeling of tension, excitement, or joy. Moreover, it must be viewed differently from the activities of ordinary life [HNF06; Rod06].

According to Caillois [Cai01], this concept of play does not adequately distinguish between play and game within a continuum that includes controlled (Ludus) and spontaneous (Paidia) play [BD18; ELL68].





Despite Caillois' exemplification and description of Ludus, which represents games with social rules ³³, and that of Paidia, which refers to a form of play typical of childhood, Caillois does not provide a precise definition of these terms ³⁴. Moreover, the rules in Ludus define a winner and a loser, while in Paidia there are no such rules [Fra13].

Ludus employs the classical Aristotelian three-act structure, with three acts defining the interactions between participants and the stakes involved. As part of the initial act, players are introduced to the game's rules. In the following act, participants engage in a series of activities based on those rules. As a final phase, winners and losers are determined [Fra13].

From the standpoint of Salen and Zimmerman [SZ04], the terms "games" and "play" differ from each other. Games are descriptively grouped under the term play, but conceptually play is an integral part of games. In addition, these terms are both subcategories of each other [SZ04].

Salen and Zimmerman [SZ04] define a game as follows:

"A game is a system in which players engage in an artificial conflict, defined by rules, that results in a quantifiable outcome." [SZ04]

³³E.g., Chess, soccer, and poker.

³⁴E.g., Building blocks, fantasy games, and kinetic games.

In this definition, the rules-based nature of a game is important to emphasize that people freely choose to engage in a conflict that can be resolved by following specific rules that define it. Its outcome can be measured at the end of the proposed conflict within the system. Additionally, the authors define play as follows:

"Play is free movement within a more rigid structure." [SZ04]

Among the differences between games and play, one of the most important that should be recognized is that in games, an achievement or an ultimate goal can be quantified. This is what separates game from play, as play is characterized by the lack of quantifiable goals.

2.5.2. History of Gamification

The term and concept of gamification is relatively new and has gained prominence in recent years. Its origins are unclear, and various possible roots have been identified. While Deterding et al. [Det+11a] claim that gamification was first used in 2008, Werbach and Hunter [WH12] state that it was first introduced in 2003.

Although it does not have a clear origin or definition, gamification was first implemented in the second half of 2010 [BD18; ZTJ21]. Gamification has received increasing attention (see Fig. 2.12³⁵), with a growing number of gamified applications emerging every year and a growing number of publications in the field [KH19].

³⁵According to Google Trends [Goo22], the figure shows the search interest relative to the chart's peak worldwide since 2004. A value of 100 indicates the highest popularity for the term gamification, a value of 50 indicates half popularity, and a value of 0 indicates that for that term, insufficient data were available.



Figure 2.12.: Anonymized, categorized, and aggregated data on a large sample of actual Google searches using gamification as a search term in Google Trends. Retrieved from Google Trends [Goo22]

As part of its Technology Hype Cycle³⁶, Gartner ³⁷ began to pursue gamification in 2011 [Dal14] showing its development and maturity (see Fig. 2.13).

 $^{^{36}}$ A visual representation of emerging technologies that will have a significant impact on society and business.

³⁷A leading information technology research and advisory firm.



Figure 2.13.: An overview of Gartner's Hype Cycles charting the evolution of gamification from 2011 to 2014. Retrieved from Korn and Schmidt [KS15]

Currently, gamification is still maturing, gaining acceptance, beginning to crystallize [ND17], and showing itself to have potential as an effective tool for organizations. However, to ensure the success of gamification, developers need to be aware of their limitations and what gamification is [Cug13].

Although there has been research into how gamification works, its effectiveness seems to depend on both the individuals and the situation in which it is used [Det+11a] to increase engagement, commitment, enjoyment, fun, and loyalty [Cro+21; Det+11a].

In the years since it first appeared, gamification has evolved significantly and shown that it can be applied in many ways across a variety of industries with different goals. According to research, gamification can lead to desirable behavior changes [Ton+19] and has been shown to be effective in changing employee behavior in organizations in a variety of business-related situations, including corporate training programs. However, understanding the driving forces behind the adoption of gamification in the workplace remains a challenge [KMK22; Nah+19]

2.5.3. Defining Gamification

Gamification has been widely discussed in the literature and scientific publications, but it has no single definition that is accepted worldwide. Many definitions share common and characteristics, but their unique characteristics make it difficult to clearly understand what gamification is. In addition, the demarcation between gamification and other concepts influenced by the gaming industry remains problematic. This section discusses the term gamification by examining how authors have interpreted it through different lenses.

Several definitions of gamification can be grouped into two main viewpoints from a structural and interactive perspective. Although the structural perspective of gamification is defined by the structure of the task or system, the interactive perspective underscores that gamification depends on individual cognition based on human-task interaction[Fau21].

According to a widely accepted and prominent definition of gamification provided by Deterding et al. [Det+11b], gamification is defined as follows:

"The use of game design elements in a non-game context." [Det+11b]

Gamification was first interpreted as an informal hypernym for integrating elements typically found in video games into non-gaming systems with the objective of improving user experience, involvement, and satisfaction. However, the authors emphasized the need for future research [Det+11b].

Subsequently, the definition of gamification was reframed to clarify and delineate parallel terms, and an attempt was made to define this novel concept as follows:

"The use of design elements characteristic of games in non-game contexts." [Det+11a]

Examining gamification from this point of view, the use of game design elements encourages certain behaviors and motivates one to do activities or tasks that are not directly related to games. Consequently, the concept of gamification is not restricted to the utilization of digital technology [Det+11b] but simply includes game design elements [Det+11a]. Deterding et al. [Det+11b] indicate this and do not advocate that gamification need not be limited to any particular context, purpose, situation, goal, or scenario.

Regarding this understanding of gamification, it should be noted that not every application of game design elements outside of a game context can be classified as gamification[Det+11a]. Although the digital media industry and games have inspired gamification, which borrows and applies a number of techniques from game design to engage users [Det+11b], gamification cannot be considered either gaming or games. Other experts consider gamification to be a much broader concept than Deterding et al. [Det+11a] and combine ideas previously kept separate from Deterding, such as employing full-featured games in non-game contexts or expanding the perception of game design.

According to Werbach and Hunter [WH20], gamification refers to:

"The use of game elements and game-design techniques in non-game contexts." [WH20]

This definition differs from that of Deterding et al. [Det+11a] by incorporating game design techniques. In doing so, it emphasizes the complexity of implementing successful gamification rather than reducing it to the mere use of game design elements. While gamification is not

meant to produce games, it is crucial to approach it using game design principles and using a game designer's mindset to apply gamification in non-game contexts to achieve real-world goals [WH20].

In order to make gamification more malleable, Zichermann and Cunningham [ZC11] consciously combined various threads developed in games for non-gaming applications, such as serious games, advergaming, and games-for-change, in their concept. They define gamification as follows:

"The process of game-thinking and game mechanics to engage users and solve problems." [ZC11]

This definition also points to the problem-solving effect of gamification and declares it to be one of its goals. Similarly, this definition of gamification has the potential to be used in any scenario that could benefit from improvements achieved through a change in human behavior and motivation [ZC11].

In 2012, Kapp proposed a concept similar to this last definition but which differs in the addition of some specifics and pointing to more goals that can be achieved with gamification. Consequently, gamification can be defined as follows:

"Gamification is using game-based mechanics, aesthetics, and game-thinking to engage people, motivate action, promote learning, and solve problems." [Kap12]

In this context, gamification is not limited to creating an experience that is fun, engaging, and motivating. By adding game thinking to his definition, Kapp expands the notion of gamification by integrating and utilizing the possibilities of the psychology behind games. For Kapp, the game mechanisms and game dynamics coexist with the concept of game aesthetics in the sense of positively designed experiences. Crucially, however, acceptance of gamification is heavily influenced by the feelings players experience during the interaction.

Kapp emphasizes that several concepts behind gamification are rooted in educational psychology and emphasizes that educators have used such methods over the years to enhance learning. A good example is direct feedback, such as providing immediate corrective feedback and using point systems [Kap12]. Furthermore, Kapp argues that the difference between pedagogical practices and gamification is that gamification combines these elements to create game-like experiences.

Zichermann and Linder [ZL13] redefine gamification with a focus on business, employees, and customer engagement as a process that involves individual or group activities consisting of rules or reward structures, awarding points as a form of feedback for being engaged with the task and supporting its completion.

This definition of gamification is as follows:

"Implementing design concepts from games, loyalty programs, and behavioral economics to drive user engagement" [ZL13]

According to Cardador et al. [CNW17], gamification can be defined as an incentive instrument to increase motivation and performance based on ludic techniques. This is achieved through two levers: by providing information and by improving the attractiveness of the task.

According to these definitions and their structural perspective, gamification can be considered an incentive tool that achieves its results through ludic approaches [Fau21]. However, the interactive perspective of gamification asserts that a gamified system or gamified activity is designed to provide a gaming experience and emphasizes that the expected results cannot be guaranteed.

Huotari and Hamari [HH12] provided a widely used definition of gamification that supports this point of view. Their definition focuses on the user experience rather than the task or system design:

"A process of enhancing a service with affordances for gameful experiences in order to support user's overall value creation." [HH12]

Although there are multiple definitions of gamification, they seem to share common ground in the literature in terms of fundamental concepts related to games and their design, engagement, and fun. However, due to the unclear development and the wide range of interpretations of the term gamification within and outside academia ³⁸, Marczewski [Mar21] expressed the need to redefine it, starting by questioning his previous notion of gamification as follows:

"The use of game design metaphors to create more game-like and engaging experiences." [Mar18]

Part of the misperceptions appears to be caused by the etymology of -ation and -fy of the noun "gamification" and verb "gamify," which can be associated with the act of making something into a game or making it game-like. As gamification in business is often approached from a layman's perspective, Marczewski redefines "gamification" and "gamify" in a simpler way, as follows:

"Gamification (noun): The process of making something a game or game-like" [Mar21]

"Gamify (verb): make a game or game-like" [Mar21]

This definition of gamification can be extended by adding further detail. Marczewski illustrates it by considering the gamification of learning materials as follows:

³⁸In 2014, the author of a blog post [Bur14] on Gartner's website entitled "Gartner Redefines Gamification" provides an example of it and describes how Gartner defines gamification as "the use of game mechanics and experience design to digitally engage and motivate people to achieve their goals" [Bur14]. Based on this blog post and comments from experts in the field, it is clear that regardless of how gamification is defined, there is a general recognition that it is a complex concept that is often approached in different ways.

"Gamification of learning materials: the process of making learning materials into a game or more game-like to improve users experience, participation and completion rates by using the materials in a scenario-based simulations, with deep gameplay as well as progress markers such as points and badges" [Mar21]

Agreeing with Marczewski [Mar21], Chandross [Cha21] and Velasquez [Vel21] believe that trying to define gamification is an old debate. Velasquez offered a revised definition as follows:

"Gamification is a design discipline that leverages the knowledge of game design paradigms as a core to organize knowledge around psychology, semiotics, systemics and more, to incorporate them into contexts beyond game design." [Vel21]

According to the author, this definition helps to understand the differences between schools of thought, approaches, and frameworks related to gamification.

In this dissertation, based on all the above definitions, gamification is defined as follows:

The process of making something a game, or game-like, with the goal of providing guidance and feedback through game mechanics, dynamics and aesthetics to achieve specific goals and objectives. It supports behavioral changes by motivating specific proactive and reactive behaviors within the gamified situation or application and positively impacting real-world situations.

An explanation is necessary to clearly understand this definition. This definition focuses on the outcome of gamification and its positive influence on real-world scenarios by dealing with specific or uncertain situations (proactively or reactively); thus, gamification is seen as the most appropriate method to support the achievement of specific goals outside of the game situation or application. Therefore, positive behavioral changes in real-world situations impact desired performance.

Proactive behavior addresses future conditions and involves making decisions and acting to avoid adverse outcomes by anticipating a situation before it arises. In contrast, behavior that follows in response to a past situation is called reactive behavior [GA08].

People with less experience are more likely to face unforeseen problems, be reactive, and not anticipate potential problems. However, as they gain experience of specific situations, they become better able to predict behavioral patterns, are more likely to consider more proactive actions, and recognize the consequences of their decisions and behavior [Pom+09]. Therefore, the use of gamification in the corporate context and the gamification of training applications could lead employees to gain experience and proactively encourage behavior in real-world conditions and situations to achieve the desired achievements. It should be noted that while gamification does not necessarily refer to digital technologies, it can be linked to them when used strategically.

However, the idea that combining technologies using game approaches automatically makes something more interesting and engaging is a fallacy [Cug13].

Recently, modern technologies have been used to introduce new immersive learning methods in the field of corporate training [FGL18; NP23; PK20]. The concept of XR training adopts gamification as a core element of its definition and is explained in Chapter 3.

2.5.4. Overview of Gamification Design Elements

In recent years, gamification has become an integral part of the design and implementation of various types of services and applications that aims to improve engagement, participation, enjoyment, fun, and loyalty [Cro+21; Det+11a].

As part of the process of gamifying applications, it is necessary to identify and integrate the elements of game design into those applications in order to gamify them. However, it is very important to be aware that researchers within the field of gamification are still in disagreement regarding what constitutes a game design element within gamification [Cug13].

The development of effective interactive applications has been facilitated by the principles and patterns of game design. Games and gamification not only provide a safe environment for experimentation and encourage innovation, but also facilitate learning and encourage innovation [BBG22]. Therefore, the design of all aspects of the gamified experience, from the user interface to the game mechanics, must be carefully considered in order to create a successful gamified application.

Games contain various design elements that are important to the overall player experience [AS16]. By understanding these elements and how they work together, it is possible to create more meaningful and enjoyable gamified applications. In fact, game design elements play a key role in gamification applications, which in many ways resemble game design patterns. This has led to a number of publications dealing with recurring elements used in gamification [Sai+17].

Sailer et al. [Sai+17] have classified the following elements of game design that can be easily integrated into gamification concepts:

- **Points:** Providing continuous and immediate feedback and rewards, points serve as a measure of player behavior in-game. As a result, they serve as a numerical representation of a player's progress in the gaming environment and are typically rewarded for completing certain activities within it.
- **Badges:** In the gamification environment, badges can be earned and collected based on a player's achievements. They are used to certify achievements, symbolize merit, and demonstrate a player's achievement of levels and goals.
- Leaderboards: Players are ranked on the leaderboards based on their relative success, therefore, helping to determine who is performing best in a particular activity.
- **Performance graphs:** These graphs provide information about a player's performance over time and do not compare the player's performance to that of other players.

- **Meaningful stories:** Unlike other game elements that provide users with feedback on their performance, the narrative context can convey a deeper level of meaning to users than other game elements.
- Avatars: Users can assume or create different identities within the application using avatars, which are visual representations of themselves within the game and the gamified environment.
- **Teammates:** The interactions between teammates, whether real players or non-player characters, can lead to conflict, competition, or collaboration.

These design elements are less integrated into the game functions and user experience than other game elements, making them easier to manipulate and control. Compared to other game design elements, these are less integrated into the game's functions or user experiences and are therefore easier to manipulate and control. Thus, it is possible to manipulate these elements independently, which in turn allows empirical research to determine their specific effects [Sai+17].

Fig. 2.14 illustrates the design elements used in gamification based on the review of related literature by Nah et al. [Nah+19] that support the eight gamification principles discussed in the following section.

Design Element	Description
Points	Scores to indicate progress or performance
Levels	Milestones to indicate completion of intermediate goals
Badges	Recognitions for achievement/accomplishment
Leaderboards	Listing of leading scorers and their scores
Onboarding	Aids and scaffolding to help with progress and advancement
Quest	Pursuit or journey toward a specific mission or goal
Feedback/Progress Bars	Track and display progression toward goals or sub-goals
Performance Graphs	Display performance information over time
Prizes/Rewards/Bonuses	Rewards that can take different forms
Social Engagement Loops	Reinforcements of re-engagement and calls to social events
Use of Teams	Use of social dynamics for engagement
Rules	Principles and regulations for procedure and action
Marketplace	Simulations of an economy
3D Space	3D graphic-rich environment
Avatars	Animated characters to represent different persons
Storyline (Narrative Content)	Narrative context or theme for engagement
Roleplay	Taking on specific roles or characters
Customization/Personalization	Enhance fit and relations with individuals

Figure 2.14.: Design elements and their descriptions. Retrieved from Nah et al. [Nah+19]

2.5.5. Gamification and Serious Games

When making the distinction between play and game, it becomes important to define the boundaries between gamification and serious games. Aside from the rich variety of games available today, there are also subcategories of educational games and serious games. Educational games are designed to enable the user to learn through play, while serious games are designed to achieve specific learning goals [HM18].

Moreover, as the term suggests, a serious game is a full-fledged game aimed at achieving a specific serious outcome and is not just for entertainment [Det+11a]. The subcategories of serious games are broad and include some types of educational games, simulation games, health games, news games, advergames, and games for change [WH12].

A critical analysis of the term serious games by Marsh [Mar11] reveals its problems and limitations by arguing that not all serious games can be described or characterized in terms of their game characteristics ³⁹. Marsh suggests that the differences should not be categorized but viewed as a continuum (see Fig 2.15).



from games for purpose to experimental & experiential environments for purpose

Figure 2.15.: The continuum of serious games. Retrieved from Marsh [Mar11]

³⁹Challenge, fun, and play.

This continuum allows one to identify a range of serious games, encompassing their idea of what serious games are and understanding how the games relate to other serious games, environments and digital media [Mar11].

According to Deterding et al. [Det+11a], gamification can be distinguished from analogous concepts through the use of a two-dimensional (two-by-two) matrix. This matrix uses Caillois' continuum to distinguish between gaming and playing (vertical axis) and whole games and partial versions ⁴⁰ thereof (horizontal axis) (see Fig. 2.16).



Figure 2.16.: Gamification vs serious games. Retrieved from Deterding et al. [Det+11a]

In Fig. 2.16, gamification belongs to the quadrants of gaming and partial artifacts, which means that gamification uses gameful designs and game-like elements.

⁴⁰Partial artifacts.

2.5.6. Overview of Gamification and Design Principles

A distinction must be made between the concepts of game design and game development. According to Werbach and Hunter [WH12], the former refers to the creation and conception of a game, the latter to its technical implementation.

Salen and Zimmerman [SZ04] define game design as follows:

"Game design is the process by which a game designer creates a game, to be encountered by a player, from which meaningful play emerges." [SZ04]

A game designer must not only understand the player's desires, but also know the technical feasibility and goals of the game in order to create an engaging game [WH12].

According to Werbach and Hunter [WH15], developing successful gamified applications requires an understanding of the hierarchy of game elements and suggests that it is crucial to distinguish high-level design principles, mid-level action structures, and surface-level manifestations as part of the design process. Werbach and Hunter [WH15] identify three different categories into which game elements can be classified based on its hierarchical nature (see Fig. 2.17).

Dynamics

are the big-picture aspects of the gamified system that you have to consider and manage but which can never directly enter into the game.

Mechanics

are the basic processes that drive the action forward and generate player engagement.

Components

are the specific instantiations of mechanics and dynamics.

Figure 2.17.: A hierarchical view of game elements. Retrieved from Werbach and Hunter [WH12]

The chances of a successful gamification project are greatly increased by separating dynamics, mechanics, and components. Furthermore, Werbach and Hunter proposed that the creation of a gamification system should follow a top-down approach, starting with the most overarching design pattern, referred to as dynamics [WH15].

Dynamics are used to provide motivation and according to Werbach and Hunter [WH15] are as follows:

- Constraints
- Emotions
- Narrative
- Progression
- Relationships

Mechanisms drive player engagement and include the following [WH15]:

- Challenges
- Chance
- Competition
- Cooperation
- Feedback
- Resource Acquisition
- Rewards
- Transactions
- Turns
- Rewards
- Win States

As a result, mechanics manifest themselves as components that are specific examples of higher-level functionality [WH15], such as the following:

- Achievements
- Avatars
- Badges

- Boss fights
- Collections
- Combat
- Content unlocking
- Gifting
- Leaderboards
- Levels
- Points
- Content unlocking
- Quests
- Social graph
- Teams
- Virtual goods

In order to create a meaningful and immersive gamified experience, the game designer must consider the right mechanics, dynamics, and aesthetics. Here, the MDA ⁴¹ framework comes in handy. Although the MDA framework ⁴² originated in the gaming industry, it also has applications in the gamification industry. By formalizing the essential components of a game in terms of mechanics, dynamics, and aesthetics, and presenting their design counterparts (see Fig. 2.19), this framework makes it easier to understand the different perspectives of players and developers [HLZ04] (see Fig. 2.18).



Figure 2.18.: Both the designer and the player have a different perspective. Retrieved from Hunicke et al. [HLZ04]

⁴¹Mechanics, dynamics, and aesthetics.

⁴²The terms (mechanics, dynamics, and aesthetics) used in this framework are not equivalent to those used by Werbach and Hunter [WH12] for the game element hierarchy (mechanics, dynamics, and components).

A thorough understanding of how the components of the MDA framework work together (see Fig. 2.18) is required to develop enjoyable games and gamified applications that evoke the desired emotional responses from players. It is important to distinguish between mechanics, which detail the underlying components of a game, and dynamics, which describe how mechanics respond to player input and the output of others over the course of a game. Furthermore, aesthetics refers to the desired emotional responses evoked by the game system as a result of the player's interaction with it [HLZ04].



Figure 2.19.: Components of a game and their design counterparts. Retrieved from Hunicke et al. [HLZ04]

According to Zubek [Zub20], MDA differs conceptually and terminologically from contemporary design practice. Iterative design approaches a game from both ends simultaneously, although MDA's idealized model of the designer and the player are at opposite ends of the MDA chain. According to Zubek, the MDA model should be revised to reflect the iterative design process in practice.

Several factors contribute to the complexity of determining what works in gamification and how to design an effective gamification application. Furthermore, different gamification designs and implementations may prove more effective in different contexts, making it unlikely that a single solution will be effective for all individuals and groups.

According to Cugelman [Cug13], the following are the ten most popular gamification mechanics and tactics:

- Providing clear goals
- Offering a challenge
- Using levels (incremental challenges)
- Allocating points
- Showing progress

- Providing feedback
- Giving rewards
- Providing badges for achievements
- Showing the game leaders
- Giving a story or theme

Furthermore, in reviewing academic and non-academic sources of popular gamification research, Cugelman [Cug13] identified a persuasive architecture in the field of gamification. To maximize the effectiveness of gamification interventions, he recommends considering a persuasive architecture when designing.

A persuasive architecture is defined as:

"the optimal blend of persuasive strategies for a particular application." [Cug13]

The persuasive architecture in gamification can be interpreted as the optimal combination of elements that are fun and engaging in a gamified application or gamified product. Adding certain core elements makes an application better, while without certain core elements, it becomes boring. Thus, Cugelman [Cug13] grouped the core elements according to how they relate directly to behavior-change strategies. These can be summarized as follows:

- **Goal setting:** Taking action to achieve a goal.
- Capacity to overcome challenges: The ability to grow, learn, and develop.
- **Providing feedback on performance:** Obtaining continuous feedback throughout the experience.
- **Reinforcement:** The process of gaining rewards and avoiding punishments.
- Compare progress: Keeping track of one's own progress and that of others.
- **Social connectivity:** The ability to interact with others.
- Fun and playfulness: Creating an alternative reality through play.

Based on a literature review by Nah et al. [Nah+19], the eight leading principles of gamification are defined as CIG-SCARF⁴³. Each principle is outlined, with accompanying design element suggestions (see Fig. 2.20).

⁴³Challenge, interactivity, goal orientation, social connectivity, competition, achievement, reinforcement, and fun orientation.

Principles of Gamification (CIG-SCARF)	Design Elements
Challenge (C)-opportunities for growth, learning, and development	Points, Levels, Badges, Leaderboards, Quest, Feedback/Progress Bars, Performance Graphs, Prizes/Rewards/Bonuses, Rules, Marketplace
Interactivity (I)-potential for immediate feedback	Points, Quest, Feedback/Progress Bars, Performance Graphs, Avatars, Roleplay
Goal Orientation (G)-setting clear and systematic goals	Points, Levels, Badges, Leaderboards, Onboarding, Prizes/Rewards/Bonuses, Customization/Personalization
Social Connectivity (S)-opportunities to interact with others	Leaderboards, Social Engagement Loops, [use of] Teams [for Collaboration], Avatars, Roleplay
Competition (C)-opportunities for social comparisons or winners to emerge	Points, Levels, Badges, Leaderboards, Quest, Feedback/Progress Bars, Prizes/Rewards/Bonuses, Rules, Marketplace
Achievement (A)-recognition of effort and/or accomplishment	Points, Levels, Badges, Leaderboards, Feedback/Progress Bars, Performance Graphs, Prizes/Rewards/Bonuses
Reinforcement (R)-structure of rewards based on performance	Levels, Badges, Leaderboards, Onboarding, Feedback/Progress Bars, Prizes/Rewards/Bonuses
Fun Orientation (F)-creating interest, curiosity, and enjoyment	Quest, Prizes/Rewards/Bonuses, Rules, Marketplace, 3D Space, Avatars, Storyline (Narrative Content), Roleplay, Customization/Personalization

Figure 2.20.: The eight leading principles of gamification. Retrieved from Nah et al. [Nah+19]

2.5.7. Challenges in Integrating Gamification

Despite the fact that gamification has garnered attention in a variety of areas, evidence of its effectiveness is still lacking, as different topics, contexts, applications, user bases, and communities seem to perceive its impact differently [Cug13].

Although the introduction of gamification offers potential rewards, it also comes with unique challenges. In addition, there are several complexities to consider when implementing and integrating a gamified system.

In this context, the adoption and use of these technologies must take into account that the use of digital technologies and digital games is likely to be influenced by demographic differences. However, current research results indicate that the processes of adopting and using technology are significantly influenced by age and gender, as well as by differences in perception, motivation, and information processing. In relation to gamification, both age and gender represent perspectives on games and gameplay that have long been largely ignored by industry and academic circles alike [KH14].

Studies about gamification have shown varying degrees of positive and negative effects. Furthermore, a large body of anecdotal evidence on gamification in business has been generated through case studies and industry claims, and due to its promotional value, researchers have intensified their studies and are keen to investigate more thoroughly [Cug13].

As much as gamification has become a popular trend, the question of its effectiveness still remains.

According to Cugelman [Cug13], the effectiveness of gamification and gamified technology is determined by whether it leads to lasting and sustainable changes in beliefs, attitudes, and behaviors over time [Cug13].

A systematic review of the literature conducted by Hamari et al. [HKS14] shows that gamification can lead to positive psychological and physical outcomes, making applications more
engaging and enjoyable. Despite its positive attributes, gamification as a voluntary activity remains associated with negative interpretations of manipulation or exploitation [PN21].

Recently, there has been some debate about the ethical validity of gamification. One of the most common arguments against gamification relates to its use for various business purposes and claims that it exploits employees for the benefit of employers. This has led to a number of ethical debates about gamification and raised many ethical questions. Moreover, as the gamification community is aware of moral issues and is trying to address them, it is essential to create a code of ethics [Kim18].

In summary, as gamification and immersive technologies become more prevalent and popular, ethical concerns also increase [PN21]. Despite the many benefits that can come from using gamification, it is imperative to consider its impact on individuals and society as a whole. Consequently, a deeper understanding of gamification and the associated ethical implications is required. This allows people to make informed decisions about how best to integrate and implement gamification to create gamified systems that use technologies such as XR.

2.6. Video Games

Today, video games are an integral part of our society and come in various formats, from simple games that can be played on handheld devices to sophisticated VR headsets. They are enjoyed by people of all ages, from young children to adults, and they provide a unique form of entertainment that can be both stimulating and relaxing. Furthermore, the added benefits of playing video games allows them to surpass consideration as just a form of entertainment and to find application in various fields, such as education, training, and even healthcare. From improving cognitive abilities to promoting social interaction, video games are used in a variety of ways to enhance our lives, and one of the most promising uses of video games is their ability to serve as a learning tool. With their interactive and engaging nature, video games have the potential to teach players and also to be used to promote physical activity and healthy lifestyle choices. As our society evolves and research continues to explore the potential of video games are likely to become more prevalent and important.

This section explores various topics that are relevant to video games and related to gamification and XR training. Some of them were extracted, adapted, and extended from Palmas et al. [PRK21] and Palmas and Klinker [PK21].

2.6.1. Video Game Market

Over the past few decades, the video game industry has experienced significant growth [PRK21; Wal20]. The video game market is now the largest within digital media [Lin21; Wal20] and is among the most profitable entertainment industries [Ric20] (see Fig. 2.22).

Furthermore, global video game sales are forecast to grow from \$155 billion in 2021 to \$240



billion in 2026⁴⁴ [Lin21] (see Fig. 2.21).

Figure 2.21.: Forecast of global video game revenue in billions of dollars. Retrieved from Statista [Lin21]

Perhaps the most influential factors supporting this growth are widespread digitalization, the accessibility of computing devices, and the ubiquity of the internet, which have made it easier for individuals to play video games at any time [PRK21]. Other factors may include the development of new genres of games [FP18], as well as the affordability and increased appeal of the technical features of consoles. These factors in particular have enabled game development studios, publishers, and independent developers to reach more consumers than ever before, thus increasing the commercial value of games [PRK21].

⁴⁴According to Statista [Lin21], the video game segment growth rates average is 11.9% per year.



Figure 2.22.: Revenues of selected sectors of the entertainment industry worldwide in 2019. Retrieved from Statista [Ric20]

The advent of technological advances in devices and platforms used for video gaming, both online and offline, has led to the emergence of various novel business models surrounding video games. This led to and facilitated the expansion of their reach and attracted an evergrowing number of players [Lin21; PRK21] (see Fig. 2.23). Furthermore, mobile gaming has gained popularity along with esports in recent years [Lin21].

2. Theoretical Foundations



Figure 2.23.: Overview of the video game digital market. Retrieved from Statista [Lin21]

During the pandemic, the video game industry has thrived and flourished. The shutdown due to the pandemic caused many people to stay at home and rely on video games for entertainment, resulting in an increase in the number of people playing video games [Lin21; PRK21]. The effects of the pandemic are likely to have a lasting impact on the industry (see Fig. 2.24), as new players may be willing to continue playing even after the pandemic has passed.



Figure 2.24.: The impact of the Coronavirus on the global digital media revenue forecast. Retrieved from Statista [Lin21].

Although video games have existed for decades, only in recent years have they began

to be taken seriously as a form of entertainment [Fro03; Poo04]. The gaming sector is still evolving, as evidenced by the increasing popularity of streaming services that allow viewers to watch others play video games, suggesting that many people now prefer to watch rather than participate in games [PRK21; PK21]. In this context, an industry that has developed around video games is esports, which commonly refers to professional- and amateur-level competitive video gaming. Esports are structured similarly to real-life sports, with teams of players competing against each other in tournaments and leagues [Cra+21; HS17; MHD18]. The global esports market generated just over 950 million U.S. dollars in revenue in 2020, and it is expected to grow rapidly over the next few years (see Fig. 2.25). A driving force behind this growth could include factors such as increased sponsorship investment and digital advertising [Sta21d; Sta21a], as well as the popularity of streaming services such as Twitch and YouTube Gaming [Sta21c].



Figure 2.25.: Estimation of the size of the global esports market from 2020 to 2025 in billions of dollars. Retrieved from Statista [Sta21a]

In conclusion, the gaming industry has become lucrative and is here to stay.

2.6.2. Business Models and In-Games Advertising

Over the past few decades, the video game industry has evolved into a dynamic, promising industry that offers new business opportunities and involves new advertising strategies aimed at reaching a wide audience of gamers of different ages and genders [PK21].

As a result of the democratization of game development, emerging new business and monetization models, digital distribution models [Sta21b] (see Fig. 2.26), game production studios, publishers, and independent game developers are increasingly finding it possible to reach their consumers directly [PK21].

2. Theoretical Foundations



Figure 2.26.: The most popular business models used by video game developers worldwide in 2020 based on 4.000 respondents. Retrieved from Statista [Sta21b]

Different genres and platforms of video games have different monetization methods. For example, for games that are free to play, digital content is sold or a freemium business model is used. With the freemium model, some parts of the software are available for free, but additional features must be purchased [Mel+21]. Furthermore, this type of games generates revenue from direct monetization ⁴⁵ or through indirect monetization ⁴⁶ [PK21].

In addition, video games offer a unique opportunity for brands to communicate their values and promote products in a new and interactive way. Advertisers can reach a defined audience through in-game advertising formats and the placement of these formats within a game [PK21; PRK21].

According to Palmas and Klinker [PK21], in-game advertising can be considered either static or dynamic and applied in different ways, such as the following [PK21]:

- Billboards and banners advertisements
- Interstitial ads ⁴⁷
- Rewarded ads ⁴⁸
- Playable ads ⁴⁹
- Offerwalls ⁵⁰

⁴⁵The users that have to purchase additional in-game content to continue playing.

⁴⁶Revenue comes from sources other than users.

⁴⁷Various advertisements displayed between video game activities, e.g., video commercial breaks.

⁴⁸Ads that reward after completing them and allow for in-game rewards.

⁴⁹Interactive minigames designed to serve as teasers of other games.

⁵⁰Offerwalls, which prompt users to select an offer within an in-game storefront-like interface, which subsequently induce users to take a specific action (e.g. engage with marketing content) in order to receive in-game currency earn or progress further in the game.

• Product placement ⁵¹

2.6.3. The Efficacy of Video Games

Video games have been recognized by the academic world in the interdisciplinary field of games studies. Games studies encompass an ontological analysis of video games, as well as their socio-cultural impact and applications outside of entertainment [NH08; Mäy08]. An important aspect of video games is their potential for positive societal impact. For instance, video game elements and mechanics are applicable in other fields such as learning, corporate and XR training, and inspiring the creation of entirely new concepts (e.g. gamification) [PK21].

In this way, the video games industry contributes not only to entertainment, but also to progress ,in other areas. Therefore, it is evident that this industry is a thriving sector that has much to offer to both society and individuals [MVG15; PK21; Squ06].

The video games played in the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic had multiple impacts on people. The effects of gaming on stress, anxiety, depression, loneliness, and gaming disorders were discussed in a recent systematic review. The results suggest that video games, especially online multiplayer and AR games, alleviate stress, anxiety, depression, and loneliness in young people during periods of confinement. However, for at-risk individuals ⁵², playing video games can negatively impact stress, anxiety, depression, loneliness, and symptoms of gaming disorder [PPM22].

Video games are not only an entertainment medium, but have also attracted attention for their learning application capabilities [PK21]. Several positive outcomes have been associated with video games [GLE14; Gra15; Gra18; MS04] in several fields, including education, health [Kat+08], psychological and physical therapy [Tay+18], memory [MBG12] and cognitive development [GLE14; PFM18].

However, some people argue that video games produce negative impacts [GLE14]. Furthermore, it is claimed that video games are a waste of time [Lee21; SHC17], that they are addictive [BJ06], and that they can lead to violence [DD98; Web+20]. Others argue that video games can be used as a tool for learning [AM03; GLE14; OWB05; PK21; Squ06] with some studies showing that video games have certain positive effects on people, such as improving related visual skills [Rie04], hand-eye coordination [Gri+83], problem-solving skills [Rug14],and cognitive and decision-making skills [Rey+21]. Furthermore, in a recent study by Sauce et al. [Sau+22], gaming showed positive effects on the development of intelligence in children and that appeared to be causally related.

However, the debate on the benefits of gaming is still open, and more research is needed to better understand gaming's potential and its positive and negative effects.

⁵¹Proper placement of digital products within the game environment.

⁵²According to this research, they are particularly young people, mostly males.

2.6.4. Contextualizing Motivation Theories

Several video games offer a single, static, tight experience without considering that each player has different skills and expectations and experiences different flow zones [Che07] (see Fig. 2.27).



Figure 2.27.: Flow zones differ between different players. Retrieved from Chen [Che07]

In addition, a one-size-fits-all approach is not the most effective way to create an interactive experience that caters to a broad audience. Instead, the design should offer users a variety of options, allowing them to enjoy a personalized experience that suits their unique needs and interests. However, the process is complicated and expensive [Che07].

Furthermore, providing more and more choices to improve the immersive experience has its drawbacks. An abundance of choices can leave people feeling overwhelmed and confused, as well as having trouble maintaining a sense of flow. In terms of design, it is crucial that the number of choices offered in a game is carefully considered [Che07] (see Fig. 2.28).





Achieving and maintaining a state of flow can be compared to twisting and turning (see Fig. 2.29), as each step introduces a cycle between stages that increases in difficulty as the player's skill increases in quantified increments of time.

2. Theoretical Foundations



Figure 2.29.: Ideal flow in game design and gamification. Retrieved from Marczewski [Mar15]

It is important to note that in games, each step of this process to reach and maintain the flow state involves a transition between the following phases [Mar15] (see Fig. 2.32):

- **Grinding:** Players face challenges to develop their skills and gain experience. These challenges are designed not to require a high level of skill and are not time consuming.
- Levelling: As players' skill levels increase, challenges tend to become harder.
- **Mastering:** To be able to successfully complete the challenges put before them, players must be challenged according to their skill level.
- **Testing:** Testing is crucial for players to identify gaps in their skills and to acknowledge that their current skills are insufficient to complete the challenges.



Figure 2.30.: The four distinct phases from grinding to mastering. Retrieved from Marczewski [Mar15]

There are three different cycles, which can be categorized as follows [Mar15] (see Fig. 2.31):

- **Grinding:** The grinding phase is initiated by the user. As the user gains experience, they become bored and move up a level. In this way, the leveling phase begins, and the player is challenged to match their skill level, which leads to the mastering phase. Upon completion of the mastering phase, the player is faced with considerably more challenging tasks, so the person returns to the grinding phase.
- **Challenging:** All four phases are included in this cycle. Rather than the mastering phase being followed by the grinding phase, users are challenged at a level higher than their skills. This can be considered as a test or a "boss battle". The player may become frustrated if they cannot complete the challenge. Compared to mastering, a greater sense of accomplishment and reward is achieved by succeeding.

• **Mastering:** There is no grinding phase in the mastering cycle. In the leveling phase that follows the testing phase, the challenges become immediately more difficult.



Figure 2.31.: Cycles, phases, and transitions. Retrieved from Marczewski [Mar15] By repeating these cycles, flow is achieved and maintained [Mar15] (see Fig. 2.32).

2. Theoretical Foundations



Figure 2.32.: Graphical visualization of grinding to mastery and mastery to flow. Retrieved from Marczewski [Mar15]

In summary, a game is well designed when it leads players into their flow zones and produces genuine feelings of joy and happiness [Che07]. Furthermore, to develop successful games and gamified applications, the design should also consider other factors such as immersion and presence.

Ryan [RRP06] developed the player experience of need satisfaction, extending self-determination theory and applying it to video games. When a player experiences a game, the three basic needs of self-determination theory are presented as an experience. In addition, presence is introduced as a new type of requirement to assess the sense of immersion in the game environment, and another variable, called intuitive controls, is included. The degree to which game controls are perceived to be intuitive can be characterized as an aspect of game quality rather than in-game experience. Intuitive controls increase motivation by increasing the

player's competence and providing them with more freedom and control [RRP06].

2.6.5. Immersive Components of Video Games

There are many factors to consider when developing a holistic understanding of video games. This allows for an understanding of how their immersive components can be used in other areas, such as XR training.

Palmas, Reinelt, and Klinker [PRK21] analyzed video games from a comprehensive perspective and defined them as:

"[...] the result of a creative process which aims to entertain people by engaging them to interact with a game system via a computing device. The immediate response of each goal oriented interaction in a rule-bound gameplay system is displayed to the gamer. Typically, video games are characterized by adopting a graphical style and representation which follow a creator's vision, having playable and non-playable characters, taking place in a gameworld, utilizing a sound design (which may include music) and by being designed to create an enjoyable experience that can optionally be embedded into a story." [PRK21]

To understand the immersive quality of video games, it is important to analyze a few individual immersive components.

In relation to video games, avatars are digital representations of players within the gaming environment. In most cases, they are controlled by the player and can be customized to some degree to suit their appearance and preferences. In addition, an avatar can be viewed as a tangible embodiment of the player's identity [Alj+19; Cas03; Duc+09; PN21].

Avatar representation in virtual environments allows increased player immersion and interactivity through the use of graphical representations ranging from stylized to complex photorealistic 3D models [PN21]. According to the proteus effect, users in virtual environments adjust their behavior based on their avatar's characteristics. The self-similarity with the avatar allows the user to feel a closeness to it. Ideally, the avatar should possess desirable traits, while undesirable traits can prevent this effect from occurring. In the context of self-perception theory ⁵³, embodiment is particularly significant, as it is crucial in defining the threshold of perception based on the avatar's perspective [PG20].

In order for digital avatars to evoke an emotional response in the player, the uncanny valley effect ⁵⁴ must not be underestimated. The closer the avatar appears to a photorealistic image, the higher the acceptance. However, there is a threshold beyond which photorealism is considered acceptable and and can no longer produce desirable acceptance effects [PN21] (see Fig. 2.33). At this point, the player develops high expectations of the realism of the representation, and even slight deviations from expectations lead to disappointment and rejection. For a person to regain acceptance, the avatar must remain as close to photorealism as possible [PN21; Rat19].

⁵³According to Praetorius and Görlich [PG20], the self-perception theory suggests that people develop attitudes and identity traits based on their reflections on past experiences and behavior.

⁵⁴Masahiro Mori, a Japanese robotics researcher, first described this effect in the 1970s.



Figure 2.33.: Uncanny valley. Retrieved from Ratajczyk [Rat19]

An essential part of human culture is communication through stories. Many methods of storytelling share techniques to convey their messages and have been used across different media and industries. However, the fundamental aspect of video games that sets them apart from all other media is their interactivity [Dom17; PRK20].

Adding narrative to video games has been shown to increase their appeal to gamers by making them more interactive and immersive [Sch+06]. The player actively influences the course of the story through their decisions and actions within the game. Although interactive storytelling has made significant advances, most games still rely on a ready-made story [PRK20].

Dialogue is an important tool for storytelling in video games. By giving characters a voice, dialogue helps players dive into the story and feel more connected to the characters. Additionally, dialogue can help create a sense of place and atmosphere and can be used to create relationships between characters. When used effectively, dialogue can have a powerful impact on the player's gaming experience [SY17].

In summary, using avatars in video games is an effective way to give players a sense of immersion and connect with them on an emotional level. In addition, storytelling and dialogue play an important role in creating games that are engaging and meaningful to players. With this in mind, game developers can create compelling and successful video games by considering the role of avatars in relation to player retention.

3. Extended Reality Training

3.1. Defining Extended Reality

As the name suggests, XR encompasses immersive technologies connected to a variety of realities, such as VR, AR, and mixed reality (MR). Although XR technology has existed for some time, the X in the acronym stands for future technologies, which are also developed and classified under this umbrella term [PK20].

The conceptualization of XR found its foundation in Milgram and Kishino's [MK94] continuum of reality and virtuality [PK20]. Since then, this concept has been further developed in several publications over the years [Mil+95; MC+99]. In order to define the various immersive technologies, it is therefore necessary to first classify them accordingly within the reality-virtuality continuum.



Reality-Virtuality (RV) Continuum

Figure 3.1.: Representation of the reality-virtuality continuum. Retrieved from Skarbez et al. [SSW21]. Representation based on Milgram et al. [MK94]

As shown in Figure (3.1), the real environment is on the left. This definition describes the actual human environment and consists only of objects and things that can be seen or looked at by humans without the additional assistance of any electronic display system. At the right end of the continuum, the virtual environment represents an counter-concept to the real environment, in which computer-generated objects make up the entirety of (virtual) reality. Therefore, augmented reality and augmented virtuality can be grouped between two opposite ends, which together span the full range of reality. Consequently, an MR environment falls somewhere between the extremes of the reality-virtuality continuum. In this context, a single display shows objects from both the real and virtual worlds [MK94].

The study by Skarbez, Smith, and Whitton [SSW21] goes a step further in examining the reality-virtuality continuum. According to the authors, Milgram and Kishino's original concept needs to be reconsidered given recent technological advances over the past 25 years. They claim that a perfect virtual environment is unattainable considering that the reality-virtuality continuum seems to be a discontinuous continuum. In addition, MR encompasses traditional VR experiences and is wider and more complex than ever before. By evolving the continuum, Skarbez, Smith, and Whitton take the role of the user into account, ultimately resulting in a 3D space that combines familiar parameters such as presence and immersion.

Palmas and Klinker [PK20] provide the following brief classifications of contemporary XR technologies:

- Virtual Reality: VR refers to a computer-generated environment that allows users to move in it, interact with it, and fully immerse themselves in it. Furthermore, integrating multiple types of hardware enables immersive experiences with full sensory simulation.
- Augmented Reality: AR refers to the overlaying of digital content with a physical environment. As the medium displays both digital and real content at the same time, there is no direct interaction with the environment. When users interact with the digital content using a computing device, they can also simultaneously experience the real world.
- **Mixed Reality:** In this context, MR refers to the combination of VR and AR. A layer of virtual content can be applied to and interact with the environment. By integrating the physical and digital worlds, AR facilitates the exchange of information and the interaction between these worlds.
- Extended Reality: As a concept, XR encompasses each of the three alternate realities above ¹ as well as the possible future realities ² that will expand the range of possible realities over time. Consequently, XR has almost limitless potential for the future.

Throughout this dissertation, the focus will be mainly on VR, which will be examined in greater detail.

3.2. Augmented Reality

The application of AR has garnered significant attention in the business and academic community in recent years due to its potential for adoption in a variety of disciplines and industries [ZS20]. Furthermore, AR devices are widely available today and typically fall into three main categories based on the placement of the display: head-mounted devices, handheld devices (see Fig. 3.2), and spatial devices [Von+17].

¹Virtual reality, augmented reality and mixed reality.

²The X in XR symbolizes the inclusive nature of this concept.

AR has been described as a technology that makes it possible to integrate 3D objects into a 3D environment in real time [Azu97].

Azuma [Azu97] outlined the following characteristics of AR systems:

- In a real environment, it combines both real and virtual objects.
- Interactive and real-time operations are performed.
- Real and virtual objects are synchronized and aligned.

Due to rapid technological advances in this field, Azuma [Azu+01] decided to conduct companion research to his previous work ³.

Essentially, AR technology overlays computer-generated imagery over the real world environment to provide users with enhanced information and digital content.

As opposed to Azuma, who limits the concept only to the addition of virtual elements to reality, Dörner et al. [Dör+19] defined AR by mentioning the integration of all sensory perceptions associated with digital objects, and therefore consider it from the perspective of the user's perception.

³A survey of augmented reality.

3. Extended Reality Training



Figure 3.2.: Example of an augmented reality application using a handheld device. Own source.

In addition to gaming and entertainment, AR has applications in various other areas, such as healthcare [FKC19; Zhu+14], marketing [BT10; Rau+22a; RFH19], manufacturing [BV19; Nee+12], maintenance [Hin+11; Pal+18], education [Bow+14; PWK19], and training [Lee12; SB19].

3.3. Virtual Reality

Defining VR is a long-standing challenge. According to the literature, the term is not defined uniformly or uncontroversially [Doe+22; Fuc17]. VR instead has several restrictive definitions that blur its purpose, functionality, applications, and techniques [Fuc17].

Fuchs [Fuc17] provides some definitions to help better understand VR from different angles. In summary, these are as follows:

• **Purposeful**: VR enables people to engage in sensorimotor and cognitive activities in a digital artificial world. The digital artificial world can be fictional, symbolic, or imitation, simulating aspects of the real world.

- **Functional**: As people can virtually change their place ⁴ and time, VR allows them to escape from the real world, interact in and with the virtual environment, and explore other realities.
- **Technical**: VR involves the creation of a simulated virtual world in which 3D entities interact with each other and users in real time, resulting in pseudo-natural immersion via sensorimotor channels.

The ambiguity of the definition of VR is also discussed by Doerner et al. [Doe+22] in its multiple facets, from its representation in science fiction and popular culture as a perfect simulation indistinguishable from real life, to its already established practical applications in many different industrial sectors. However, due to the rapid development of this technology, further applications are still being explored [Doe+22].

A definition of VR developed by Carolina Cruz-Neira in 1993 ⁵ includes several aspects relevant to this field, such as immersion, user-centeredness and interactivity:

"Virtual Reality refers to immersive, interactive, multi-sensory, viewer-centered, threedimensional computer-generated environments and the combination of technologies required to build these environments." [Doe+22]

Other approaches to defining VR focus on human-computer interfaces. The general belief is that a primary objective of VR is to establish human-computer interfaces that facilitate a seamless, more instinctive, and intuitive interaction with the three-dimensional setting [Doe+22].

In this context, Doerner [Doe+22] summarizes what distinguishes virtual reality from computer graphics (see Tab. 3.1).

3D Computer Graphics	Virtual Reality
Visual presentation only	Multimodal presentation (i.e., addressing several senses,
	e.g., visual, acoustic and haptic)
Presentation planning/rendering not	Real-time presentation planning and rendering
necessarily in real-time	
Viewer-independent image generation	Viewer-dependent image generation (egocentric
(exocentric perspective)	perspective)
Static scene or precomputed animation	Real-time interaction and simulation
2D interaction (mouse, keyboard)	3D interaction (body, hand and head movements and
	gestures) + speech input
Non-immersive presentation	Immersive presentation

Table 3.1.: Comparative properties of virtual reality and traditional computer graphics. Retrieved from Doerner [Doe+22]

⁴The world can be simulated, imaginary, or symbolic.

⁵SIGGRAPH conference 1993: course notes "Virtual Reality Overview".

In order to gain a deeper understanding of this topic and its current definitions and concepts, it is essential to delve into its history.

3.3.1. History

Our digital age is sometimes referred to as the digital revolution and is associated with VR. Although this technology is not a 21st century innovation, its beginnings can be traced to the turn of the 20th century.

In the early 1830s, the stereoscope was invented, opening a new era for research into binocular vision. Sir Charles Wheatstone was able to manipulate images and observe their depth as they were presented to each eye. He developed the first stereoscopic device, in which the image of each eye was split in opposite directions with two mirrors (see Fig. 3.3) allowing the use of large format images without overlapping [Wad02].

Wheatstone described his founding in the following statement:

"The projection of two obviously dissimilar pictures on the two retinae when a single object is viewed, while the optic axes converge, must therefore be regarded as a new fact in the theory of vision. It being thus established that the mind perceives an object of three dimensions by means of the two dissimilar pictures projected by it on the two retinae, the following question occurs: What would be the visual effect of simultaneously presenting to each eye, instead of the object itself, its projection on a plane surface as it appears to that eye?.... The stereoscope is represented by figs. 8. and 9.; the former being a front view, and the latter a plan of the instrument" [Wad02]



Figure 3.3.: Mirror stereoscope front and top view. Retrieved from Wade [Wad02]

This was the first head-mounted display capable of displaying three-dimensional video. However, the device did not offer tracking capabilities. Although this type of stereoscope displayed only still images, this was the beginning of a technological advance that eventually led to the development of the modern stereoscope and the birth of VR.

By 1957, Morton L. Heilig patented the first head-mounted display under the name "Stereoscopic-Television Apparatus for Individual Use" (see Fig. 3.4) and described it as follows [Hei57]:

"My invention is directed to improvements in stereo scopic-television apparatus for individual use. My invention generally speaking comprises the following elements: a hollow casing, a pair of optical units, a pair of television tube units, a pair of ear phones and a pair of air discharge nozzles, all coacting to cause the user to comfortably see the images, hear the sound effects and to be sensitive to the air discharge of said nozzles." [Hei57]



Figure 3.4.: Original patent sketch for the first head-mounted display. Retrieved from Google patents [Hei57]

This head-mounted display was capable of displaying three-dimensional video. However, the device did not offer tracking capabilities.

Morton Heilig developed the Sensorama and first demonstrated it in 1962. With its multisensory simulator, Sensorama gave users a whole new perspective on different environments and scenarios. Motorcycling through New York was a popular attraction and produced winds, noise, and smells similar to those of the city itself [Gig93]. Although the Sensorama was not interactive, it was a significant advance in the development of VR technology.

VR technology has evolved significantly since its inception in the 1960s. Known for his pioneering work in computer graphics, Ivan Sutherland [Sut65] described a visionary concept called "Ultimate Display". Essentially, this refers to a simulated reality so realistic that it is impossible to distinguish it from actual reality. An interactive graphic display, force feedback devices and sensory stimulation of smell and taste were all included in this concept[Sut65; Gig93].

Sutherland [Sut65] described the ultimate display as follows:

"The ultimate display would, of course, be a room within which the computer can control the existence of matter. A chair displayed in such a room would be good enough to sit in. Handcuffs displayed in such a room would be confining, and a bullet displayed in such a room would be fatal. With appropriate programming such a display could literally be the Wonderland into which Alice walked." [Sut65]

In 1968, Sutherland invented a head-mounted display that allowed a graphic display to be updated to reflect the user's new perspective. Furthermore, this device tracked the movement of the user's head with a long mechanical arm, and the interactivity was still primitive. In this system, the viewer was provided with stereoscopic computer graphics images overlaid on real-world images using two displays viewable through half-silvered mirrors [Gig93; Sut68].



Figure 3.5.: An overview of the three-dimensional display system. Retrieved from Sutherland [Sut68]

Much of the development of VR technology in recent years was driven by the need for better military flight simulators. Tom Furness of the US Air Force Armstrong Medical Research Laboratories conducted significant research on VR [Gig93; SC18a]. In 1984, Mike McGreevy and Jim Humphries of the NASA Ames Research Center provided the basis for a modern VR setup to evaluate how useful a monochrome head-mounted display would be for future astronauts. Furthermore, research has been conducted to develop systems to track head and hand movements, wide-field monochrome stereo displays, speech recognition, 3D audio output, and tracked and instrumented gloves [Gig93].

Jaron Lanie coined the term VR in 1989 and conquered the mainstream in the following years [SC18a]. After its inception, VR experienced a period of popularity in the late 1980s and early 1990s. In addition, pop culture has played an important role in the spread of VR [Hei93]. However, VR commercialization attempts in the 1990s were typically unsuccessful [Boy09; Gar18; Mar+19; ZZ09] due to technical limitations [Bro99; Sto04]. As a result of this commercial setback, VR declined in popularity over the next decade. However, the research continued and advanced [SC18a].

The Oculus Kickstarter [Ocu12] campaign was a major VR event in 2012. This campaign attracted the attention and financial support of the general public, especially computer gamers, in addition to that of the usual research community [SC18a]. In retrospect, after a long history of unsuccessful technological innovation, this seems to have been the right impetus to spread the technique in modern times.

Today we have a wide range of head-mounted VR displays, all supporting head tracking, tracked controllers, stereo headphones, high-resolution displays, and low latencies. In 2019, Oculus introduced a standalone VR device called the Oculus Quest. Due to its technical characteristics and affordable price, it has been disruptive on the market [Por19; Tim19]. Oculus Quest was also recognized as one of the best inventions of 2019 [Tim19]. A year later, the company released its successor, Oculus Quest 2, which quickly became very popular and widely used. Additionally, more than one million Oculus Quest 2⁶ headsets were sold worldwide in the last fiscal quarter of 2020 (see Fig. 3.6) [Sup21].

⁶Meta (formerly Facebook) has announced in 2022 that it will be renaming its VR product line to Meta (formerly Oculus).





Figure 3.6.: Global unit sales of virtual reality headsets in the fourth quarter of 2019 and the fourth quarter of 2020, by device (in 1,000s). Retrieved from Statista [Sup21]

There seems to be a positive future for immersive technologies if they continue to evolve in positive direction. The global market for AR, VR, and MR is expected to reach \$250 billion by 2028 [The22]. Immersive technologies, and VR in particular, are expected to thrive due to the growing popularity of the metaverse concept in recent years. Neither this concept nor its application are discussed in detail in this thesis. Instead, a general overview of it is given. According to Wang et al. [Wan+22], the concept of the metaverse can be summarized as follows:

"Metaverse is a self-sustaining, hyper spatiotemporal, and 3D immersive virtual shared space, created by the convergence of physically persistent virtual space and virtually enhanced physical reality. In other words, the metaverse is a synthesized world which is composed of user-controlled avatars, digital things, virtual environments, and other computer-generated elements, where humans (represented by avatars) can use their virtual identity through any smart device to communicate, collaborate, and socialize with each other. The construction of metaverse blends the ternary physical, human, and digital worlds." [Wan+22]

Figure 3.7 illustrates the architecture of the metaverse.



Figure 3.7.: The general architecture of the metaverse. Retrieved from Wang et al. [Wan+22]

3.3.2. Technical Specifications and Characteristics

In essence, VR simulates the experience of being in a different physical environment through interactive experiences. The physical world can be replaced with digital inputs, allowing the creation of a VR where visual, auditory, tactile, and olfactory inputs are replaced with digital data used to drive the provision of representations and perceptions to the brain [PS20]. VR can be experienced with the use of certain technical systems. A variety of platforms and systems can be used to experience VR, from simple mobile apps ⁷ to immersive setups in which images are projected onto three to six walls of the room ⁸ to complex computer-based applications [PS20].

These VR systems allow users to immerse themselves in a simulated environment. To this end, real-time graphics can be used to create a computer-generated environment, head-mounted displays can be used to view the environment, and interface devices and body tracking sensors can be used to track movement, and synchronize both physical and virtual environments [PS20; TST19].

Doerner et al. [Doe+22] defined a VR system as follows:

"We call a VR system a computer system consisting of suitable hardware and software to implement the concept of Virtual Reality. We call the content represented by the VR system a virtual world. The virtual world includes, for example, models of objects, their behavioral description for the simulation model, and their arrangement in space. If a virtual world is presented with a VR system, we speak of a virtual environment for one or more users." [Doe+22]

To make interactive virtual environments ⁹ and digital objects, multiple creation processes are required using a variety of software programs. To achieve video game quality graphics with varying degrees of realism and interaction, it is essential to use game engines, 3D modeling and texturing programs, and motion capture tracking systems [PS20]. In addition, audio middleware can provide several benefits when creating virtual worlds and integrating 3D sounds into the game engine.

In this context, it is important to introduce some relevant concepts and terminologies to understand what leads to VR applications being perceived as an experience.

Immersion is an objective property of a VR system, which refers to how well that system supports natural sensorimotor contingencies for perception, which encompass responses to perceptual acts. VR systems can be classified according to the level of immersion provided. If a system supports full-body perception, it would provide a higher level of immersion than one that allows only the user to see the screen of a display [Sla18]. Consequently, adding additional hardware to a VR system that appeals to other human senses can further enhance

⁷Mobile virtual reality is based on the combination of a smartphone and a simple viewing device (e.g., a cardboard viewer).

⁸Typically, these systems are called CAVEs.

⁹E.g. virtual worlds.

the sense of immersion [PN21].

Sherman and Craig [SC18a] defined immersion as follows:

"Immersion sensation of being in an environment; can be a purely mental state or can be accomplished through physical means: physical immersion is a defining characteristic of virtual reality; mental immersion is probably the goal of most media creators." [SC18a]

This definition states that immersion can be viewed as a dichotomy between mental and physical ¹⁰ immersion. In order to provide a sense of immersion in the virtual world, physical immersion is an important part of VR systems and experiences. An example of this would be a person physically entering a medium. Through the use of technology, it is possible to achieve physical immersion by providing synthetic stimuli from the senses of the body ¹¹ in response to the individual's position and actions [SC18a]. The definition of mental immersion can be summarized as delving deeply into something by giving up disbelief and entering into it fully. Mental immersion is critical to the fulfillment of a VR experience and can act as a tool to facilitate communication. It also provides insight into the effectiveness of communication. A certain level of engagement indicates the success of virtual world communication. Depending on the application, its goals, and its requirements, a high level of mental immersion may not be feasible, desirable, or even necessary [SC18a].

An approach to cognitive studies of immersion and interaction in virtual environments is based on a subject's activity. Fuchs [Fuc17] proposed an anthropocentric user perspective to facilitate the understanding and design of virtual world applications (see Fig. 3.8). To achieve an optimal level of immersion for VR applications, designers should take a humancentric approach when designing VR applications. Designers absolutely need to consider a technocentric approach when creating immersive VR applications. This is because of the important role that the interface process and devices play. In order to understand the difficulties of designing VR and the possible errors in user interaction with artificial environments, it is necessary to consider the duality of VR.

¹⁰Sensory.

¹¹It is important to note that this does not mean that all of the senses need to be stimulated in order to experience immersion.

3. Extended Reality Training



Figure 3.8.: The diagram illustrates how humans perceive the virtual world from an anthropocentric perspective. Retrieved from Fuchs [Fuc17]

Although immersion is consciously understood as virtual, VR applications have ecological validity because the brain automatically interprets them as real. Therefore, VR is also a useful tool for immersive training in a variety of fields [TST19].

For instance, experimental psychology has become increasingly interested in the use of virtual environments in recent years. This is due to the ability of these environments to present stimuli dynamically and in a controlled manner that affect different modalities simultaneously. Consequently, VR has proven to be a very valuable tool for studying the effects of various stimuli on human behavior [Gra20].

Presence broadly describes the sense of presence and mental immersion [SC18a]. Despite knowing that one is not present, the purpose of this state is to give the illusion of being present. Moreover, presence can be considered a perceptual illusion rather than a cognitive one [Sla18] meaning, that people's sense of presence is not determined by where their bodies are located but by the perception of being in a virtual environment [SS05]. In VR, emotional experiences are related to the concept of presence, and to evoke emotional reactions, users

must be perceptually stimulated and receive feedback on their actions [Die+15].

Degrees of freedom in VR refer to the number of axes along which a user can move. Headsets with three degrees of freedom track rotational movement only, while headsets with six degrees of freedom track rotational and positional movement [SC18a] (see Fig. 3.9).



Figure 3.9.: A comparison of three- and six-degrees-of-freedom. Retrieved from Palmas and Niermann [PN21]

Avatars are used to represent users in virtual environments. Originally from Hindi, this word refers to the physical manifestation of a deity. Users can embody avatars in any visual form and take on any visual properties [SC18a]. Gonzalez et al. [Gon+20] show how important it is to animate the facial expressions ¹² of avatars to create a stronger identification with them. Although avatars do not resemble the user, animating their facial expressions enhances self-identification with the avatar. Furthermore, Slater [Sla17] suggests that the use of avatars and their movement translations into virtual environments can be used to learn implicitly [Sla17].

Embodiment enables users to experience virtual body ownership [Sla17]. It offers users the ability to control an avatar in a first-person perspective, as if the avatar were their own bodies and the source of all their sensations ¹³. Embodiment illusions are influenced by the user's perception of ownership of the avatar's body, also known as body ownership. In addition, users take control of avatars and own their appearance. Consequently, there is a direct relationship between embodiment illusions and the avatar's position in relation to the body. The avatar must be co-located with the user to experience an embodiment illusion [GP18].

Ethics and its implications for VR cannot be ignored. From the design phase through the use of VR applications, developers must address ethical considerations similar to those that apply to other data-sensitive technologies. According to Ramirez [Ram22], consumers and the public can be exposed to harmful consequences from the use of virtual and AR

¹²Facial animation.

¹³According to Gonzalez and Peck [GP18], even without full-body motion tracking, a co-located avatar with a head-tracked updated view can create the illusion of embodiment.

technologies. In addition, not every user or company has appropriate rooms suited for VR use. This increases the possibility and risk of injury. Another ethical issue is related to the possibility of creating user profiles ¹⁴ from augmented and virtual reality applications that can be used to track user movements and behavior [Gaf22; KS22; Mil+20].

The visual quality and use of sensory stimulation of VR applications and technologies are continually improving, leading to the possibility of so-called superrealism. At this point, VR becomes indistinguishable from physical reality [Sla+20]. While this could offer several benefits, including broadening our horizons and introducing new types of experience, it raises many ethical questions.

According to Doerner [Doe+22], in the field of research and when developing virtual and AR applications, five perspectives should be considered, including their complex interrelationships and possible implications (see Fig. 3.10). Researchers may intentionally violate these guidelines under certain circumstances, but this should be adequately reflected and documented [Doe+22].

¹⁴End User of the application can be customer but also employees within a company.



Figure 3.10.: In the five perspectives, virtual and augmented reality are analyzed with regard to their effects and fields of action. Retrieved from Doenner et al. [Doe+22]

3.3.3. Virtual Reality for Training

Virtual environments have been explored by researchers since the 1990s. Numerous frameworks have been developed to understand how VR and its environments can improve learning outcomes, suggesting that virtual environments have the power to transform education [Sou20]. Technological advances and the digitization of the educational environment have brought about a multitude of changes, and today's technology-driven learning environment poses new challenges for education. Skills that are indispensable in today's world must be acquired, and at the same time there is a risk that technology orientation will overtake the learning process [Dan20; Pal+22]. To understand the effective integration of technology into learning and educational concepts, it is crucial to identify the most effective approach to improving the individual's competence and to facilitate the transfer of learning to real-world situations.

Competence is characterized as a combination of knowledge, skills, and attitudes that allow an individual to act professionally in challenging circumstances and to comprehend the impacts of their decisions. Professional competencies are developed by engaging learners in situations that encourage traits such as creativity, autonomy, inquiry, and critical thinking in relation to common scenarios or real situations that may arise in future professional contexts [Fer+20]. Therefore, there is a growing interest in VR in the corporate sector.

Companies in various industries are increasingly using solutions based on AR or VR to increase their maturity, sustainability, and competitiveness. Various corporate goals can be achieved using this technology, for example, improving existing processes and organizational quality, optimizing time and costs, and developing new business models [KS22].

According to studies conducted in the twentieth century, people are likely to perceive messages differently depending on the medium through which they are delivered. As the medium becomes richer, the images of the space and situation become more realistic. Therefore, the more realistic the images of the space and situation are, the more likely they are to capture the audience's attention. This makes people more likely to feel like they are actually there. Therefore, the chosen training medium can greatly influence the training's effectiveness [Gra20].

According to Knoll and Stieglitz [KS22], the following main areas can be supported by AR and VR in a sector-neutral manner:

- Visualization of complex actual situation
- Modelling and simulation
- Collaboration
- Corporate communication: internal and external

In addition, there are several potential benefits associated with virtual learning environments with which people can interact or that they can use to learn. Southgate [Sou20] emphasizes the following benefits for learners:

- Development of spatial awareness
- Experience-based learning opportunities that would be either impractical or unattainable in reality
- Transfer of knowledge and skills learned in virtual environments to real-world situations
- New opportunities for fostering creativity in learning can be created through role-play and mentoring
- Provide learning spaces for practice, exploration, and experimentation ¹⁵
- Improve learners' ability to engage in problem-based and exploratory learning

One of the most promising applications of VR is in the field of training. VR has already been used in a variety of sectors [JD21; PG22], including: healthcare [Man+03; ZA20], military [Pal+15], rehabilitation [Lam+06; ZA20], manufacturing [Abi+19; MSH04], maintenance [Gav+15], and education [Sou20].

A recent survey of industry professionals in the United States highlighted the focus on immersive technologies for manufacturing leading-edge applications [XRA20] (see Fig. 3.11).

¹⁵It is possible to integrate personalized user-generated content.

3. Extended Reality Training



Figure 3.11.: Manufacturing applications of immersive technologies in 2020 according to industry experts in the United States. Retrieved from Statista [XRA20]

Although on-the-job training is one of the most common ways to acquire new skills because it is considered, in most cases, to be direct and natural, the effectiveness of this training method depends on the supervision of a skilled worker who explains how to perform the task accurately and efficiently. In addition, this type of training can be costly and time consuming. Clutter in the workplace can hamper productivity and take up space. With the help of VR simulations, some of the challenges of conventional training methods can be overcome, making realistic and efficient training possible [Gra20]. Moreover, one of the benefits associated with VR training is the ability to train people on specific procedures without any real-world consequences. This is a way to ensure that people have received appropriate training before engaging in the real process. Through this technology, users can also embody avatars and experience what it would be like to perform the process in the real world [Pal+21]. Additionally, the use of VR solutions seems to improve learning by making it more engaging, accessible, and fast [Dan20].

VR can be used to train people in a variety of scenarios and fields [JD21] that would otherwise be impossible to experience in the real world, allowing learners to gain experience in a simulated environment without the risks associated with real-world experiences. This includes sales or advisory talks, interpersonal conflict resolution, dealing with dangerous situations, and emergency training. In addition, VR can be used as a tool to provide information on complex service or repair cases [KS22].
Immersive VR training applications can be used to help trainees develop muscle memory and improve their ability to work efficiently. VR gives them the freedom of action and movement they need to perform real-world tasks in the workplace as they move from training to real job situations [Gra20].

According to Grabowski [Gra20], professional uses of VR at work include the following:

- Training workers to increase their efficiency and safety on the job ¹⁶
- Supporting the evaluation and modification of work processes through the use of VR
- Interactive simulations within a virtual environment
- Interactive simulation of work processes to simplify and accelerate the process of designing and evaluating work environments
- Facilitating risk assessment at work; performing dangerous tasks while maintaining safe control of the teleoperator ¹⁷
- Using motion capture systems and VR games to improve recovery from work accidents
- Simulating a real accident in a virtual environment to identify possible causes
- Improving the cognitive abilities of older people to retrain the unemployed and facilitate and improve their professional activation
- Using interactive simulations in a virtual environment to adapt workplaces to the needs of people with disabilities
- Developing and testing novel methods of interaction between humans and machines ¹⁸

An immersive learning experience that uses VR could enable people to acquire the skills and knowledge needed to succeed in a specific area through an immersive learning experience. However, it is important to note that the use of VR alone may not be enough to ensure a successful training program.

Success in the field of training depends primarily on the training's effectiveness. In order to achieve successful results, effective teaching and training methods are necessary. Despite the importance of training, too little attention is paid to it when choosing a method [KS22].

¹⁶According to Grabowski [Gra20], in addition to procedural training, VR techniques are particularly useful in assessing decision making. Furthermore, gamification can be applied to training tools in virtual environments to increase their effectiveness and efficiency.

¹⁷In this case, the use of a head-mounted display, motion capturing systems, and gloves are required.

¹⁸In particular humans and robots.

3.4. Defining Extended Reality Training

Immersive interactive training systems have gained considerable momentum in recent years due to technological advances in mobile and XR systems. These technologies have the ability to enhance the learning experience and engage learners due to their interactive nature. They create immersive simulated environments that allow learners to practice and apply their skills in a safe and controlled environment [Pal+22]. Although the use of XR technologies is still in its infancy, they appear to be capable of transforming traditional methods of training and learning and hold the potential to significantly impact the approach to learning and training by offering various new training settings [Pal+22; PK20].

This section provides a depiction of the findings of the research "Defining Extended Reality Training: A Long-Term Definition for All Industries" by Palmas and Klinker [PK20]. The following sections are in part extracted and adapted from this publication. This research presents a set of common characterizations and concepts that provide clarity, ease of classification, and a definition of XR training that can be applied to all industries. Understanding these concepts is essential to reap the benefits of XR in corporate training.

3.4.1. Using Gamification for Immersive Learning

The integration of gamification into corporate training has gained attention due to its potential to improve the engagement and motivation of learners. Research supports the effectiveness of game elements in learning environments, and combining gamification with immersive technologies, such as XR, has shown promise in creating more immersive and engaging training methods. Furthermore, the possibility of developing multisensory approaches can improve the learning experience, support the learning transfer process, and lead to improved employee performance and productivity [PK20].

To assess mastery of these approaches, learners must demonstrate that they can apply the knowledge they have acquired to practical real-life scenarios. A high level of fidelity to the environment and interface can be beneficial in optimizing knowledge transfer in purpose-designed applications [PK20].

Combining computer generated content with extended technology results in the creation of immersive learning experiences that can meet the specific needs of individual learners. By combining these technologies with methodological approaches that take learners' needs into account to develop unique learning experiences, knowledge delivery can be enhanced more efficiently. This, in turn, improves the overall effectiveness of training interventions [PK20; PN21].

3.4.2. Training Domains and Continuum of XR Training Applications

There is a need to categorize training applications within a continuum that accounts for each type of training in the past, present, and future. This need results from the significant differences between the various training formats available on the market based on different hardware configurations and technologies [PK20]. Therefore, a novel concept called training

domains was developed, which allows the categorization of training applications.

Palmas and Klinker [PK20] defined a training domain as follows:

"A training domain is defined as the most comprehensive classification of one specific typology of training application based on its unique technological characteristics." [PK20]

All possible training applications can be assigned to one of seven individual domains developed by Palmas and Klinker [PK20] on their unique technical characteristics and selling points. A training domain represents the broadest classification of a particular type of training application. Thus, a training application can be accessed from multiple domains ¹⁹, but it can be classified as belonging to a specific domain only if it is specifically designed to take advantage of the use of the particular technology that defines it [PK20].

Palmas and Klinker [PK20] classified the training domains as follows:

- **Physicality** refers to the material and tangible aspects of the natural world and is synonymous with a truly unchanging physical environment that is often misconstrued as reality ²⁰. It encompasses all aspects of training that can be done in person without the use of technology. Although technology can be used to support a training session in this domain, a trainer is more likely to guide the trainee through the learning process in real life than through the use of technology.
- Stationary Extensions of Physicality ²¹ consider the desktop computer as the core technology. Any training designed for and conducted on a desktop computer falls into this domain. It is assumed that this core technology fails to leverage the technological advances offered by integrating VR or AR to enhance learning experiences.
- **Mobile Extensions of Physicality** include mobile technologies such as laptops, smartphones, and tablets. It is assumed that these technologies do not use the technological possibilities of VR or AR for learning purposes.
- Augmented Reality refers to technology that uses a combination of hardware and software components to allow users to experience digital content in a physical environment. In this process, mobile devices display both real-world and digital content simultaneously.
- **Mixed Reality** uses technology that merges the physical and digital worlds, blending VR and AR. It presents a superimposed layer of virtual content that interacts with real surroundings. The content is presented on a head-mounted display to facilitate

¹⁹E.g., a web browser on a VR device.

²⁰Reality should be viewed as a concept that extends beyond the physical realm, as it encompasses abstract notions and cultural constructs, both of which transcend the physical realm.

²¹Due to the widespread use of their base technologies, the domains of stationary extensions and mobile extensions of physicality are particularly relevant to corporate training.

interaction between different realities either using controllers or hands-free using hand tracking.

- Virtual Reality implies a technology that allows users to fully immerse themselves in, interact with, and move within a computer-generated virtual environment. Using these types of application may require a head-mounted display is connected to a computer or a standalone VR device. The integration of different types of hardware can lead to the creation of immersive experiences that offer full computer-generated sensory stimulation.
- Virtuality refers to in-depth training that can be carried out in a sustained computergenerated or simulated virtual training environment that resembles and is comparable to real-world training. Technological advances could enable the creation of VR environments and training that can authentically replicate the sensory experiences of the physical world in the future. This type of immersive learning experience would be indistinguishable from training in the physicality domain. As a result of this type of training, it would be possible to bridge the gap between training in the domains of virtuality and physicality and provide an immersive and realistic learning experience.



Figure 3.12.: The continuum of the XR training application. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+22]

To classify training applications, all domains can be represented on a continuum (see Fig. 3.12). The left end of the continuum represents the physical reality, while the right end represents a fully computer-generated virtual world. The virtual and real worlds are proportionally combined to produce the end product of a new training domain [PN21].

The creation of new domains under which new types of training can be classified according to their technological properties can be achieved whenever a new technology can be defined by its unique technological characteristics. Due to advances in technology and assumptions that future technologies will become available and be used for training applications at some point in the future, the position of previous XR training applications within the training domain may change [PK20].

3.4.3. The XR Training Definition

The purpose of this section is to bring together the discussions in the previous chapters on corporate training, gamification, and the technology behind XR training to define XR training.

Palmas and Klinker [PK20] defined XR training as follows:

"xR training is a purposely designed, immersive learning experience, which takes advantage of the appropriate technologies. These technologies engage and support employees when acquiring the knowledge and skills needed to drive the behaviors that impact specific business outcomes, which are aligned with organizational goals." [PK20]

For a comprehensive understanding of this definition, Palmas and Klinker [PK20] explained the following terms, as follows:

- **Purposely designed** training can be viewed as an instructional methodology that refers to the use of specific techniques and strategies with the aims of motivating individuals to learn and of supporting their learning processes. These techniques include the use of gamification principles, elements, mechanics, and interactions in learning design. The purpose of purpose-designed instructional methodology is to enhance motivation and engagement in the learning process, ultimately leading to the achievement of a predetermined learning outcome. Overall, it aims to create an engaging, interactive, and motivating learning environment to facilitate the acquisition of new knowledge and skills.
- Immersive training experience refers to a learning experience in which an individual is immersed in the training application to a specified extent and degree, through either real or virtual immersion. The individual undergoes this training for a specified period of time to acquire new knowledge or skills. An immersive training experience is placed on the left, near the physicality domain, where the individual retains a presence in their physical surroundings and preserves cognizance of the tangible reality in the real world. Training experiences that merge the real world with the virtual world are located near the middle, resulting in a fully MR. It is possible to find immersive training experiences near the virtuality domain, to the right of the training area, allowing participants to fully immerse themselves in the virtual training world, forgetting about events taking place in their real physical environment.

3.4.4. Discussion

In recent years, technology has taken a huge leap forward, paving the way for developers to generate immersive VR applications that engage all five senses. As previously discussed in the description of the training domains, this level of immersion could offer huge advantages in training applications in the VR and virtuality domains, as users could explore and experience their surroundings more realistically without immediate dangers lurking around them. Being surrounded by a system with this kind of immersion allows users to fully immerse themselves in their learning process and ensure that they understand every aspect like never before.

However, it should be noted that the technology required to fully engage all five senses in VR is still in its infancy and will likely take some time to become widely available and affordable. Currently, the hardware needed for full sensory immersion in VR can be quite expensive and cumbersome to carry. Additionally, the technology may not be fully mature, which may cause discomfort to the user. But, as with any new technology, VR technology is expected to continue to improve and become more advanced over time. As developers continue to push the limits of what is possible with VR, it is likely that devices will become lighter, more comfortable, and affordable for the average consumer. In the future, it is possible that VR technology will become an integral part of everyday life, being used for everything from education and training to entertainment and socializing.

As we strive to bring the promising benefits of superrealism to VR, it is vital to weigh its moral implications and take steps to prevent potential harm. This could consist of formulating standards and regulations for applications, educating people about the risks associated with the technology, and using it as responsibly as possible.

An organization's learning journey can be enhanced through XR training designed to either provide a unique learning experience on a specific topic or establish a continuous learning process. Companies can leverage the technological capabilities at their disposal using this last type of approach. In this way, the company can create transmedia learning experiences.

The adoption of a transmedia learning strategy presents novel methods of accessing learning content across various training domains [PK20]. It can be very effective to combine technology and methodologies to build skills and deepen existing knowledge with the use of different training methods to support skill development and support learning in an effective and efficient way.

Developing a transmedia concept is a demanding and expensive process that requires careful planning and coordination, as well as significant resources. While the potential benefits of successful transmedia storytelling can be great, it is important that developers carefully consider the challenges and limitations of this approach before embarking on the development of a transmedia learning concept.

A successful company can also design different applications intended to provide training in hard and soft skills in competing organizations to gain an advantage over its competitors. Therefore, organizations must recognize the integral role that understanding and mastering hard and soft skills plays in achieving the desired performance outcomes. Therefore, it is imperative that companies analyze their organizational business goals and strategies to identify the skill gaps in their employees. By using this XR training, they can develop targeted training programs that motivate and empower their employees, as well as provide fundamental knowledge that increases productivity. Incorporating gamification and XR approaches into training contexts could enhance knowledge acquisition and retention, resulting in improved performance and productivity at work.

However, integrating XR training into a company's training program can be a complex and challenging process. Identifying best practices to implement these approaches requires further research to understand the mechanisms underlying their effectiveness.

3.4.5. Summary

Due to the profound impact that digital transformation has had on our lives, driven by constant technological advances, companies and employees are challenged to adapt to a lifestyle of lifelong learning that continuously engages learners with new training methods. XR has the potential to revolutionize corporate training by offering immersive and interactive learning experiences that are stimulating and impactful to employees. The purpose of this section was to provide a long-term definition of XR training that can be used across industries. In addition, a continuum of possible XR training applications was explained. Within this continuum, each potential training format can be categorized according to existing or emerging technologies.

4. Assembly Task in Virtual Reality

The use of VR simulations as a training and learning tool has become increasingly popular in recent years. As mentioned earlier, VR allows people to practice and develop new skills in a safe and controlled environment without supervision. This is particularly useful in situations where hands-on training can be difficult or dangerous, as well as in business situations where human supervision may not always be possible. Furthermore, supporting employee training with human oversight could negatively impact an organization at the expense of other business objectives ¹. In addition to looking at the learning curve for using VR technology, it is imperative to consider the role of gamification in training, as it can have a significant impact on effectiveness.

This chapter includes information on the software and hardware used in the publication "Comparison of a Gamified and Non-Gamified Virtual Reality Training Assembly Task" by Palmas et al. [Pal+19b], as well as a detailed description of the study performed to investigate the effects of gamification on knowledge transfer and task fulfillment in VR. The gamified and non-gamified VR training was developed by Labode [Lab18] during his master's thesis, and parts of the following sections have been extracted and adapted from the publication by Palmas et al. [Pal+19b].

4.1. Background

As a relatively new form of training, VR training has become widely used in research and offers several advantages. For example, if designed and implemented properly, it can reduce costs, improve training reproducibility, and provide a realistic and dynamic environment in which learners can practice and apply theoretical concepts. These properties make VR an effective tool to bridge the gap between theory and practice [Pal+21]. In addition to providing a safe and controlled environment for practicing skills that are too risky to try in the real world, VR can convey concepts without using language or other symbols. Furthermore, it has been shown that, in certain situations, skills acquired in a VR environment can be transferred to the real world [SB05].

Oren et al. [Ore+12] examined the effectiveness of training to assemble a 3D wooden burr puzzle in a VR environment using haptic devices and data gloves and in the real world using the physical puzzle itself. Although the group that received VR training was longer involved in the training than the group that received physical training, they assembled the physical test

¹This cost can have a significant impact on a company. Opportunity cost can be viewed as a trade-off between two courses of action in which one must be sacrificed to gain the benefits of the other. In the context of economic efficiency, opportunity costs are often unseen and difficult to quantify.

puzzle significantly more quickly than the group that was instructed to complete the training in a physical environment. Accordingly, VR training can be more effective than traditional training methods in preparing individuals for real-world assembly tasks. In general, the study suggests that VR training may be an effective way to improve performance in real-world environments.

Constructivism theory is one of the most appropriate theories to explain the knowledge transfer capabilities of VR training applications. A learning environment similar to the actual environment in which the task is performed makes it easier for the learner to remember the experience [Ham05]. With the further development of VR technology in the areas of tracking, displays, and realistic graphics, it is becoming increasingly possible for VR learning environments to replicate the operational environment, which could potentially lead to better knowledge transfer.

Like any process, application, or task, gamification has the potential to benefit a variety of contexts, processes, and activities and can also be used in the context of learning. However, it can be difficult to quantify the efficiency of a gamified application. Moreover, several studies have examined the impact of VR in industrial and medical environments without considering the impact of gamified VR on these environments [Pal+19a].

Considering the potential of VR and gamification, it has been questioned whether integrating gamification elements into VR training could facilitate the delivery of learning content and simplify interactions within training scenarios compared to non-gamified VR training. To answer this question, a VR training application was developed that uses a similar approach to the VR training application by Adams et al. [AKH01] was developed. In order to create a neutral test base and test the adaptability of the concept in real situations, such as learning to perform tasks for a new job, a drum kit was chosen as the object of investigation. Drum sets are usually not assembled by people with no experience in drumming. After a VR training session, participants had to apply their acquired skills to assemble a drum set in the physical world.

4.2. Methods and Study Design

The methods and design of the presented study are described in the following subsections.

4.2.1. VR Hardware

In this study, the HTC Vive headset was used. It is a VR headset that includes a tethered headset with an OLED display and Fresnel lenses, two wireless hand controllers, and two lighthouses ². The headset has a refresh rate of 90 Hz and a resolution of 2160x1200 pixels ³. It has a 110 degree field of view and uses the lighthouses to track the position of the headset and controllers using infrared light and laser beams. The controllers feature multiple input

²Infrared emitters.

³This corresponds to 1080x1200 pixels per eye.

methods, including buttons, a touchpad, and an analog trigger. The HTC Vive features low-latency tracking and allows room-scale movement in the tracking area.

4.2.2. Design of the Training Application

The training application used in the study was developed using the Unity3D game engine and features a 3D virtual environment that mimics the actual test room. The aim of the application was to train users in assembling a cymbal stand, which is a piece of drum hardware (see Fig. 4.1), which was chosen for its complexity and distinct assembly method that is not normally encountered in daily life. The cymbal stand consists of eleven components, including a tripod, two steel rods, a cymbal, four screws, a plastic washer, and two felt washers.



Figure 4.1.: Real cymbal stand vs virtual reality cymbal stand. Both are fully assembled.

To accurately simulate real-world conditions, the objects in the virtual environment were designed to interact with each other and the environment in physically realistic ways, including the application of simulated gravity and the ability to respond to user interactions. The VR system uses space-scale tracking that allows the user to physically move within a defined space to navigate the virtual environment. The tracked area has dimensions of approximately

2.5 meters by 2.5 meters, and any movement of the user, such as head or hand movement, is accurately reflected in the virtual world through the movement of the camera and controllers. This enables a seamless and immersive experience within the training application.



Figure 4.2.: Objects are picked up using the grip button (left), while the touch-pad and trigger (right) are used to interact with them. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

Users can interact with objects in the virtual environment of this application using controllers in two ways (see Fig. 4.2):

- They can pick up an object by approaching it with a controller and pressing and holding the grip button, which simulates the motion of grasping a cylindrical object in real life⁴. When an object is picked up, it follows the movement and rotation of the controller until it is released, at which point it is again affected by gravity. The objective of picking up an object is to bring it to its intended place on a virtual cymbal stand, where it snaps into place to become part of the overall structure.
- They can interact with an object by approaching it with a controller and pressing and holding the trigger and touchpad buttons, which simulate the pinching motion used to grasp and manipulate small objects such as screws. There are three possible interactions that can be performed with an object in this way: pulling, tightening, and turning.

These instructions are displayed in the virtual environment where the user can see them while participating in the training. The training application also includes instructional text displayed on the virtual workspace ⁵ that provides step-by-step instructions for assembling the virtual cymbal stand (see Fig. 4.3).

 $^{^{4}}$ Through this approach, a cymbal stand's steel beams or a similar cylindrical object will be picked up in the same manner as when picking up a real-life cymbal stand.

⁵Virtual desk.

4. Assembly Task in Virtual Reality



Figure 4.3.: An example of the training tutorial and its components. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

This guide text will be updated after each completed task. To aid in object manipulation and interaction, the program includes visual indicators, such as blinking objects and ghost images of the target position for each object. In addition, floating arrows provide guidance for certain interactions, such as specifying the rotation direction for the wing nuts or the correct orientation for moving hardware parts (see Fig. 4.4).



Figure 4.4.: A combination of arrows, scales, and flashing material is used to provide indications. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

The physical setup of the task is designed to reflect the virtual environment used for training. The physical workspace and objects ⁶ are arranged in the same configuration as in the virtual environment, and the physical objects are the actual counterparts of the virtual models used in the training (see Fig. 4.5).

⁶The desk and all items placed on it.



Figure 4.5.: Real-world setup compared with virtual training environment. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

Participants are expected to demonstrate their understanding of the actions and sequences learned during VR training (see Appendix A.1) by accurately reproducing those actions required for the assembly task in the real physical world. These actions include picking up and attaching objects to the virtual cymbal stand and securing them with wing nuts and holding objects in specific positions while securing them (see Fig. 4.6).



Figure 4.6.: Physical assembly task in the real-world setup.

The VR training application was developed in two versions, one serving as a control and the other as an experimental condition. The control condition includes all the features described in the previous explanations, but does not contain any gamification elements. In contrast, the experimental condition includes four specific gamification elements: progress bar ⁷, points ⁸, audio feedback, and visual feedback. These elements are intended to provide the user with motivation and a sense of progress.

A detailed explanation of these elements is provided by Palmas et al. [Pal+19b], as follows:

⁷To provide clear goals and feedback on progress.

⁸The feeling of reward is provided by them.

- **Progress bar** is contained in the training application within the user interface displayed above the tutorial text. This feature gives the user feedback on their progress while they view the instructions for the current or a new task. The progress bar consists of transparent blocks that represent individual steps in the tutorial, such as adding a component to the construction. As the user completes each step, the corresponding block is colored green to show the progress. The progress bar also includes a yellow block that shows the current step in the tutorial (see Fig. 4.4).
- **Points** are credited to the user after they complete each step of the tutorial. These points are displayed as large numeric sprites (see Fig. 4.7). The total number of points accumulated during the workout is displayed below the progress bar (see Fig. 4.4). The point system is designed to encourage the user to complete more difficult tasks, as these tasks are assigned higher point values. In addition, the system offers a performance-related bonus of up to 100% of the time required to complete the task. This aspect of the point system is intended to challenge users who may find the basic tutorial tasks too easy and not challenging enough.
- Audio feedback is provided during the training in the form of a drum fill that the user hears upon successful completion of a tutorial step. This serves to strengthen the sense of achievement and motivation, as well as provide information about individual progress.
- Visual feedback is provided upon completion of a virtual training application in the form of a celebratory particle effect. This effect simulates confetti falling on the user. This confetti rain effect is intended to provide a sense of achievement for the participant who has successfully completed all tasks and reached the end of the training program, and it serves as a visual indicator of the participant's progress and success (see Fig. 4.7).



Figure 4.7.: Points displayed over the cymbal stand (left), confetti rain after completion of the assembly task (right).

4.2.3. Research Questions and Sample

The main hypothesis is that the use of gamification can improve the effectiveness of VR training in terms of knowledge transfer. To test this, specific subhypotheses were formulated:

- **H1** *The experimental group will exhibit a different distribution of error counts than the control group.* ⁹
- **H2** *The experimental group will exhibit a different distribution of error criticalness than the control group.* ¹⁰

In this study, 50 participants were randomly assigned to test the two sub-hypotheses (H1 and H2) with a gender distribution of 8 females and 42 males and a wide age range of 20 to 62 years. The age distribution of the 50 participants is shown in the Fig. 4.8. None of the participants had previous experience assembling a drum set and were unaware that two different test groups were used to avoid possible bias or competition between the groups. The experiment was conducted in a controlled environment to ensure that no external factors individually influenced the results, with all participants treated equally and given the same instructions. No participant dropped out of the study, and all completed the testing process.

⁹This hypothesis was proposed to test whether the number of errors has decreased overall for users of the gamified version.

¹⁰The purpose of this hypothesis is to determine whether users of the gamified version experienced a decrease in error criticalness in general.



In general, the study was designed to minimize potential sources of confusion and ensure the validity of the results.

Figure 4.8.: The distribution of the 50 participants by age. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

So far, while the results indicated a trend towards a more effective gamified version, the initial analysis using the Chi² independence test did not show statistically significant differences between the two versions.

However, a subset of participants who were new to VR technology was examined, and a stronger trend was observed in favor of the gamified version. To further investigate this result, additional tests were run with another 7 VR novices using the gamified application and 7 using the non-gamified version. This expanded the subgroup to a total of 14 participants in both gamified and non-gamified conditions ¹¹, resulting in a 1:1 ratio. Based on the initial results, two additional subhypotheses were formulated to further explore the potential benefits of gamification in VR training for VR novices and evaluate the data from the new sample:

¹¹A total of 57 participants participated in the study.

- H3 VR inexperienced users of the experimental group will exhibit a different distribution of error counts than the respective part of the control group. ¹²
- H4 VR inexperienced users of the experimental group will exhibit a different distribution of error criticalness than the respective part of the control group ¹³

The data presented in the following discussion are based on a combined sample of 57 participants, including a subset of 28 people classified as VR novices.

4.2.4. Metrics

In this study, various performance metrics were used to assess the effectiveness of the training application on real assembly tasks. These metrics included both objective and subjective measurements, such as the time spent on the task and the number and severity of errors made during the assembly process ¹⁴. Objectively, the time spent using the training application and completing the assembly task was recorded to determine the impact of the training on task efficiency. In addition, the number and type of errors that occurred during the assembly process were documented, as these can provide information on the quality of task execution and the number of steps required to correct the errors ¹⁵. These serve as a measure of the relative importance of avoiding each error and allows the evaluation of hypothetical error scenarios ¹⁶.

Overall, the use of multiple performance metrics in this study allows for a comprehensive assessment of the effectiveness of the training application in real-world assembly tasks. These findings may have important implications for the design and implementation of future training programs in similar contexts. Table 4.1 shows the error descriptions and criticality values corresponding to the errors.

¹²This hypothesis examines whether users of the gamified version who had no experience with VR devices prior to this study will experience a reduction in error counts.

¹³This hypothesis aims to investigate whether the error criticalness decreases among users of the gamified version who have no previous experience of using VR devices.

¹⁴There are several common mistakes that people make when adjusting individual components. For example, forgetting to properly secure screws or attaching parts in the wrong order. Another example of a setup error is the failure to extend a part to the correct distance from the stand as specified by the participant during the training session. This error can occur if the person does not comply with the prescribed extension range.

¹⁵Each potential error scenario is assigned a criticality value, which is determined by the number of steps required to correct the error. This value reflects the impact of the error on the overall process, with higher values indicating more severe consequences.

¹⁶By analyzing the criticality of various error scenarios, it is possible to prioritize efforts to prevent or mitigate these errors in order to optimize the efficiency and effectiveness of the process.

Metric	Format	Description	Crit.
VR time	seconds	The time it took the user to complete the VR	-
		training	
RL time	seconds	The time it took the user to complete the real-	-
		world task	
Set pole	boolean	Whether the user failed to accurately adjust	3
		the setting of the vertical pole	
Set rod	boolean	Whether the user failed to accurately adjust	3
		the setting of the horizontal rod	
Acc turn	boolean	Whether the user failed to accurately adjusted	3
		the angle of the cymbal rod	
Error 4	boolean	Whether the user inserted the horizontal rod	3
		pointing upside down	
Error 6	boolean	Whether the user forgot to fix the horizontal	1
		rod in place	
Error 7	boolean	Whether the user forgot to fix the cymbal rod	1
		in place	
Error 10	boolean	Whether the user inserted the cymbal upside	8
		down	
Error 15	boolean	Whether the user attached the last five pieces	12
		in an incorrect order	
Error 16	boolean	Whether the user adjusted the angular setting	3
		of the horizontal rod	

Table 4.1.: An overview of all metrics collected during the experiment. Crit. refers to Critical-
ness. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

4.3. Results

During this study, VR training and a practical real-world test were carried out. The collected data were anonymized and statistical significance was analyzed using the Chi² test for independence. The confidence level for these analyses was set at 95%, which corresponds to an α of 0.05.

Throughout this section, the null hypothesis H_0 is as follows:

Gamification has no influence on the results of the experimental group compared to the results of the control group.

The Chi² test was chosen to analyze the collected data due to its ability to handle nonnormally distributed data. The data analyzed included the duration of the tests, the number of errors made, and the criticalness of those errors.

Group	VR Time in sec	RL Time in sec
	max 512	max 249
Experimental Group	min 113	min 63
	avg 303.38	avg 116.34
	max 580	max 226
Control Group	min 201	min 62
	avg 345.68	avg 109.52

Table 4.2.: Comparison of the time results obtained by the two groups tested in the virtual training and in the real world test. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

The results of the times recorded during the VR training and the practical test (in Table 4.2) show that the participants in the experimental group who used the gamified training application spent an average of 42.30 seconds less in VR training than the control group. This equals a 12.2% reduction in training time. Furthermore, the minimum and maximum training times for the experimental group were 88 seconds and 68 seconds shorter, respectively, compared to the control group, representing a reduction in training time of 43.8% and 11.7%, respectively. These results suggest that the gamified training application was effective in helping participants complete the training faster.

The results of the real-world test show a more even distribution compared to VR training, with the average completion time of both teams only 6.82 seconds apart (5.8%). The minimum and maximum times to complete the real-world task also show relatively small differences, with a difference of only 1 second in the minimum times (1.6%) and a difference of 23 seconds in the maximum times (9.2%). It is noticeable that the timing values of the control group are lower in the real world task, but overall these differences are relatively small.

In Table 4.3, the number of errors made during the real task is distributed among the experimental and control groups in proportion to the number of participants. The experimental group has 32 participants, and the control group has 25.

Group/Number of Errors	0	1	2	3
Experimental Group	7	10	12	3
Control Group	4	2	11	8

Table 4.3.: The number of errors made by the experimental and control groups during the real-world task. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

The results of the study showed that the experimental group using the gamified training application had a different error distribution compared to the control group. A notable finding was that the average number of errors per participant in the experimental group was 1.34, which represents a 30.2% reduction from the control group mean of 1.92. As illustrated in Figure 4.9, these results suggest that the use of the gamified training application was effective in reducing the number of errors made by the participants. However, no supporting

evidence was found for the subhypothesis H1. These results suggest that the gamified training application had a positive impact on performance and reduced errors on certain tasks among participants in the experimental group.



Figure 4.9.: Measurement of the mean error count and criticalness for both versions of the testing application, along with the standard error. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

The impact of gamification on the criticality of the errors made by the participants during the real-world test is illustrated in Table 4.4 and shows that there were no significant differences in the distribution of errors committed by the two groups, determined by a Chi² test with 3 degrees of freedom and an α level of 5%. The resulting Chi² value was 6.44, which was not significant (p=0.092) leading us to conclude that gamification does not appear to significantly affect the general criticality of the errors made by participants during real-world testing. Therefore, the null hypothesis H₀ in this context cannot be rejected ¹⁷.

¹⁷In real scenarios, gamification does not seem to affect the overall criticalness of participants' errors.

Group/Criticalness value	0-4	5-9	10-14	15-18
Exp. Group	17	11	1	3
Control Group	6	16	0	3

Table 4.4.: Criticalness errors committed by participants in the experimental and control groups during the real-world task. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

Based on the data obtained, subhypothesis H2 cannot be confirmed. However, the average combined criticalness of errors made by participants in the gamified training application was 4.97, indicating a 26.5 % decrease compared to the control group, whose mean was 6.76 (as shown in Fig. 4.9). These results suggest that the gamified training application may be effective in reducing the criticalness of errors made by participants.

Group/Number of Errors	0	1	2	3
Experimental Group (no VR exp.)	3	7	4	0
Control Group (no VR exp.)	1	0	7	6

Table 4.5.: Number of errors made by participants in the experimental and control groups with no prior VR experience during the real world task. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

The results in Table 4.5 show that gamification significantly affects the number of errors made by participants who do not have previous VR experience during the real-world task ¹⁸. The Chi² test with 3 degrees of freedom and an α of 5% gave a Chi² value of 14.82 and a p-value of approximately 0.002. This Chi² values indicate that the null hypothesis H₀ can be rejected. In other words, gamification appears to have a significant impact on performance and consequently on the number of errors made by participants without previous VR experience.

This result shows that, for this subset of users, the gamified training application was effective in reducing the number of errors made by the participants. Specifically, the average number of errors per participant in the experimental group was 1.07, a 53.3% decrease from the mean of 2.29 in the control group. These results (see Fig. 4.9) confirm the subhypothesis H3 suggesting that the gamified training approach is effective in improving performance.

¹⁸A total of 28 participants are considered here who had no virtual reality experience before the study. Both groups consist of 14 participants each.



Participants without VR experience



Based on the data presented in Table 4.6, it appears that gamification had a significant impact on the criticality of errors made by the 28 participants with no prior VR experience during the real-world task. A chi-square test was performed with 3 degrees of freedom and an alpha level of 5%. The Chi² value was calculated to be 12.9, which is above the critical value of 7.815. This corresponds to a p-value of about 0.005, which is lower than the α of 0.05. Therefore, the null hypothesis H₀ can be rejected and it is possible to conclude that gamification seems to impact the criticalness of errors made by the participants without prior VR experience when completing the assembly task in the real world.

Group/Criticalness value		5-9	10-14	15-18
Exp. Group (no VR exp.)	10	2	0	2
Control Group (no VR exp.)	1	10	0	3

Table 4.6.: Criticalness of errors made by participants without prior VR experience in the experimental and control groups during the real task. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19b]

The results confirm and support subhypothesis H4. As shown in Figure 4.10, the mean combined criticalness of the errors made by the gamified training group was 4.5, a 48.1 % decrease compared to the control group, whose mean was 8.79. Consequently, these results indicate that the use of gamification in this training application reduced the severity of the errors made by these users.

4.4. Discussion and Future Works

The analysis of the data collected during this study did not support subhypotheses H1 and H2. In particular, these results did not show a statistically significant association between gamification and differences in error data between the two groups. This suggests that gamification may not have a significant impact in this particular context. More research is needed to better understand the role of gamification in relation to performance in VR training tasks.

However, the findings confirmed the H3 and H4 subhypotheses. In particular, the use of gamification elements seems to have had a statistically significant positive effect on the error and criticality distributions of participants with no previous experience in VR. These results underscore the potential of gamification to improve performance and improve learning outcomes in VR training for people with no prior VR experience. The study also confirms that gamification can influence learning behavior and can enhance knowledge transfer in VR training applications, which was the main hypothesis.

The results show that gamification had an impact on VR training. The experimental group was found to complete its training almost 12.2% faster than the control group and to have made fewer errors by a difference of 30.2%. Additionally, there was a significant drop in the criticalness value of 26.5%, again confirming that gamification is beneficial in this context.

Upon further analysis of the participants with no prior VR experience, it was observed that the gamified group had a significantly lower number of errors committed (53.3%) and a lower criticalness score (48.1%). This suggests that gamification is an effective tool and can be beneficial in training people, including those who have no previous VR experience.

In this study, a cymbal boom stand was used as a test object to the effectiveness of gamification in VR training. However, some of the volunteers who participated in the study indicated that at certain points during the task, they used intuitive solutions. This may have introduced noise into the recorded data. This raises concerns about the suitability of the cymbal boom stand as a test subject, as it was originally chosen because it was expected to be

unfamiliar and unintuitive to the layperson. In future research, it may be beneficial to use more complex and random unusual objects as test objects, such as three-dimensional puzzles, to more accurately assess skills such as hand-eye coordination, multitasking, and memory recall.

A potential limitation of this study is the relatively short duration of memory retrieval tasks. Future research could examine the long-term memory abilities of participants in both experimental groups over a longer period of time. Additionally, the VR training program used in this study contained various gamification elements that may have contributed to its effectiveness. Further research could investigate the specific role of these motivational attributes in the effectiveness of the training application. It is important to note that the observed correlations between the training program and gamification may be specific to the particular combination of elements used in this study, rather than any single benefit.

In future research, it would be interesting to further investigate the effectiveness of different training approaches by implementing a larger and more diverse study design. One group could be trained using traditional two-dimensional paper manuals with written instructions, while other groups could use virtual and AR displays with dynamic instructions. In particular, the use of AR could provide a unique opportunity to explore the benefits of combining training and real-world tasks in a single environment. This study could provide valuable insights into the most effective methods to support learning processes. To fully understand the underlying mechanisms that contribute to these results and determine whether these findings can be generalized to other contexts and populations, more research is needed. Additionally, further investigations with larger sample sizes are necessary to validate these results and could have important implications for the development and implementation of training programs in a variety of areas.

4.5. Summary

In this study, a VR training application was developed to examine the impact of gamification on learner behavior. The results of a Chi² test indicated that gamification had a significant effect on the error and criticalness distribution of VR novices. Furthermore, the mean time spent in VR training, the number of errors committed, and the criticalness value were all better in the gamified group than in the non-gamified group, particularly among those with no prior VR experience. This investigation has made two main contributions to gamification research. First, a VR training application that could inspire further studies in this field, perhaps using similar approaches to implement gamification and user interactions, was developed. Second, by studying the introduction of gamification in a VR learning scenario, it was possible to obtain empirical evidence that gamification can influence the behavior of the learner in VR training applications. In general, these results suggest that gamification may be an effective tool to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of VR training, particularly for novices.

5. Virtual Reality Speech Trainer

As previously discussed in Section 2.1.3, the ability to communicate and present one's thoughts and ideas in a concise and organized manner is an essential soft skill for thriving in today's professional environment. It is also essential that a person has proficient public speaking skills in order to increase their confidence and their ability to persuade others. Consequently, public speaking has become increasingly relevant in a variety of contexts, including education, business [Van+20], and personal relationships [Pal+22].

Public speaking is considered a critical form of communication that allows individuals to share their ideas, thoughts, and opinions with a group of people. It is a process that requires the speaker to convey messages effectively while also engaging and captivating the audience. The success of public speaking is based on a combination of elements, including confidence, presence, voice projection, and body language. Together, these elements combine to create a powerful experience for the audience and ensure the success of the communication process [Pal+22].

The use of VR in public speaking training has the potential to provide a uniquely immersive experience that is difficult to replicate in real-world scenarios. By creating a virtual environment that simulates a real audience, speakers can practice their speaking skills in a realistic environment. The incorporation of body tracking, artificial intelligence, gamification, and speech recognition technology enables real-time feedback on the speaker's performance, allowing them to identify and address areas for improvement. The safe and controlled environment of VR can also help reduce anxiety and boost confidence when speaking in public [Pal+21; Pal+22]. In addition, VR can be used to simulate a variety of speech scenarios ¹.

The purpose of this chapter is to provide an overview of two published research papers (see Section 5.2 and 5.3) that have examined the acceptance and effectiveness of VR-ST and its evolution into a gamified version with direct feedback. The following sections contain excerpts and adaptations of the texts of these publications.

5.1. Background

According to the discussions presented in the previous chapters, individuals are expected to be able to apply new skills and attitudes acquired through training programs effectively in a variety of situations. In this context, it is important to consider a central concept of learning theory, the transfer of learning. This refers to the ability to apply previously acquired knowledge and skills to different situations [MG95; Pal+19a]. A key component of any successful

¹For example, presenting in a large auditorium or speaking at a significant business meeting gives speakers experience in a variety of public speaking situations.

training program is to ensure that learners are able to apply what they have learned to real world scenarios.

Within this frame, when applied to training programs, XR technology can provide several benefits. A summary of the benefits associated with extended reality training in corporate and educational settings can be found in Palmas et al. [Pal+22], as follows:

- Provide more realistic and true-to-life learning environments
- Tailor the learning experience to the individual
- Provide more engaging and immersive learning experiences
- Empower learners to practice in a safe and controlled environment
- Assess learners' progress and understanding in real-time

Accordingly, VR facilitates a sense of presence and embodiment in a virtual environment [Sla+06], which has great potential for improving communication skills and the transfer of those skills [Sch+18]. Moreover, VR offers a controlled environment in which people can be gradually exposed to feared stimuli. This exposure can lead to habituation to fear and a reduction in avoidance behaviors [Pal+19a].

Fear of public speaking has been classified as both a social phobia and an anxiety disorder [Ass+94] and behavioral exposure therapy has been shown to be an effective treatment for reducing anxiety symptoms associated with it. This therapy involves exposing individuals to increasingly challenging public speaking situations in a safe and controlled environment, while also practicing routine presentation behaviors and techniques to reduce the emotional response to public speaking. Through consistent repetition and practice, individuals can develop the skills and confidence necessary to make successful public presentations [Pal+21] (see Tab. 5.1). **Body Language:** During a speech, it is necessary to adopt an open posture, as well as firm footing, to attract the attention of the audience and to display self-confidence [Bir09; Mat12; PS04].

Eye Contact: Giving a speech requires constant eye contact with the audience, so that the audience feels addressed and follows the presentation attentively [Gru83; KT80].

Language: For a successful presentation, participants should exhibit pronounced speech volume and fluid speech flow, which can be achieved by correct body posture and steady breathing. This gives the speech a pleasant speech melody, making listening enjoyable. The speaking speed should be based on the guideline value of 100 to 150 words per minute in order to allow the audience to receive and process the relevant information. In addition, it is important to avoid so-called filler words, as they hinder effective communication, lead the audience to question the speaker's competence, and reduce the audience's attention [Gut08; CW98].

The use of VR for behavioral exposure has been identified as a potential tool to gradually and systematically expose individuals to challenging situations in a safe and controlled environment, so they can face their fears and build confidence and resilience to real-world challenges [Gri+06; Mor+15; Pal+21; Riz+13]. Furthermore, the use of VR technology in psychological applications has proven to be efficacious across a wide range of disorders and is a promising area of research [PS20]. For example, VR interventions have been consistently found to reduce self-reported physiological indicators of public speaking anxiety and have shown promise in reducing agoraphobia², acrophobia³, and aviophobia⁴ in clinical settings [Pal+19a].

Several therapeutic applications of VR have also been developed, with VR biofeedback and VR-based counselors and therapists currently among the most widespread applications of this technology. Some of these examples involve the use of interactive characters, including counselors, diagnostic tools, and the ability for clients to share virtual spaces with other people within a VR setting. Furthermore, in recent years, VR applications such as those mentioned above have been developed and studied, often with encouraging results [TST19]. Consequently, VR offers opportunities to practice new skills in a safe environment, which can lead to the generalization of skill development for real-world situations.

Psychologists have found that when applying VR to treat anxiety disorders, any representation that approximates the patient's anxiety or stress trigger is sufficient to activate it. Patients respond similarly to cartoon representations of what they fear when confronted with real-world situations in VR [SC18b]. However, when representing people in VR environments, it is worth considering the uncanny valley effect [Pal+19a]. Further considerations must also

Table 5.1.: Summary of the criteria of successful public speaking. Adapted from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

²Fear of embarrassing situations that cannot be escaped.

³Heights-related fear.

⁴Fear of flying.

be taken into account in this context. People who are used to computer games will probably have high expectations for the graphical quality of the visual representations in therapeutic virtual worlds. A lack of quality representations could undermine the validity and credibility of the application [SC18b].

Overall, VR seems to provide an effective platform for conscious practice because of its ability to create consistent learning environments in which individuals can engage repetitively in problem solving, experimentation, and exploration of new approaches and solutions. The use of interactive learning methods is often accompanied by game design elements, which in many cases positively support learning mechanisms and learning outcomes. Additionally, feedback is a crucial component of both gamification and educational interventions [Pal+21].

As a way of clarifying the relationship between gamification and learning, Landers et al. [Lan14] proposed the theory of gamified learning. While this theory suggests that gamification can indirectly improve learning outcomes (see Tab. 5.2), it does not specify which elements of game design are effective in supporting and triggering learning mechanisms [SH19].

Learning Outcomes				
Cognitive Learning	Motivational Learning	Behavioral Learning		
Conceptual	Intrinsic Motivation	Technical Skills		
Knowledge				
Knowledge of Facts	Dispositions	Motor Skills		
Principles	Preferences	Competences		
Application-Oriented Knowledge	Attitudes	Performance on		
		a Specific Task		
Strategic Knowledge	Engagement			
Situational	Feelings of]		
Knowledge	Confidence			

Table 5.2.: A brief overview of learning outcomes. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

In addition, debriefing sessions can also be effective to create learning effects. For example, serious games have also proven to be effective in facilitating learning through debriefing sessions in which players receive feedback and have the opportunity to reflect on and learn from their mistakes during the game [Pal+19a].

Acceptance of technology is a critical factor in the adoption and success of VR training programs, which can be influenced by a variety of factors. Studies have found that people with phobias tend to prefer VR exposure therapy to real-world exposure to counter anxiety-provoking stimuli. However, people without previous VR experience tend to prefer traditional therapy methods over VR interventions. This suggests that preference for VR-based interventions may be influenced by previous experience with the technology [Pal+21].

In summary, VR public speaking training can effectively simulate the experience of speaking in front of a real audience and has the potential to facilitate the acquisition of public speaking skills and behaviors. Participants in VR public speaking simulations have shown similar responses to real-world situations, suggesting that VR could be a useful tool for public speaking and other soft skills training. Additionally, research has shown that the way the virtual audience reacts in VR can impact how the participant perceives the public speaking intervention [PSB01; Sla+06]. Moreover, the acceptance of such applications is considered a basic requirement for their use in the real world [Pal+22], and the effectiveness of this training depends both on user acceptance and organizational support [Pal+19a].

5.2. VR-ST Version 1

The following sections are partially taken and adapted from the publication "Acceptance and Effectiveness of a Virtual Reality Public Speaking Training" presented by Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]. The objective of the study was to develop and evaluate the acceptance and effectiveness of VR-ST among participants. Additionally, it was investigated whether it is feasible to provide a report on the participants' performance immediately after the VR-ST session. The final aim was to assess the impact of the VR-ST on the subsequent public speaking performance of the participants.

5.2.1. Implementation

Application: To develop the VR-ST the Unity3D game engine was used. In addition, a VR environment that replicates a typical business meeting room was created. This closely resembled the physical seminar room in which participants gave their live presentations during the third phase of the study. The VR environment contained three avatars representing different characters within the virtual audience, and the attention of these characters was determined by a real-time audience attention system. Character and environment models were designed to look realistic (see Fig. 5.1).

5. Virtual Reality Speech Trainer



Figure 5.1.: A female avatar (left) and a male avatar (right) from the participant's perspective in VR-ST. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

Tracking: To display the VR-ST and interact in its environment, an HTC Vive HMD, VIVE controllers, and two external foot trackers were used. This equipment was able to reassemble the participants' gestures into human-like avatar models ⁵ during the VR presentation by using inverse kinematics. Compared to a full motion capture system, this hardware and tracking approach with 6-Degrees-of-Freedom (DoF) allowed position metrics to be measured during the virtual presentation while reducing latency and task load [Pal+19a].

Speech: Through the Unity engine, it was possible to access the head-mounted display 's built-in microphone to obtain spectral data of the captured voice and calculate decibel levels. To facilitate the transcription of spoken presentations in English, the IBM Watson API was used. This API includes markers for instances of hesitation or pause, which can be filtered using regular expressions to accurately identify non-lexical filler words, as listed in Table 5.3. Using the generated transcript, the number of words and the time elapsed between the first and last words were calculated to estimate the user's current words per minute (WPM) rate. To determine the average WPM for the entire speech, the total number of words was divided by the total length of the speech. The IBM Watson API provides a confidence score for each identified word, reflecting the reliability of its prediction based on pronunciation clarity.

⁵The avatar models resembles a human male or female.

like	hum (hesitations)	thing	things	see
you know	right	as I said	for instance	stuff
well	SO	for example	you know what I mean	stuffs

Table 5.3.: System-checked filler words during presentations. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

Body Language Based on the head position in relation to the floor in the room, a heat map of the user's body position was generated. The heat map was calculated by comparing the time spent at a given location to the maximum amount of time spent at any location within the 3D environment. To measure eye contact with the audience in a 3D environment, raycasts were emitted from the eye-level of the head-mounted display and intersect with objects faced by the participants. This allowed us to track the time each participant faces each object in the 3D environment. The resulting data can be used to modulate the responsive virtual audience's attention system and generate a realistic response to the participant's performance. To determine the rotation of the headset in relation to the center of the audience within a meeting room, direction and target vectors were utilized to calculate the angle between them. This angle was then compared to configurable threshold rotations within the Unity engine. In addition, a similar approach was used to collect data on participants' gaze direction ⁶.

Audience Attention The effectiveness of a presentation is often determined by the level of attention it elicits from the audience. This audience's attention value can be quantified using various metrics, such as the speaker's rate of speech ⁷, use of filler words and hesitations, body language ⁸, vocal volume ⁹, and eye contact with audience members ¹⁰. By analyzing these factors, it was possible to gain insight into the overall quality of the presentation and how well it engaged the audience.

5.2.2. Phases of the Study

This study consisted of three distinct phases (see Fig. 5.2):

- Phase 1: Introduction
- Phase 2: VR training
- Phase 3: Live presentation session

The study was conducted in English to accommodate the international diversity of the group of participants, and all participants were treated equally and tested individually. Each

⁶I.e. up, down, and forward.

⁷Too slow or too fast in terms of WPM.

⁸Hands position, body rotation, viewing direction of gaze.

⁹Too loud or too quiet.

¹⁰Balanced eye contact between the whole audience and the individual characters.

participant completed three questionnaires at different times during the study: the first after the introduction, the second after the VR training, and the third after the live presentations. These questionnaires enabled an assessment of participants' acceptance of VR as a training method and their self-reported improvements over the course of the study.



Figure 5.2.: An overview of the study's phases in chronological order. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

In this study, Likert scale questions and open-ended questionnaires were used to collect data from participants. The Likert scale questions were presented on a five-point scale and required the respondents to indicate the extent to which they agreed or disagreed with a statement ¹¹. Open-ended questions were used to gather more detailed and specific answers and feedback from the participants.

The phases can be summarized as follows:

- **Phase 1:** In this initial phase, participants received an explanation of the VR-ST and its hardware components. Each participant then prepared a presentation to be given for the VR-ST in English, using the same materials as in the final live session.
- Phase 2: The intended use of VR-ST was explained for each participant prior to the start of the VR training. After choosing an avatar in the VR environment, participants were asked to rate the difficulty of each slide in their presentation, with low, medium, and high levels corresponding to the time the participant wished to allocate to each slide. This process aimed to improve time management skills and ensure balanced attention from individual audience members during the VR-ST session. To begin the

¹¹For instance, the participants were asked to rate their own presentation skills on a scale from very bad (1) to very good (5). Additionally, the participants were asked if using VR-ST had the potential to improve their presentation skills.

VR-ST session, participants clicked the "Go to Office" button and were transported to a virtual office setting with three individuals seated around a table, where a laptop was positioned in front of the participant. To start the training, the participant clicked the "Start" button on the virtual computer screen, and the timer started. During the VR-ST session, participants could view their presentation on the laptop or on a screen behind them. The training was completed by clicking the "Stop" button, and the total duration of the VR-ST session (excluding the setup phase) was approximately five minutes per participant. Following the VR-ST session, all participants received a detailed analysis, including personalized feedback, in the form of a PDF ¹² report via email.

• **Phase 3:** During this phase, participants gave a presentation in a real-world environment using the same materials used in Phase 2 in front of a real audience. It is important to note that the physical environment and context of the presentation were very similar to the VR environment used in Phase 2. This allowed for a direct comparison between the two scenarios and enabled the assessment of the effectiveness of the VR training on the participants' performance in a real-world setting.

5.2.3. Metrics

The VR-ST fully and automatically evaluated a series of measures listed in Table 5.4 and presented to the participants in their report at the end of Phase 2.

Metric	Variables	Optimal Level
Timing	Self-estimation of the presentation's time and actual presentation time	Elapsed time = estimated time = max. time
Transcript	Speech transcription (accuracy)	Accurate transcript, no filler words
Eye Contact	Viewed objects in virtual environment	Audience exclusively
Voice	Speaking volume	Balanced
Positioning	Subject position in virtual environment	Subject moves around in the virtual environment
Filler Words	Hesitations and fillers	No filler words
Body Language	Body facing direction, hand position	Facing audience, hand position in TV-window

Table 5.4.: These metrics were used to generate reports for each participant and for the adaptive attention system for the audience. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

These metrics were also used by the adaptive attention system to monitor audience engagement and reactions in real time. During a VR-ST session, participants were encouraged to analyze their performance and adjust their public speaking techniques based on audience

¹²Portable document format.
engagement. This may include restoring eye contact, adjusting the pace of their speech, changing their posture or gestures, and changing their position in space. Signs of audience disengagement (see Fig. 5.3) can include averting eye contact, displaying an insincere smile, adopting defensive body language such as crossing their arms and tightening their fists, fidgeting with objects or their phones, checking the clock, and exhibiting fidgety behavior and nervous movements with their hands.



Figure 5.3.: An example of a virtual audience that is engaged (left) and bored (right). Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

It was hypothesized that one of the key benefits of VR training is the ability to provide feedback in a personalized and innovative way [Sch+18]. With VR-ST, this feedback is provided and generated as a result of data collected during the VR-ST session. In the report for the participants, the following metrics were discussed in detail, and an explanation of how to interpret them was given:

- **Timing:** The timing metric has three components: elapsed time ¹³, estimated time ¹⁴, and maximum time ¹⁵. These three components of the timing metric provide information to participants about different aspects of the duration of the VR presentation.
- **Transcript:** Based on what was identified by voice recognition, the transcription is shown. Filler words are displayed in red.
- Eye contact: Objects viewed by participants during a presentation are tracked. The collected data are then displayed in a pie chart that is divided into categories such as audience, laptop, screen, floor, and others. The chart shows the proportion of objects in each category that were viewed during the presentation. In addition to the pie chart, a heatmap was also used to visually represent where the participants directed their gaze during the presentations. In the heatmap, more frequent gazes on different objects are represented by green and red shades, while less frequent gazes are represented by blue shades (see Fig. 5.4). This information is presented in two formats, the pie chart and the heat map, which provide insight into which objects and areas caught the attention of

¹³The actual duration, also known as the elapsed time, is the duration of the virtual reality presentation from start to finish.

¹⁴The estimated time is a prediction of how long the presentation will take based on the complexity of the content.

¹⁵The maximum time is the specified maximum duration and selected time limit for the presentation.

5. Virtual Reality Speech Trainer

the participants during the presentations. This information enables an understanding of the objects and areas of the virtual environment that were most interesting to the participants.



Figure 5.4.: The heatmap shown above is an example of what a participant viewed. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

• Voice: Speech quality was rated on three dimensions: volume, confidence, and WPM. The volume has been presented as a chart showing fluctuations and the average volume. A mean value around zero indicates adequate volume, which is loud and clear, while values below and above zero indicate insufficient and excessive volume. Speaker confidence was assessed based on confidence score and pronunciation accuracy. A graph has also been provided to represent the WPM, with a mean of 100–150 WPM considered a desirable speaking rate (see Fig. 5.5).



Figure 5.5.: An example of a graph showing words per minute in a report. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

• **Positioning:** The standing positions of the participants during their presentation are displayed on a heat map (see Fig. 5.6).

5. Virtual Reality Speech Trainer



Figure 5.6.: An analysis of the participant's physical movement based on a heatmap. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

• **Filler words:** The transcript includes a list of filler words ¹⁶ used during the presentation, along with their frequency.

¹⁶The filler words are written in red throughout the transcript.

5. Virtual Reality Speech Trainer



Figure 5.7.: A report example with filler words. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

• **Body language:** Several metrics were used to assess participants' nonverbal behavior, such as eye gaze, hand position, and body orientation. Pie charts were used to present these metrics. They indicate how often the speaker looked forwards, upwards, or downwards, held their hands at different heights, and oriented their body toward or away ¹⁷ from the audience. The pie charts provide a clear and concise visual representation of the participants' body language (see Fig. 5.8).

¹⁷Sideways or backwards to the audience.





Figure 5.8.: An example of an analysis of body language of a report, which provides some indication of performance. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

• **Response analysis:** The data presented in the Figure 5.9 reflects the attention shown by the virtual audience during a presentation. Several factors, including eye contact, voice, gestures and body language contribute to audience engagement ¹⁸.



Figure 5.9.: An example of the fluctuating attention of the virtual audience during the presentation. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

¹⁸By examining these variables, it is possible to gain insight into the ways in which non-verbal behaviors impact audience attention during a presentation.

5.2.4. Sample and Results

Forty-four MBA students ¹⁹ participated in this study, with a gender distribution of 15 females and 29 males. The participants were between 24 and 50 years old, with a mean age of 34.8 years.

All participants were employed at the time of the study and had an average experience of 3.4 years in their respective companies. Data collection for this study was based on participant responses at the end of each phase of the study. The average number of years of work experience among the participants was 10.7. Of the 44 participants, 25 had previously attended presentation training or course, while the remaining 19 had no prior knowledge of presenting.

Eight of the 15 female participants had previously completed presentation training; the remaining 7 had not. Of the 8 people who had previously been trained, 5 rarely used VR, while the rest had never used VR before. In addition, half of the participants had never used VR, and the other half only rarely used it.

All but one participant wanted to improve at least one of the following presentation skills:

- Body language
- Audience engagement
- Time management
- Voice
- Confidence

As shown in Table 5.5, the standard deviation was high for both WPM and filler words, with an average rate of 138.18 words per minute and an average frequency of 33.16 filler words. A Pearson correlation coefficient (R) of 0.1089 indicates a weak relationship between WPM and filler words, suggesting that an increase in WPM does not necessarily lead to an increase in filler words.

	WPM	Filler Words
Sum	-	1459
Mean	138.1818	33.159
Variance	469.8731	785.95
Standard Deviation	21.6765	28.0348

Table 5.5.: Filler words. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

The study results showed that female participants who had received prior presentation training or participated in a course maintained eye contact with the audience 57.9% of the

¹⁹The participants were students enrolled in a Master of Business Administration program for executives.

time, while participants without prior training maintained eye contact only 35.71% of the time (see Tab. 5.6). Additionally, both female and male participants who rarely used VR had a higher percentage of eye contact with the audience than those who had never used VR before.

These results suggest that prior presentation training and VR use may be associated with increased eye contact with the audience.

Eye contact with the Audience					
Use of VR Never(%) Rarely(%)					
Male	37.85	54.78			
Female	51.77	57.87			

Table 5.6.: Eye contact. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

The results of the study showed that although participants were able to move freely in the physical environment, they generally remained stationary at the intended starting position. Table 5.7 shows that the participants showed high compliance with the correct attitude during their speeches, achieving an average of 80.22% in terms of audience attention.

These results indicate that participants were able to effectively engage their audience while maintaining the appropriate attitude.

	Mean(%)
Hands position (middle)	81.90
Body Direction (forward)	80.00
Looking Direction (forward)	95.90
Confidence	76.79
Audience Attention	80.22

Table 5.7.: Body language. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

The self-evaluations of the participants showed that the use of VR-ST was effective in helping the majority overcome their fear of public speaking, with 46% mostly agreeing and 18% totally agreeing with it. Furthermore, 80% of the participants believed that multiple VR-ST sessions would likely improve their presentation skills, with 41% stating "very much" and 39% saying "much". The majority of participants (92%) reported having fun and enjoying VR-ST, with 72% rating it 5 out of 5 and 21% 4 out of 5.

These results suggest that VR-ST could be an effective tool to overcome fear of public speaking and improve presentation skills, and the participants appreciated it greatly.

According to the results of the third questionnaire, 81% of the participants found feedback on their reports helpful in improving their presentation skills, with 34% rating it very helpful and 47% rating it helpful. With a median and mode rating of 5, the participants also found the use of VR technology and VR-supported training to be very useful. Of the 44 participants,

42 said they had improved at least one presentation skill in one area, such as voice, body language, audience engagement, confidence, and time management.

These results show that feedback and VR-ST helped participants improve their presentation skills.

5.2.5. Discussion and Future Works

In this study, self-reported data on the effectiveness of the VR-ST were collected. The results showed that VR-ST was generally well received and was found to be effective by most participants. However, some participants mentioned difficulties getting used to the technology and the short duration of the training.

These results form a basis for future research on the objective effectiveness of VR-ST. However, it is important to recognize the limitations of relying on self-reported data, as subjective experiences and perceptions may not always accurately reflect objective results. Additionally, the limited exposure to VR-ST may have affected participants' ability to fully adapt to the technology. More research using objective measures and longer training times is needed to fully assess the effectiveness of VR-ST. However, the positive acceptance rate observed in this study suggests that VR-ST has potential as a useful communication skills training for public speaking.

At the end of the third phase, 95% of the participants reported an improvement in their presentation skills. This suggests that VR-ST helped participants develop their presentation skills. Additionally, it was observed that female participants who had previous experience with real-world presentations spent more time making eye contact with their virtual audience. This result supports the idea that learning transfer can take place between the virtual and real worlds.

It is important to note that the sample size of 44 participants was relatively small and future research with a larger sample size would be needed to confirm these results. Furthermore, the fact that 5% of the participants did not feel their skills improved suggests that further investigation is needed on potential factors that may impact the effectiveness of VR-ST.

In order to thoroughly assess the effectiveness of a single session of VR-ST on public speaking skills, it is necessary to conduct multiple sessions. This is supported by participant feedback that indicated a desire for additional training sessions to improve. Furthermore, the report was accepted by participants and appears to support the learning effects of VR-ST when used in conjunction with it. Although the present study provides early evidence of the potential effectiveness of VR-ST, more research is needed to fully understand to what extent this training can improve real-life public speaking skills. This limitation should be considered when interpreting the results of the current study and planning future research in this area.

The results suggest that VR-ST may be particularly effective in helping participants overcome a fear of public speaking. Most of the participants (80%) indicated that they believe that VR-ST has the potential to be a valuable training method for companies. These results are consistent with previous research suggesting that VR can provide a safe and immersive environment for skill development. However, it should be noted that some participants expressed concerns about the feasibility of implementing VR-ST in their own organizations, citing issues such as skepticism or conservative decision-making in corporate environments ²⁰. These observations highlight the potential challenges that may arise when adopting VR-ST as a training method and suggest that further research may be needed to understand the factors affecting its acceptance by organizations. Despite these limitations, the results of this study suggest that VR-ST has the potential to be an engaging and effective tool that can be fun and help improve public speaking skills, especially when designed to match the skill level of individual participants.

There are several potential directions for future research on VR-ST. One possibility is to expand the control group to enable it to more accurately assess the transfer of acquired skills. This could include adding a second VR-ST session to allow more time to become accustomed to the technology and reduce the fear of making mistakes when using it. Another option is to conduct a long-term intervention study, which could use objective metrics to compare the results of the participants over several weeks. This would provide valuable information on the sustained impact of VR-ST on skill development. Additionally, it may be worth exploring the potential of a gamified version of VR-ST to improve training efficiency and engagement. However, this implementation must be thoroughly tested for efficiency and acceptance by the participants. In general, there are numerous opportunities for future research on VR-ST, and these findings have the potential to greatly advance the understanding of VR as a tool for skill development.

5.2.6. Summary

The acceptance of VR-ST is critical for its effectiveness as a tool for skill development, particularly in the area of public speaking. In this study, a group of executive MBA students demonstrated acceptance of VR-ST and reported positive learning outcomes. These results suggest that VR-ST has the potential to support learning and improve communication skills if accepted by users. However, it is important to note that acceptance is necessary not only on an individual level but also on an organizational level. For companies to take full advantage of VR-ST and enable their employees to improve their performance, they must be willing to embrace this technology and integrate it into their training programs. In general, the results of this study demonstrate the effectiveness of VR-ST as a training tool to develop communication skills, but they also underscore the importance of acceptance for successful implementation.

5.3. VR-ST Version 2

Parts of the following sections have been extracted and adapted from the study "Virtual Reality Public Speaking Training: Experimental Evaluation of Direct Feedback Technology

²⁰Some participants stated that it could not be implemented in their own organization "because of conservative decision makers and skepticism" or the company being "too small, too conservative". Against this background, it becomes clear that the biggest challenge in establishing this type of virtual reality training is the general acceptance by companies and not the individual.

Acceptance" by Palmas et al. [Pal+21]. Data were collected by Reinelt [Rei19] for her master's thesis. The purpose of this study was to compare the effect of a version of VR-ST with direct feedback versus a simulation-based version on technology acceptance based on the TAM.

In the following sections, this research, the further developed VR-ST, and two important concepts related to this research (direct feedback and TAM) are examined in depth.

5.3.1. Direct Feedback

The importance of feedback from superiors and colleagues in business has long been established. Feedback not only provides employees with the opportunity to develop their skills and increase their potential but has also been linked to greater employee engagement. In fact, Gallup research has shown that employees who say they regularly receive meaningful feedback are four times more likely to be engaged than those who do not receive such feedback [MB20].

Feedback is an essential aspect of learning [HT07; Van+20] and all training programs and assessments of non-verbal skills [Pal+21; Tan+16], serving as a means of influencing a user's understanding by providing information following an input. This information allows the user to compare the results of their actions with a desired outcome, ultimately shaping their perception [Ber19; Mor04; Pal+21; Tuc93]. In general, it is important to provide both targeted practice and targeted feedback to facilitate learning. This can be achieved by implementing goal-oriented practice paired with targeted feedback. This principle underscores the importance of productive practice and effective feedback in the learning process [Amb+10].

According to Ambrose et al. [Amb+10], it is possible to conceptualize practice and feedback as a cycle. Learners can refine and improve their knowledge and skills when practice and feedback are balanced, allowing them to practice consistently and receive targeted feedback (see Fig. 5.10).





Figure 5.10.: A continuous cycle of practice and feedback. Retrieved from Ambrose et al. [Amb+10]

Essentially, the main purpose of practice is to produce an observable result that can be used to provide targeted feedback, and the feedback can then be used to guide further practice. For each aspect of this cycle to be successful, it must be integrated into a larger context of learning objectives.

In this sense, effective learning requires the establishment of a dynamic exchange of information between the learner and the educational system. To optimize this process, it is necessary to incorporate multiple regular inputs to provide feedback and enhance the learning experience [Ghe09]. Therefore, the effectiveness of feedback depends on its ability to facilitate learners' acquisition of targeted understanding and on the existence of a learning environment to which it is relevant. In other words, feedback must be contextualized within a learning environment to have a meaningful impact. This can be achieved when feedback leads to increased diligence, improves the ability to spot errors, or prompts the use of more effective methods [HT07]. Moreover, a crucial part of the learning process is providing feedback that encourages reflection [Van+20].

As part of gamification, continuous performance feedback can be received throughout the experience, stimulating validated behavior change components such as self-monitoring of the behavior outcome and self-monitoring of the behavior itself [Cug13]. Feedback mechanisms are designed to elicit real-time responses to specific actions or behaviors as a function of current status or progress. In the context of gamification, various strategies can be employed to provide feedback, as game elements typically provide feedback and can also be conceptualized as design principles that drive the interaction between mechanics and players [Ber19].

Providing feedback throughout the experience can be seen as an important element through which gamification can produce learning effects and retain its users. An individual's performance may also be positively affected by feedback, which may be provided visually or auditorily [Bur12]. A specific example of this is the use of real-time visual icons as a form of behavioral feedback that has been shown to improve performance [Pal+21; Dam+15]. Furthermore, as a method to address the lack of directional feedback in soft skills training, the use of virtual audiences has proven effective in improving performance [Pal+21]. According to Chollet et al. [Cho+15], the inclusion of virtual interactive audiences in training can lead to a marked increase in perceived attention and a general improvement, especially in the area of public speaking. These results suggest that the virtual audience can be a useful tool to improve the effectiveness of traditional feedback methods [Tan+16].

The optimal time to give feedback to learners has often been discussed. Some studies suggest that immediate feedback is most effective, while other studies suggest that delayed feedback may be more beneficial because it requires more cognitive processing [Van+20].

To facilitate engagement, clear goals and feedback are essential in a gamified system or environment [Nah+19], and combining real-time feedback with post-session feedback, especially when powered by digital feedback technology, has been shown to drive positive behavioral change through the promotion of self-awareness and self-regulation of unwanted behavior [XCD16].

In games and gamified applications, conformational feedback is commonly used to support the learning process. This type of feedback indicates whether a response, activity, or action is correct, incorrect, or somewhere in between. In addition to providing learners with immediate feedback on whether their actions are correct, this feedback mechanism does not provide additional guidance on how to correct any mistakes they may have made [Ber19; Kap13; Kap14; Pal+21; WH12; ZC11]. In short, a potential benefit of using cognitive feedback in a gamified system is the ability of the user to learn the rules of the game through direct experience rather than learning them explicitly. In addition, the system's immediate feedback can serve as an intervention to disrupt established behavior patterns and facilitate behavior change[Ber19].

In summary, to maximize the effectiveness of feedback, it must be aligned with the targeted competencies, delivered in a timely and consistent manner, and linked to opportunities for further practice. This ensures that learners can use the feedback provided to facilitate learning and development [HT07].

5.3.2. Technology Acceptance Model

The TAM has attracted significant attention in the information systems community as a means of understanding and predicting user acceptance of technology. Various models have been proposed for this purpose in the past two decades, but TAM has emerged as the most widespread and well-established [Chu09]. The development of TAM can be traced back to research by Davis [Dav85]. According to the idea espoused in his doctoral thesis, which was based on the theory of reasoned action and further research by Fishbein and Ajzen [FA77], it is possible to comprehend and anticipate how a system will be used by examining the user's motivations. The user's reasons for using the system can be shaped by various external factors, including the characteristics and capabilities of the system itself [Chu09; Dav85] (see Fig. 5.11).



Figure 5.11.: Technology acceptance: the conceptual model. Retrieved from Chuttur [Chu09]

According to Davis [Dav85], a user's acceptance or rejection of a system is influenced by their motivation, which in turn is determined by three factors:

- Their attitude towards using the system
- Their perceived ease of use of the system
- Their perceived usefulness of the system

Davis et al. [DBW89] proposed an extension of the TAM that includes behavioral intention as a separate variable directly influenced by the perceived usefulness of a system. Therefore, behavioral intention is included in this model because it is possible for a person to have a strong intention to use a system that they find useful, even if they don't have a positive attitude toward it. The findings of their research showed that the perceived usefulness and ease of use of a technology had a direct impact on the person's behavioral intention to use it. As a result, the construct of attitude in the TAM was no longer necessary [VD96]. The final version of the TAM included only the behavioral intention construct and excluded the attitude construct (see Fig. 5.12).



Figure 5.12.: The technology acceptance model. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

In order to determine whether a technology will be accepted, it is important to consider the mechanisms that shape the user experience. It is important to realize that the effectiveness of a learning application is greatly influenced by how engaged the learner is. Hence, the properties that make video games attractive have been studied extensively, leading to the conclusion that integrating gamification into learning applications seems to be an effective approach to engage people [Pal+21].

5.3.3. Methods and Study Design

In this study, the VR-ST was redesigned with and without gamified direct feedback elements to investigate the impact of direct feedback on VR-ST. The direct feedback version includes a visual interface that provides gamified feedback. In contrast, the version without direct feedback relies on participants' analysis of the body language of the characters in the audience to determine the appropriateness of their performance ²¹. Throughout this investigation, the TAM, which has been validated in previous studies, was used.

As part of this research to gain insight into the acceptance of direct feedback, two other constructs in addition to TAM were considered. Within the context of VR training, it is necessary to evaluate the potential benefits of gamification in terms of increasing intrinsic motivation and the risks of sensory overload. As stated by Davis [Dav85] and Thompson et al. [THH91], numerous scientific scales are available to measure intrinsic motivation and complexity [Pal+21].

By incorporating gamification elements into feedback mechanisms, strong intrinsic motivation from users was expected, leading to a positive perception of the product's usefulness and ease of use, as well as the intention to continue using it in the future. However, it is also possible that the added complexity introduced by direct feedback could diminish from the perception of ease of use. Therefore, it should be investigated whether the hypothetical

²¹It was named "simulation-based feedback".

benefits of direct feedback, including higher intrinsic motivation and complexity, as well as positive ratings of direct feedback, can be confirmed by positive evaluations of all constructs in the technology acceptance model.

Accordingly, Hypothesis 1 is defined as follows:

• H1 Direct feedback shows higher technology acceptance than simulation-based feedback.

As part of this study, the impact of public speaking anxiety and previous VR experience were assessed as potential factors influencing the acceptance of VR-ST. It was hypothesized that people who are afraid of public speaking may be more inclined to use VR-ST, potentially leading to a higher level of acceptance. Additionally, prior exposure to VR could result in a more regular use of VR-ST, leading to higher perceptions of its ease of use. Furthermore, a higher perception of ease of use has the potential to increase the perception of the usefulness of VR-ST technology and behavioral intention.

Therefore, Hypotheses 2 and 3 are as follows:

- **H2** *Participants with public speaking anxiety show higher acceptance of technology than participants without public speaking anxiety.*
- **H3** *Participants with prior VR experience show higher technology acceptance than participants without prior VR experience.*

5.3.4. Setup and Implementation

For this study, a setup inspired by previous research ²² consisting of an HTC VIVE Pro Head-Mounted Display, two VIVE hand controllers, and two external HTC foot trackers was used. Two variants of the VR-ST (see Fig. 5.13) were built using the Unity 3D game engine. This configuration allowed 6-DoF and used inverse kinematics ²³. Compared to a full motion-capture system, this tracking method appeared to reduce latency and task load [Pal+19a]. Therefore, given the objectives of the study, this design was appropriate.

The VR environment was modeled after a business meeting room and featured three virtual characters as members of the audience. The graphical style of the VR-ST has been designed and enhanced to be as realistic and lifelike as possible.

²²"Acceptance and Effectiveness of a Virtual Reality Public Speaking Training" by Palmas et al. [Pal+19a]

²³The inverse kinematics algorithm estimates the position of the limbs using a five-point system (head, hands and feet). Using this information, the algorithm can calculate the posture of the spine and rotational movement of the waist within a user's avatar.



Figure 5.13.: A comparison of the simulation-based feedback and direct feedback versions. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

Participants can choose to embody either a male or female avatar in the virtual environment during the presentation. This allows them to personalize their virtual representation for the duration of the presentation (see Fig. 5.14).



Figure 5.14.: Female (left) and male (right) avatars in VR as seen by the participants. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

The effectiveness of a presentation, and thus the degree of audience reaction to it, can be assessed in real time by evaluating the audience's body language The nonverbal cues of the virtual audience typically reflect behavior in similar real-world situations (see Fig. 5.15), such as maintaining and seeking eye contact and adopting attentive postures in the case of a positively received presentation. In contrast, a negative reception is shown by lack of eye contact and visible signs of boredom, such as lying and resting their heads on their hands.



Figure 5.15.: Example of an animation of a bored character in the audience. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

The implementation of a direct feedback system allowed participants to assess their own presentation skills and performance in conjunction with audience feedback ²⁴ (see Fig. 5.16). A visual indicator in the form of a diamond-shaped symbol was displayed above the head of each member of the audience to identify the degree of attention that each individual pays at any given moment during the presentation. The color of the diamond would change, fading from green (indicating high levels of attention) to orange (moderate attention) to red (low attention) based on the level of engagement (see Tab. 5.8).

Degree of Attention	Color
Great to Good	Green
Neutral	Orange
Not enough to bad	Red

Table 5.8.: Degree of attention: color coding. Own representation.



Figure 5.16.: Gamified direct feedback in a VR speech situation. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

The feedback interface (see Fig. 5.17) was designed to give participants continuous direct $\overline{^{24}$ Non-verbal cues.

feedback. The purpose of this interface was to convey information in a clear and concise manner, including a combination of easy-to-understand symbols and words, as well as flashing red icons to alert the speaker to real-time mistakes made while presenting.



Figure 5.17.: A comparison of direct feedback interfaces, one showing the direct feedback interface (not active) and the other showing the direct feedback interface (active) using additional filler words and speaking at an accelerated pace (shown below). Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

These red icons allow the presenters to react instantly and adjust their behavior to improve their performance (see Fig. 5.16). When necessary behavioral adjustments are made successfully, participants receive positive feedback in the form of flashing green icons.

As shown in Fig. 5.17, the use of animal symbols, such as a rabbit and a turtle, serves to demonstrate the speed or sluggishness of verbal communication. The loudspeaker icon gives feedback on the volume of the voice, whether the voice is too loud or too soft, and suggests adjusting the volume accordingly. The depiction of a body and a hand symbolizes inappropriate postural habits, including excessive or rigid movements. The upper eye icon indicates lack of eye contact, while the lower eye icon indicates an incorrect line of sight. The inclusion of a question mark suggests the use of colloquial expressions as fillers in pauses in speech ²⁵, while the representation of a speech bubble indicates the use of filler words.

In order not to disturb the flow of speech during the presentation, the symbols for speaking rate, hesitation, and filler words were displayed only when the speaker paused after a sentence. This choice was made because the constant display of the icons could have been distracting to the participants.

²⁵E.g., "hem", "hum", or "hm".

5. Virtual Reality Speech Trainer

At the end of a virtual speech, a summary of the feedback was provided to present the information clearly and concisely. The goal was not to overwhelm the participants with too much information during their presentation. To facilitate this, a five-star point system was used for both versions of VR-ST.

Preser	ntation Results
Body Language	
Eye Contact	***
Time Management	
Audience Attention	
Voice	
Total	
	Back
CEAN THE TAIL AND	

Figure 5.18.: At the end of the speech, a summary of the awarded stars that reflect the quality of the performance was given. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

The point system allows for an easy assessment of the speaker's performance and helps ensure that it is easy for the presenter to understand by providing feedback on the following areas of the speaker's performance in relation to the following metrics (see Fig. 5.18):

- Body language
- Eye contact
- Time management
- Audience attention
- Voice
- Overall score

The point system and audience feedback were based on automatically collected and measured VR-ST metrics (see Tab. 5.9). Eye contact, for example, was calculated as the ratio of time spent looking at the audience to the total time spent speaking. Values below 25%

Metric	Perfect Balancing	Tracked
Audience Attention	100	Percentage
		(Eye Contact,
		Filler Words, Hands)
Words per Minute	100, 150	Words
Eye Contact	Audience	Audience, Laptop,
		Screen, Floor, Other
Position	Move Around in	Body Position in
	the Room	the VR Room
Hand Position	Mid (TV Window)	Hands Mid, Low, High
Filler Words	None	Like, Uhm,
		Well, Stuff, Yeah, So
Confidence	100	Quality of the
		Pronunciation of the Spoken Words
Body Orientation	Body Facing	Body Facing Forward, Side, Back
	the Audience	
Look	Looking at Eye Level of the Audience	Looking Forward, Up, Down
Time	Elapsed Time =	Self-Estimation of
	Estimated Time =	the Presentation's
	max. Time	Time and the Actual Presentation
		Time
Speech Recognition	Accurate Transcript	Red Words are Bad Filler Words
	with No Filler Words	

were rated with 0 stars; values above 85% were rated with 5 stars. Intermediate values were evaluated using linear interpolation to calculate the score.

Table 5.9.: Metrics used to generate feedback for each participant and determine the audience's adaptive attention. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

5.3.5. Sample

The study involved a sample of 200 undergraduate students who were evenly divided into two groups of 100 participants each ²⁶. As part of the study, one group used VR-ST with direct feedback, and the other used VR-ST with simulation-based feedback. The goal of this design was to allow a fair comparison of the two VR-ST versions. The main characteristics of the participants in the two groups are summarized in Table 5.9.

 $^{^{26}\}mbox{An}$ equal distribution of participants with n = 100 per condition was ensured.

		Direct Feedback	Simulation
Sox	Female	36%	30.5%
Jex	Male	14%	19.5%
	19-29	47%	47%
Age	30-40	2.5%	2%
	> 40	0.5%	1%
	Never	25%	25%
Consolo	Rarely	15.5%	11.5%
Console	Frequently	4.5%	8%
	Male19-2930-40> 40NeverRarelyFrequentlyRegularlyExperiencedInexperiencedExperiencedInexperiencedYes	5%	5.5%
VP	Experienced	20%	13.5%
VK	Inexperienced	30%	36.5%
Training	Experienced	22%	19.5%
	Inexperienced		30.5%
Public Speaking Anviety	Yes	24.5%	26%
I ublic Speaking Allxiety	No	25.5%	24%

Table 5.10.: Characteristics	and	distributions	of	the	sample.	Retrieved	from	Palmas	et
al. [Pal+21]									

5.3.6. Questionnaires

This study examined the technology acceptance of VR-ST using a variety of measures, including the TAM developed by Davis et al. [DBW89], scales for measuring intrinsic motivation by Davis et al. [DBW92] and complexity by Thompson et al. [THH91]. These measures consisted of multiple items, with the factors of perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, behavioral intention, and intrinsic motivation each comprising three items. The complexity was assessed using four items and it is important to note that the scaling of the complexity measure was reversed in polarity, such that higher scores on the complexity measure corresponded with lower perceived complexity.

To collect data, questionnaires were used to ask participants to rate their responses on a seven-point Likert scale. This scale was chosen to measure the extent to which participants agreed or disagreed with the statements given. Scores on this scale ranged from 1, meaning that the statement is "totally not applicable", to 7, meaning that it is "totally applicable".

Public speaking anxiety was measured using the personal report of confidence as a speaker (PRCS) scale ²⁷, which consists of 30 nominally scaled items intended to reflect common symptoms of anxiety that people may experience prior to speaking in public. Participants were asked to answer these items in a binary "yes" or "no" answer format. Those who endorsed at least 50% of the items as "yes" were classified as having public speaking anxiety. In contrast, those who endorsed fewer values were classified as not having anxiety related to public speaking. In addition to this measure, the study also included a question about the participants' prior experience with VR, which was coded as a binary "yes" or "no" answer.

²⁷PRCS is commonly used as a measure in the treatment and research literature to determine whether people are afraid of public speaking.

For those who reported having VR experience, there was an open-ended question asking for further details about their VR expertise.

5.3.7. Study Design

For the purposes of this study, two sets of questions were administered to collect data. The first questionnaire was completed prior to the VR-ST session and included items related to participant demographics, VR experience, and anxiety about public speaking as assessed using the PRCS. The second questionnaire was given after the VR intervention and included questions from the TAM and items that measure intrinsic motivation and complexity. Both the direct feedback and simulation-based groups of speech training participants received the same questionnaire. Furthermore, to ensure the validity of the results, all participants followed the same procedures and used the same settings of the VR-ST system during the study. Each participant selected a topic for the VR-ST session and prepared a digital presentation in advance.



Figure 5.19.: The two phases of the study. Own representation.

It is possible to divide the study procedure into two phases (see Fig. 5.19), as follows:

- **Phase 1:** Participants were given an overview of how the VR-ST works and the underlying structure of its system. Then, they completed the first questionnaire.
- Phase 2: Participants received instructions and the opportunity to choose an avatar.

Then, they were asked to rate the difficulty of each slide ²⁸ to improve time management and balance audience attention. The VR-ST session was held in a virtual office environment where the participants gave a presentation in front of an audience and a laptop with the presentation open ²⁹. The presentation time was limited to five minutes and a scale-based point system provided feedback on body language, eye contact, time management, audience attention, voice, and an overall score based on data collected during VR-ST session.

5.3.8. Results

Regarding Hypothesis 1, a MANOVA ³⁰ was conducted to determine whether VR-ST with direct feedback ³¹ results in higher technology acceptance compared with the simulation-based version ³². The results presented in Table 5.11 indicate that the direct feedback version had statistically significantly higher mean scores on all subscales of technology acceptance.

Dependent Variable	Condition	EMM	SE
Perceived Ease of Use	Direct Feedback	6.397	.091
	Simulation	5.480	.091
Perceived Usefulness	Direct Feedback	5.780	.097
	Simulation	4.830	.097
Behavioral Intention	Direct Feedback	6.240	.096
	Simulation	5.213	.096
Intrinsic Motivation	Direct Feedback	6.463	.085
	Simulation	5.790	.085
Complexity	Direct Feedback	5.983	.089
	Simulation	5.465	.089

Table 5.11.: H1: Estimated marginal means (EMM) and standard errors (SE). Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

The results regarding the effect of the system design showed a statistically significant impact, as indicated by an F ratio of F (5,194) = 16.414 (p < 0.001) and a Pillai's Trace of 0.297. Detailed results for each univariate test are presented in Table 5.12, and the correlations

²⁸Difficulty levels of low, medium, and high corresponded to the time that participants were likely to spend on each slide.

²⁹Once participants clicked the go-to-office button, they were transported to a virtual office environment. Here, they stood in front of the audience and presented their presentation on an open laptop. The time counter was activated when the start button was clicked. The presentation was then displayed on the laptop and on the screen behind the participant in the virtual environment. Each participant had a time limit of five minutes to complete the VR-ST session, excluding the setup phase. Clicking the stop button ended the speech session.

³⁰For all three hypotheses, all assumptions for MANOVA were fulfilled.

 $^{^{31}}n = 100.$

 $^{^{32}}n = 100.$

between constructs are shown in Appendix (see A.2).

Dependent Variable	F	df	η_{p^2}
Perceived Ease of Use	50.450	1	.203*
Perceived Usefulness	47.598	1	.194*
Behavioral Intention	57.363	1	.225*
Intrinsic Motivation	31.191	1	.136*
Complexity	16.750	1	.078*
		(*p -	< .001)

Table 5.12.: Results of the MANOVA for H1. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

Hypothesis 2 proposed that individuals who suffer from public speaking anxiety ³³ would demonstrate greater acceptance of technology than those without such anxiety ³⁴. Using a two-way MANOVA, the effects of system design and public speaking anxiety on sub-scales of technology acceptance were investigated.

The results presented in Table 5.13 support the finding that demonstrates that people with public speaking anxiety had significantly lower technology acceptance across all subscales. A statistical analysis (F ratio of F [5,192] = 9.187 [p < 0.001] and a Pillai's trace of 0.193) support this result.

Densen lent Ventelele	C		CE
Dependent Variable	Group	EMIM	SE
Perceived Ease of Use	No Public Speaking Anxiety	6.296	.085
	Public Speaking Anxiety	5.593	.084
Perceived Usefulness	No Public Speaking Anxiety	5.484	.097
	Public Speaking Anxiety	5.129	.096
Behavioral Intention	No Public Speaking Anxiety	5.955	.093
	Public Speaking Anxiety	5.497	.093
Intrinsic Motivation	No Public Speaking Anxiety	6.393	.082
	Public Speaking Anxiety	5.870	.081
Complexity	No Public Speaking Anxiety	5.981	.086
	Public Speaking Anxiety	5.469	.086

Table 5.13.: H2: Estimated marginal means (EMM) and standard errors (SE). Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

Table 5.14 shows the detailed results of the univariate test for each sub-scale.

 $\frac{^{33}n}{^{24}} = 101.$

 $^{34}n = 99.$

Dependent Variable	F	df	η_{p^2}
Perceived Ease of Use	34.792	1	.151*
Perceived Usefulness	6.786	1	.033***
Behavioral Intention	12.087	1	.058**
Intrinsic Motivation	20.700	1	.096*
Complexity	17.713	1	.083*
	(*p < .001, *	*p < .01,	, ***p < .05)

5. Virtual Reality Speech Trainer

Table 5.14.: Results of the MANOVA for H2. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+21]

Hypothesis 3 stated that people who had previously experienced VR technology would show higher technology acceptance than those who had not. The effect of VR experience and system design on technology acceptance sub-scales was examined using a two-way MANOVA. According to the data analyzed, no statistical significance was found in the interaction effect between the system design and the VR experience or the main effect of the VR experience.

5.3.9. Discussion and Limitations

The purpose of this study was to determine whether a VR-ST with direct feedback is better accepted and received than a simulation-based VR-ST. To answer this question, an experiment between subjects was conducted with 200 participants. After completing a VR-ST session, participants completed a questionnaire that assessed their acceptance of technology using the TAM. In addition, intrinsic motivation and complexity were assessed.

Hypothesis 1 predicted that participants who trained with the VR-ST with direct feedback would demonstrate higher acceptance of technology, higher intrinsic motivation, and lower complexity compared to participants in the simulation-based version. Based on the findings, this hypothesis is fully supported. According to MANOVA, the group that used the VR-ST with direct feedback showed significantly higher ratings in terms of perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, behavioral intent, intrinsic motivation, and complexity. The results are consistent with the prediction that the direct feedback VR-ST would be more effective in terms of technology acceptance and learning outcomes due to the inclusion of gamified elements and direct feedback. Gamified approaches, such as instant feedback icons and audience engagement indicators, may have contributed to improved attention and retention in the VR-ST with direct feedback compared to the simulation-based version, which did not have these elements. This is consistent with previous research on the positive effects of gamification and direct feedback on technology adoption and learning.

In the direct feedback version of VR-ST, the high perceived usefulness rating may be due to the use of icons that provide instant feedback regarding the quality of public speaking. A further contributing factor may have been the use of attention markers above the audience's heads to indicate engagement, which is a more intuitive way of displaying audience engagement compared to the simulation-based version. According to the TAM model, high ratings of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use can reduce perceived barriers to using a new technology, resulting in a higher intention to use it. The higher rated intrinsic motivation in the VR-ST version with direct feedback than in the simulation-based feedback can be explained by the connection between intrinsic motivation and gamification elements, which are present as direct feedback elements comparable to gamification elements. Furthermore, the direct feedback version was perceived as less complex than the simulation-based feedback version, as shown by the reverse-coded responses to the complexity questions. These results support the importance of considering both intrinsic motivation and complexity when evaluating different versions of VR-ST in terms of users' technology acceptance. The direct feedback version was designed to provide simple and easy-to-understand feedback through elements such as audience engagement indicators and speaking feedback, which may have contributed to its reduced perceived complexity.

As discussed by Palmas et al. [Pal+21], it is worth noting that the effectiveness of feedback depends on its acceptance, which is influenced by the credibility of the feedback source. Therefore, the credibility of the feedback source is a key factor in determining its acceptability, and as the technology acceptance of the VR-ST increases, the acceptance of the feedback is also likely to increase, suggesting that improvements in technology acceptance can improve the overall effectiveness of this training method. However, more research is needed to fully understand the influence of feedback acceptance on the effectiveness of VR-ST. Additionally, individuals often trust their own judgments much more than the feedback they receive from others during a training experience. This can be attributed to psychological factors such as confirmation bias and self-protection, leading to an overestimation of performance.

In this context, it is important to note that the lack of prior VR experience could affect a person's perception of their own abilities in a VR training environment. This potentially hinders their acceptance of feedback and ultimately reduces the effectiveness of the learning experience. In other words, prior exposure to VR could affect the ability of a person to absorb and apply new information learned during a VR training session. Overall, this is an important consideration when designing and implementing VR training applications.

In this study, participants were tested under standardized conditions, and the level of difficulty was not adjusted to their performance. Although game elements often aim to optimize the user's experience by tailoring their challenge to the user's skill level, this approach was not used in the present study to ensure the validity of the measurement. However, due to the lack of difficulty adjustment, some participants may have performed poorly or over-performed, which may have negatively impacted the intrinsic motivation and complexity measurements.

To address these potential limitations in future research, it may be beneficial to classify presentation performance based on of skill assessments before participants use the VR-ST. For example, a previous short speech could serve as a baseline measure of the user's skill level, allowing for more tailored difficulty adjustments in the VR training. This approach would help ensure that all participants achieve an optimal learning experience, as the perfect balance between challenge and skillset influences how focused a learner is (see Flow Theory in Section 2.4.6). By considering these issues and implementing strategies such as skill assessments and difficulty adjustments, it should be possible to improve the validity of future measurements and better understand the impact of VR-ST on intrinsic motivation and

complexity. This will help to expand the understanding of the effectiveness of VR-ST, but also of VR training as an educational learning tool.

A possible direction for future research using VR-ST is to investigate how to achieve the optimal level of challenge for anxious participants. Additionally, the use of difficulty levels could be combined with dynamic difficulty adjustment in VR-ST to provide an optimal level of challenge for anxious participants. This potential solution could provide real-time adjustment of the challenge level based on user performance. Furthermore, by combining VR simulations with biometric measurements, such as electrodermal activity, it would be possible to examine the stress response in individuals with VR-ST. Researchers can study how the anxiety of public speaking translates to VR environments in real life. As a result, based on this information, VR simulations could be dynamically adjusted in real-time to account for participants' stress levels. Being able to make such adjustments can effectively and accurately alleviate stress for people who are afraid of public speaking and thus improve the overall VR experience. However, it is important to note that the effectiveness of dynamic difficulty adjustment in VR-ST has yet to be rigorously examined and should be the focus of future research.

The results did not support Hypothesis 2 that participants with public speaking anxiety were more likely to accept VR-ST. The MANOVA results showed that, in all dimensions of the TAM, the participants with public speaking anxiety actually showed significantly lower technology acceptance as well as lower intrinsic motivation and higher perceived complexity.

A possible explanation for this unexpected result could be the discomfort or anxiety that these participants experienced when using the VR-ST. It is known that people with high levels of anxiety tend to perceive new or unfamiliar situations negatively, which can lead to a lower acceptance of VR-ST. Additionally, the immersive nature of VR may have increased feelings of discomfort or anxiety in these participants, resulting in a lower overall acceptance of the intervention.

Because the VR-ST was implemented with an emphasis on high graphic fidelity and a believable presentation scenario, it is possible that this level of realism evoked feelings of fear or discomfort in these participants. By creating a realistic and potentially fear-inducing public speaking scenario, the VR-ST may have reduced some of its potential benefits for participants with high levels of public speaking anxiety. These individuals may have found the VR-ST experience too stressful or overwhelming, resulting in a lower acceptance of technology. This finding should also re-emphasize the importance of considering learners' experience levels and comfort when designing and implementing educational technologies. Additionally, it may be necessary to incorporate additional gamified supported mechanisms or adjust the difficulty level of VR-ST to better meet the needs of individuals with public speaking anxiety.

To examine Hypothesis 3, an attempt was made to identify any correlation between VR experience and acceptance of the VR-ST. However, no significant correlation was observed.

There are several possible explanations for this result. An overly simplistic measurement method may have been used to evaluate the VR experience. Because it used only one item to rate the VR experience, it may not have provided a reliable measure of this construct. Measurements of a single item are often prone to poor statistical validity, which may have

impacted the results of this study. Furthermore, participants were divided into two levels of VR experience based on a single question and optional additional information. This lack of detail may have contributed to the failure to establish a significant relationship between VR experience and VR-ST acceptance. To better understand the relationship between VR experience and acceptance of VR technology, further research should use broader measures of VR experience.

5.4. Summary

Previous research on the use of VR for public speaking training has focused largely on the effectiveness of VR in reducing anxiety and the effects of virtual audience reactions on participants. However, these studies were often statistically underpowered, and the incorporation of gamification principles into VR speaker training has been explored only to a limited extent.

This study has provided evidence of the effectiveness of the TAM for assessing the acceptance of immersive VR applications. Taking into account the intrinsic motivation and complexity in this research design, a deeper understanding of aspects of the VR experience that are not directly addressed by the TAM was also gained. Furthermore, this study involved the implementation and comparison of two versions of VR-ST, and a large-scale experimental study35 was conducted to verify the results.

The results showed that the VR-ST with direct feedback was better accepted than the VR-ST with simulation-based feedback. These results suggest that integrating direct feedback elements into VR training could improve participants' public speaking skills. It is imperative for developers of VR training applications to consider how they make information available to users in order to optimize the learning experience.

This study highlights the value of integrating direct feedback elements into VR simulations for public speaking and communication training. More research is needed to examine the impact of VR experiences and prior fears of public speaking on the effectiveness of these training applications. To optimize learning outcomes, it is recommended that developers of commercial training tools carefully consider the design of their feedback systems.

In summary, this study not only made a contribution to VR research but also showed that direct feedback is a well-accepted and innovative method for VR training. Given these results, more research is needed to explore the acceptance and additional impact of gamified VR training and to highlight its usefulness in the educational field.

6. Adverlearning

This chapter provides an overview of the definition and explanation of adverlearning as outlined in the study published by Palmas and Klinker [PK21]. In the following sections, part of the text has been excerpted from the cited publication and adapted. This study presents and explores the novel concept of adverlearning and its potential impact on the field of education and learning. In addition, it examines the potential benefits and applications of adverlearning and discusses the challenges and considerations involved in its implementation.

6.1. Background

As discussed in detail in Section 2.6, video games have become one of the main achievements of the entertainment industry due to their growing market and the opportunity to generate new business. Furthermore, researchers and marketers have recognized the success of video games and their underlying mechanisms and have tried to apply these principles to other areas.

In recent years, the integration of marketing strategies into digital content, including video games, has emerged as a method of increasing brand recognition and awareness among consumers. These strategies, which often go beyond simple product placement, offer advertisers multiple opportunities to design and place advertising content within games. In this way, brand values and product information can be passed on to the target group [PK21].

6.2. Defining Adverlearning

Due to resistance to change and dependence on outdated training methods, the education sector struggles to adapt to recent societal changes and future needs. This underscores the need for innovation in this sector and shows that, rather than relying on traditional methods, a proactive approach is needed to address the need for change [PK21].

Learning through video games can be seen as an innovation in the field of learning, and the principles of video game development can be used to create engaging learning experiences that can help individuals grow and develop. In addition, the most effective way to use video games as a learning tool is to prioritize engagement and fun while also teaching valuable skills and information.

Research has shown the benefits of serious video games or video games intended for educational or training purposes. According to Palmas and Klinker [PK21], serious games can be limited by not offering the same fun factor as commercial games when used in real world contexts rather than for research purposes. Because commercial video games are often

designed for entertainment purposes, players are more likely to perceive them as such than serious games. In addition, they also tend to have more resources and development time. As a result, serious games must provide an engaging and enjoyable experience comparable to that of popular commercial video games to effectively achieve their intended educational goals [PK21].

It is possible to study the properties and effectiveness of fun and engaging video games to adapt specific techniques and approaches, as well as to incorporate innovative teaching methods, with the aim of improving the learning experience for younger generations. By combining in-game advertising (see Section 2.6.2) and educational content in video games, games can deliver learning materials in fun and engaging ways that can potentially enhance learning and be used to create new approaches to learning.

Based on the analysis of different types of in-game advertising in section 2.6.2, the following is the definition of adverlearning is:

"The repurposing of in-game advertising's methods and strategies for conveying learning content and achieving educational goals by applying them to video games." [PK21]

According to Palmas and Klinker [PK21], this definition requires some clarification.

The use of in-game advertising has been proven to establish a connection between the viewer and their purchasing behavior toward a product from the advertised company. Therefore, the inclusion of educational content in these advertisements has the potential to motivate learners to seek further knowledge on a given topic in a playful, fun, and interactive environment. Moreover, the user could perceive the learning content in a similar way to advertising, as adverlearning uses strategies previously developed for in-game advertising.

This way of conveying information differs in design and purpose from serious games, which are specifically designed to convey learning material. Adverlearning can be viewed as a learning approach that integrates instructional and learning content into video games while capitalizing on their inherently engaging and fun nature. The learning content is made available indirectly through the use of strategies developed for in-game advertising. One of the key potential benefits of adverlearning is its flexibility, as learning content can be incorporated into any type of video game, both new and existing, regardless of genre or platform. Additionally, the integration of adverlearning into existing video games as a mechanism for delivering learning material avoids the need to change the game's storyline, mechanics, or design principles. Another advantage of adverlearning is that it allows learning content to be delivered to players in an unobtrusive and engaging manner, potentially leading to better retention and understanding of the material.

6.3. Discussion and Limitations

To facilitate learning while creating a fun gaming experience, adverlearning offers several potential solutions to this challenge. One solution could be to implement it as an additional

layer in existing commercial games to leverage their already established entertainment value. Another potential solution is to incorporate adverlearning into the design and development of a new video game to seamlessly integrate learning content into the world and mechanics of the game. Although the potential of advertising as a valuable learning tool is evident, empirical evidence of its effectiveness is currently lacking. Detailed research is required to determine how to use adverlearning most effectively and assess its impact on learning outcomes.

An issue that should be addressed is that people who actively play certain types of video games may experience reduced learning effectiveness from adverlearning, especially when a game requires high levels of attention and mental ability. The reason for this is that a significant amount of cognitive resources may be used to play the video game, leaving a limited capacity to process and store the advertised learning information. In such a case, adverlearning might facilitate the retention of previously acquired knowledge or concepts rather than the acquisition of new knowledge.

However, streaming video games may offer a way to mitigate this impact. Stream viewers may have more of their cognitive resources and attention spans available to process and retain promoted information because they are not actively playing the game. Unlike traditional methods, this approach can be perceived as less intrusive and to facilitate learning through repetition and habituation. With the potential to broaden the target audience of adverlearning to passive gamers who prefer to watch video games rather than actively participate in them, this approach could present an opportunity to make this form of learning more attractive. Additional research is needed to fully understand the effect of adverlearning on active and passive gamers and to optimize the delivery of advertised information in the context of streaming video games.

Another approach that needs to be explored in research is the use of adverlearning in XR in the context of gaming, which allows players to be fully immersed in interactive environments, potentially leading to greater enjoyment, engagement, and more effective learning.

Although the use of immersive technologies in adverlearning may hold promise, more research is needed to fully understand their impact on the perception of learning content. This includes studies that examine how different XR technologies can impact learning outcomes and how best to design adverlearning experiences that take advantage of the immersive nature of these technologies. Overall, the potential of adverlearning to facilitate learning transfer through the use of immersive technologies is an exciting area for future research, and by better understanding how these technologies impact the perception of learning content, it is possible to optimize adverlearning and promote more effective learning.

6.4. Summary

The current education system appears to lack the capacity to meet the needs and desires of younger generations and the future learning needs of society. As a solution to this problem, a new concept called adverlearning is proposed and offers the possibility of incorporating educational content into video games through in-game advertising. This approach uses the

engaging and fun nature of gaming to support the learning process. Future studies should investigate whether this new approach to learning is feasible to create a more effective and engaging learning experience for learners of younger generations and should ultimately work toward the goal of empowering people with lifelong learning and realization of their potential.

7. Discussion and Future Work

This dissertation investigated the effect of gamification on corporate XR training using an exploratory approach. Despite the increasing use of gamification in different training contexts, little is known about its potential advantages and disadvantages in the context of corporate XR training. To help fill this gap in the literature, the main research question was formulated as follows:

• Does gamification have the potential to positively impact corporate extended reality training?

The theoretical foundations of this dissertation were drawn from relevant literature on the core topics. Based on these foundations, several hypotheses were formulated and tested.

Overall, the theoretical basis and results of the examined studies indicate that gamification can have positive effects in the context of corporate XR training. However, more research is needed to confirm these findings and examine the mechanisms through which gamification can affect learning in this context. By addressing limitations and conducting further research on this topic, it may be possible to provide a more definitive answer to the main research question and make more robust claims about the impact of gamification on corporate XR training.

Given the exploratory nature of this dissertation, a thorough analysis of the results follows to ensure a full understanding and interpretation of these findings.

Incorporating XR technologies into corporate training has the potential to revolutionize the way companies train their employees. However, there has been a lack of consensus on the definition and understanding of XR, leading to confusion among academics and professionals in various fields [Rau+22b], not just in corporate training. Establishing a clear and consistent definition of XR in the context of training is essential to address these issues.

XR training is defined as follows (see Section 3.4):

"xR training is a purposely designed, immersive learning experience, which takes advantage of the appropriate technologies. These technologies engage and support employees when acquiring the knowledge and skills needed to drive the behaviors that impact specific business outcomes, which are aligned with organizational goals." [PK20]

In this definition, the concept of "purposely designed" instructional methodology emphasizes the importance of carefully selecting and implementing techniques and strategies with the aim of optimizing learning outcomes. This approach recognizes that the mere transmission of information is not sufficient for effective learning, and the active participation and motivation of learners are crucial to facilitate the acquisition of knowledge and skills. Gamification has been proposed as a technique to be used as part of a purpose-designed instructional methodology, as its elements, all of which are key components that can be used in educational contexts, have the potential to effectively increase motivation and engagement.

In the context of this dissertation (see Section 2.5.3), a refined definition of gamification is proposed as follows:

"The process of making something a game, or game-like, with the goal of providing guidance and feedback through game mechanics, dynamics and aesthetics to achieve specific goals and objectives. It supports behavioral changes by motivating specific proactive and reactive behaviors within the gamified situation or application and positively impacting real-world situations."

In summary, the proper use of gamification as part of an effective instructional methodology can potentially improve the effectiveness of the learning experience and facilitate the achievement of desired learning outcomes.

To investigate the potential benefits of gamification in hard skill training in VR, a study was designed using a VR assembly task and compared the performance and learning outcomes of a gamified versus a non-gamified version of the training (see Chapter 4). As reported by Ulmer et al. [Ulm+20], this approach has a high degree of novelty:

"Only Palmas et al. is comparing VR and Gamification manufacturing applications by analyzing the efficiency of a gamified and non-gamified assembly training tasks." [Ulm+20]

The central hypothesis was that, by integrating game elements into VR training, training effectiveness would be improved, as stated by the following subhypotheses:

- **H1** The experimental group ¹ will exhibit a different distribution of error counts than the control group.
- **H2** *The experimental group will exhibit a different distribution of error criticalness than the control group.*

Classifying errors according to their criticality is a common practice in various fields, including business, as it allows companies to prioritize correcting and avoiding errors. This is important because failures can have a number of consequences for a business, such as wasted time, wasted resources, and lost profits. Therefore, it is important to first address the most pressing issues. Errors can be classified in a range between critical and non-critical, depending on their potential impact on an organization's goals. Additionally, categorizing

¹This group used the gamified version.

errors by criticality could make it easier to track and analyze performance over time in VR training.

Consistently collecting and analyzing data on the frequency and impact of errors and mistakes made in VR training could help companies identify patterns and trends, and implement targeted interventions to prevent future failures by improving training design and applying gamification approaches. This, in turn, could lead to improved efficiency, productivity, and profitability.

A sample of 50 participants with no prior drum kit assembly experience was randomly assigned to either the experimental group, which received the gamified training, or the control group, which received the non-gamified training. The study results showed a trend towards improved performance and fewer errors in the experimental group compared to the control group, although this difference was not statistically significant. However, these results do not allow definitive conclusions about the effectiveness of gamified training for this assembly task to be drawn; rather, they suggest the possibility of a positive effect.

A stronger trend in favor of the gamified version was found among a subset of participants who were new to VR technology. To further examine this result, additional tests were conducted, and the subgroup was expanded to include a total of 14 VR novice participants, who were randomly assigned to either the gamified or non-gamified condition.

As an additional indication of the potential benefit of gamification for this group of VR novices, two additional subhypotheses were formulated:

- **H3** *VR inexperienced users of the experimental group will exhibit a different distribution of error counts than the respective part of the control group*.
- **H4** *VR inexperienced users of the experimental group will exhibit a different distribution of error criticalness than the respective part of the control group*

In this context, gamification showed a statistically significant positive effect on performance and learning outcomes. In addition, it also influenced learning behavior and facilitated knowledge transfer.

In the results, the experimental group with the gamified VR training was observed to complete the assembly task almost 12.2% faster and made 30.2% fewer errors than the control group. The criticalness value was also 26.5% lower in the experimental group. This effect was particularly pronounced in participants with no prior VR experience, as they showed a 53.3% reduction in errors and a 48.1% decrease in the criticalness score in the gamified condition.

In this study, the use of a cymbal boom stand as a measure of assembly ability could be viewed as a limitation, as it may not fully capture the complexity of the task, and some participants may have used intuitive rather than learned solutions. This introduces the possibility of noise in the recorded data, which could raise concerns about the validity of the results and their generalizability to other contexts. In order to more accurately assess skills such as hand-eye coordination, multitasking, and memory performance, it may be necessary to use more complex and unusual objects as test subjects in future research. Additionally, a potential limitation of the study is the small sample size, which may have reduced the power
to detect statistically significant differences between the two groups. Future research with larger sample sizes is needed to more robustly assess the effectiveness of gamified training for this type of hard skills training.

In summary, the results suggest that gamification has the potential to be used as a tool to improve the effectiveness of VR training, but more research is needed to confirm these results and understand their generalizability.

Given the limited use and adoption of VR for soft skills training and the challenges of measuring its effectiveness, the research on VR-ST is in an area of particular interest. The inclusion of the group of participants selected for this study, who were employees of a real organization and students of an MBA program for executives, is crucial to understanding how the findings can be reflected in company training and in the actual organizational setting.

Using VR-ST, data were collected using a Likert scale and open-ended questionnaires on participants' experiences and self-reported improvements were collected to examine acceptance, effectiveness, and potential of VR for soft skills training.

According to the self-evaluations of the participants, VR-ST proved to be beneficial in overcoming their fear of public speaking. Furthermore, a large majority ² believed that multiple VR-ST sessions would likely improve their presentation skills in general. Following the experiment, 92% of the participants reported having fun and enjoying VR-ST.

One of the strengths of this study is the use of self-reported data, which allowed participants to share their subjective experiences and perceptions of the VR-ST. This can be particularly valuable in the context of VR training, as individual experiences and perceptions of stress are personal and can be influenced by a variety of factors. However, it is also important to recognize the limitations of self-reported data. The subjective nature of these types of data can be prone to bias and error. In addition, self-reported data may not always accurately reflect objective changes or results.

The limited exposure to VR-ST in the study may have affected the ability of the participants to fully adapt to the technology, but the positive acceptance rate observed in this study suggests that VR-ST has potential as a useful communication skills training tool for public speaking. Additionally, acceptance of a training program is a key factor in its effectiveness, as individuals who are unwilling to use or participate in a training program are unlikely to benefit from it. However, it is important to note that the small sample size may not be representative of the general population. Therefore, more research with objective measures and longer training times is needed to fully assess the effectiveness of VR-ST as a communication skills training tool.

In summary, these results suggest that VR-ST could be a valuable tool to overcome anxiety about public speaking and improve presentation skills, and the participants acknowledged its value.

As part of the exploration of the potential of VR-ST, an experiment including 200 participants was conducted, and two versions of VR-ST were examined:

²80% of the participants.

- One version included gamified direct feedback
- One version provided a pure simulation training scenario ³

The TAM was used to assess user perception and acceptance of this VR training. The study also examined two other constructs to explore how intrinsic motivation and sensory overload can affect the effectiveness of VR-ST. As part of the general objective of the study, an effort was made to better understand the factors that contribute to the acceptance and effectiveness of VR-ST, which may be reflected in corporate training environments.

Hypothesis 1 of this research states the following:

• H1 Direct feedback shows higher technology acceptance than simulation-based feedback.

It was hypothesized that the VR-ST group with direct feedback would show higher acceptance of the technology, increased intrinsic motivation, and lower complexity compared to the simulation-based group.

Multiple measures of technology acceptance, such as perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, behavioral intent, intrinsic motivation, and complexity, were analyzed using MANOVA to test this hypothesis. Compared to the simulation-based group, VR-ST with direct feedback showed significantly higher ratings for all measures. Therefore, the results fully support this hypothesis.

However, it is important to consider certain limitations when interpreting the results. In particular, the direct feedback version and the simulation-based version of the VR-ST used different methods to provide feedback and indicate audience attention and participation, making it difficult to directly compare the results of the two versions. The direct feedback version may have used a more intuitive way of showing audience engagement compared to the simulation-based version, thus impacting the high perceived usefulness and perceived ease-of-use ratings reported for the direct feedback version. To address these limitations, it would have been beneficial to measure the effectiveness of all conditions through a prepost-test evaluation to draw a more concrete conclusion regarding the effectiveness of both versions of the VR-ST.

The following are Hypotheses 2 and 3:

• **H2** *Participants with public speaking anxiety show higher acceptance of technology than participants without public speaking anxiety.*

Although the results of this study did not support the hypothesis that participants with public speaking anxiety were more likely to accept VR-ST, they provided valuable information on the possible barriers to VR-ST acceptance in individuals with high levels of anxiety.

The results could be influenced by a variety of factors. One of the most important factors may be the phenomenon of negative bias toward new or unfamiliar situations in people with high levels of anxiety and their perception that the VR-ST intervention is aversive or

³This version does not include a gamified approach.

threatening. Additionally, the immersive nature of VR may also play a role in the reduced acceptance of VR-ST among people with high levels of anxiety. The immersive properties of VR could lead to an increased sense of presence, which, in turn, could lead to increased self-awareness. This increased level of self-awareness could trigger an increase in anxiety, which could lead to a decreased acceptance of VR-ST in individuals with high levels of anxiety.

This result underscores the importance of considering the previous experience and comfort levels of learners when designing and implementing educational technologies. Additionally, to meet the needs of people with high levels of public speaking anxiety, it may be necessary to integrate additional gamification mechanisms or adjust the difficulty level within VR-ST. However, it remains uncertain which specific game elements and game mechanics would be most effective in this context. As such, more research is needed to determine the optimal approach to integrating gamification into VR-ST to enhance the experience of those who fear public speaking.

• **H3** *Participants with prior VR experience show higher technology acceptance than participants without prior VR experience.*

The objective of Hypothesis 3 was to uncover an association between familiarity with VR and acceptance of VR-ST. Despite the researcher's best efforts, no significant correlation was found.

A possible explanation for this result is that the metric used to evaluate the VR experience may have been insufficient. Specifically, the methodology used a single-item scale to rate the VR experience, which proved to have little statistical validity. Furthermore, grading participants into two levels of VR experience based on a single question and additional self-reported information may not have been sufficient to evoke a meaningful association between VR experience and VR-ST acceptance. To better understand the relationship between VR experience and VR-ST acceptance, future research should use more robust measures of VR experience.

In summary, VR can be a powerful tool for corporate training, but it is important to remember that its effectiveness depends on the specific application, the characteristics of the learners, and even the corporate culture. Furthermore, it is important to critically evaluate the potential benefits and limitations of this technology to ensure its effective implementation in training programs. One of the major challenges related to the use of VR in education is the availability and accessibility of the necessary technology and equipment, as well as the technical skills necessary to use the technology effectively. Additionally, there may be concerns that excessive technology dependence may inhibit the development of critical thinking and problem-solving skills.

An area of particular interest for future research is the role of graphics in VR applications. As technology advances, it becomes increasingly possible to create photorealistic virtual environments and avatars. Although this level of realism can enhance the immersive experience, it also raises important ethical questions about the potential consequences of interacting with highly realistic virtual representations of humans. Consequently, it is crucial to conduct further research and examine the impact of photorealistic graphics on VR training and to consider the broad ethical implications related to this topic. This is a highly sensitive topic and should be carefully considered in any discussion of VR and not just in the context of learning and training.

To successfully integrate XR training into organizations and ensure its effectiveness in improving employee performance and skills, several practical challenges must be addressed. In this regard, Palmas and Niermann's [PN21] four-phase model provides a practical framework designed to help companies overcome the challenges associated with integrating XR training. The model consists of four phases (Fig. 7.1) that can be summarized as follows [Pal+22]:

- Phase 1 (Conceptual Design) consists of a systematic approach to identify the needs, goals, and expectations of stakeholders in relation to the implementation of an XR training program. This phase includes conducting a business case analysis to determine the feasibility and potential impact of the XR training and identifying the target audience and their specific learning needs. A key aspect of this phase is the establishment of learning analytics and key performance indicators4 to measure the effectiveness of the training program and monitor progress over time. The technical infrastructure required for the xR training program is also evaluated and identified in this phase, including any potential risks or challenges that may need to be addressed. The goal in this phase is to establish a comprehensive understanding of the project goals and requirements, and to identify any potential issues early on in the implementation process. This allows the development of a detailed project plan that can mitigate risks, optimize resources, and ensure the successful implementation of XR training.
- Phase 2 (Minimum Viable Product) focuses on prototyping the product, which includes the minimum set of features required to validate the product's value proposition with early users. This minimum set of features addresses the core problem or needs of the target audience and allows sharing with a small group of early adopters to collect feedback and data to measure the product's performance. This process allows the development team to validate the training concept and make informed decisions for future development.
- Phase 3 (Production): Further production decisions are only possible after extensive test validation. The features identified in the MVP are now being produced. As part of the first release version, the XR training is now available to a wide range of users. For a successful production phase, the development must be agile and take into account some additional aspects, such as effective communication, change requests, polish ⁴, and internal marketing.
- Phase 4 (Post-Production) provides ongoing maintenance and support for the XR

⁴The process of finalization of the training application that involves the implementation of aesthetic enhancements and the elimination of technical errors (bugs) to ensure optimal visual appeal and functionality.

training released. This phase involves managing the development lifecycle of the XR training application by ensuring regular maintenance and updates and monitoring and analyzing the data using scientifically validated methods. The effectiveness of XR training can be increased and further developed through systematic observation and analysis of this data. Additionally, internal marketing should support the adoption and acceptance of XR training by providing accompanying news and building an internal user community.



Figure 7.1.: The four-phase model of the XR training. Retrieved from Palmas et al. [Pal+22]

The underlying principles of this model can be extended to an educational context and support its implementation in an educational setting.

The field of education and learning has developed rapidly with the advancement of technology, and the use of video games for learning has gained significant attention in recent years. To explore the potential of using in-game advertising strategies for educational purposes as a way to increase engagement, fun, and motivation among learners, a definition for adverlearning was provided, as follows:

"The repurposing of in-game advertising's methods and strategies for conveying learning content and achieving educational goals by applying them to video games." [PK21]

Adverlearning also has the potential to improve employee engagement and retention in corporate training, especially for future generations who may be more used to digital media and interactive learning methods. Additionally, by making corporate training more attractive, adverlearning could increase employee participation rates and lead to better results on the job.

The main limitation of this concept is that it is still at an early stage of development and research, and more studies are needed to understand its impact on the field of education and learning. In addition, there are ethical considerations when it comes to repurposing advertising strategies for education, particularly in the context of video games for which children and young people are important target groups.

Adverlearning has great potential for innovation. The use of video games and interactive digital media as learning tools has shown potential to increase player motivation and engagement, and the use of in-game advertising strategies that integrate learning content could enhance learning and maintain the fun effect. Adverlearning also has the potential to increase the accessibility and availability of educational resources for learners, especially those who dislike or cannot access traditional forms of education.

In summary, adverlearning is a novel concept that can contribute to the field of education, learning, and corporate training. Although it is still in its early stages and needs more research, there are potential benefits of adverlearning. However, researchers should be aware of ethical considerations and work to mitigate possible negative impacts on learners.

Based on all of these findings, gamification appears to have the potential to positively impact corporate XR training. However, more research is needed to fully understand the extent of this impact and to establish the most effective methodology to implement gamification in corporate XR training.

8. Conclusion

The potential for gamification to have a positive impact on corporate XR training was investigated in this dissertation. A review of the relevant literature and examination of empirical evidence demonstrate the importance of incorporating gamification into XR training and its potential to influence corporate training. The review of literature on several topics related to corporate training provides insight into the current challenges companies face in the context of digital transformation and the need for organizations to support lifelong learning. In particular, the growing role of public speaking and the challenges of generational conflicts have been considered, as these issues are likely to increase in importance in the coming years.

Examining the future of work has highlighted the need for upskilling and reskilling to navigate the rapidly changing labor market effectively. The distinction between hard and soft skills has been recognized as a crucial aspect of understanding the complexities of the future of work. Additionally, the role of skills in shaping the future of corporate training was considered. This review of the literature has provided a solid foundation for understanding the topic of corporate training and has also helped to improve the understanding of the challenges and opportunities facing businesses today.

The topics of learning and its theories were examined, followed by an analysis of motivation theories that help to understand the relationship between gamification and video games. In addition, this dissertation provided a more refined definition of gamification. This investigation and analysis allow for a better understanding of the research studies presented and the design of effective learning environments. Through the studies presented, the term XR training was defined and shed light on the potential of gamification in the area of XR, particularly in the context of corporate training. Furthermore, the role that gamification can play in improving the effectiveness of both hard and soft skills training using XR technologies, with a focus on VR, has been demonstrated. The results concerning soft skills training show that VR-based communication training, specifically VR-ST, is an effective and well-received training method and thus suggest that integrating gamified direct feedback mechanisms into VR-ST has the potential to further improve its effectiveness. In addition, the novel approach adverlearning, which has the potential to revolutionize the learning, education, and corporate training sectors in the future, was presented.

In conclusion, this dissertation underlined the importance of considering gamification when designing and implementing XR training applications. In addition, these findings provide a basis for future research in this area.

A. Appendix

A.1. Tutorial steps are arranged chronologically in this list, along with the type of action the user took and an image of the corresponding situation.

Step	Tutorial text	Action	Image
1	Pick up the pole and insert it into the top of the tri- pod.	One- handed pick up	5
2	Pick up the wing nut and attach it to the screw on the tripod.	One- handed pick up	
3	Adjust the height of the pole so that the marker points to the green area, then tighten the corre- sponding wing nut.	Two- handed interac- tion	50 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40
4	Pick up the horizontal rod and attach it to the mount on top of the pole.	One- handed pick up	T
5	Pick up the wing nut and attach it to the screw at the top of the pole	One- handed pick up	
6	Adjust the setting of the rod until the marker points to the green area, then tighten the corre- sponding wing nut.	Two- handed interac- tion	0 10 20 30 Indiates
7	Adjust the angle of the cymbal rod so that the marker points to the green area, then tighten the cor- responding wing nut.	Two- handed interac- tion	
8	Pick up the plastic washer and attach it to the end of the cymbal rod.	One- handed pick up	
9	Pick up the felt washer and attach it to the end of the cymbal rod.	One- handed pick up	Lite
10	Pick up the cymbal and at- tach it to the end of the cymbal rod.	One- handed pick up	
11	Pick up the felt washer and attach it to the end of the cymbal rod.	One- handed pick up	
12	Pick up the wing nut and attach it to the threading at the end of the cymbal rod.	One- handed pick up	
	12	77	

Step	Tutorial text	Action	Image
13	Fasten the wing nut.	One- handed interac- tion	
14	Congratulations, you did it!	None	

A.2. Descriptive findings and correlations ¹. Retrived from Palmas et al. (2021)

^{1*}p < .001, **p < .01, ***p < .05

	(8) Behavioral Intention	(7) Complexity	(6) Intrinsic Motivation	(5) Perceived Usefulness	(4) Perceived Ease Of Use	(3) Public Speaking Anxiety	(2) Training-Experience	(1) VR-Experience		
	5.73	5.72	6.13	5.31	5.94				Μ	
	1.09	0.93	0.91	1.08	1.02				SD	
	-0.82	-0.75	-0.90	-0.60	-1.18				SK	
	0.28	0.09	-0.14	-0.15	0.92				KU	
	140*	212**	161*	097	196**	.124	017	()	(1)	
	075	024	094	141*	138	.140*	()		(2)	
	225**	284**	297**	177*	358**	()			(3)	
	.530**	.385**	.596**	.547**	(.84)				(4)	
	.615**	.219**	.480**	(.77)					(5)	
/s= / 001 s	.573**	.341**	(.76)						(6)	
Ra / 01 %%%a /	.410**	(.73)							(7)	
	(.80)								(8)	

(*p < .001, **p < .01, ***p < .05)

List of Figures

2.1.	Effective public speaking	13
2.2.	Hands orientation	14
2.3.	The connection with the audience is established and maintained through eye	
	contact	15
2.4.	Overview of the generations	17
2.5.	The 56 foundational skills	26
2.6.	Maslow pyramid of needs	35
2.7.	Factors that influence work attitude	37
2.8.	Self-determination theory's overview	38
2.9.	Motivational constructs based on self-determination theory	39
2.10.	. Representation of the flow principle	40
2.11.	Continuum of play and game	43
2.12.	Anonymized, categorized and aggregated data on a large sample of actual	
	Google searches using gamification as a search term in Google Trends	45
2.13.	An overview of Gartner's Hype Cycles charting the evolution of gamification	
	from 2011 to 2014	46
2.14.	Design elements and their descriptions	52
2.15.	The continuum of serious games	53
2.16.	Gamification vs serious games	54
2.17.	A hierarchical view of game elements	55
2.18.	. Both the designer and the player have a different perspective	57
2.19.	Components of a game and their design counterparts	58
2.20.	The eight leading principles of gamification	60
2.21.	Forecast of global video game revenue in billions of dollars	62
2.22.	. Revenues of selected sectors of the entertainment industry worldwide in 2019	63
2.23.	Overview of the video game digital market	64
2.24.	The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global digital media revenue	
	forecast	64
2.25.	Estimation of the size of the global esports market from 2020 to 2025 in billions	
	of dollars	65
2.26.	. The most popular business models used by video game developers worldwide	
	in 2020 based on 4.000 respondents	66
2.27.	. Flow zones differ between different players	68
2.28.	Flow experiences are shaped by the choices designers build into the experience	69
2.29.	. Ideal flow in game design and gamification	70
2.30.	The four distinct phases from grinding to mastering	71

2.31. Cycles, phases, and transitions. 72 2.32. Graphical visualization of grinding to mastery and mastery to flow 73 2.33. Uncanny valley 75 3.1. Representation of the reality-virtuality continuum 76 3.2. Example of an augmented reality application using a handheld device 79 3. Mirror stereoscope front and top view 82 3.4. Original patent sketch for the first head-mounted display 83 3.5. An overview of the three-dimensional display system 84 3.6. Global unit sales of virtual reality headsets in the fourth quarter of 2019 and the fourth quarter of 2020, by device 86 3.7. The general architecture of the metaverse 87 3.8. The diagram illustrates how humans perceive the virtual world from an anthropocentric perspective 90 3.9. A comparison of three- and six-degrees-of-freedom 91 3.10. In the five perspectives, virtual and augmented reality are analyzed with regard to their effects and fields of action 93 3.11. Manufacturing applications of immersive technologies in 2020 according to industry experts in the United States 96 3.12. The continuum of the XR training application 100 4.1. Real cymbal stand vs virtual reality cymbal stand. Both are fully assembled. 106 4.2. Objects are picked up using the grip button, whil			
2.5. Ontainly valiey 75 3.1. Representation of the reality-virtuality continuum 76 3.2. Example of an augmented reality application using a handheld device 79 3.3. Mirror stereoscope front and top view 82 3.4. Original patent sketch for the first head-mounted display 83 3.5. An overview of the three-dimensional display system 84 3.6. Global unit sales of virtual reality headsets in the fourth quarter of 2019 and the fourth quarter of 2020, by device 86 3.7. The general architecture of the metaverse 87 3.8. The diagram illustrates how humans perceive the virtual world from an anthropocentric perspective. 90 3.9. A comparison of three- and six-degrees-of-freedom 91 3.10. In the five perspectives, virtual and augmented reality are analyzed with regard to their effects and fields of action 93 3.11. Manufacturing applications of immersive technologies in 2020 according to industry experts in the United States 96 3.12. The continuum of the XR training application 100 4.1. Real cymbal stand vs virtual reality cymbal stand. Both are fully assembled. 106 4.2. Objects are picked up using the grip button, while the touch-pad and trigger are used to interact with them 107 4.3. An example of the training tutorial and its components. 110 <t< td=""><td>2.31. 2.32.</td><td>Cycles, phases, and transitions</td><td>72 73</td></t<>	2.31. 2.32.	Cycles, phases, and transitions	72 73
3.1. Representation of the reality-virtuality continuum	2.33.		75
3.2. Example or an augmented reality application using a natural device	3.1.	Representation of the reality-virtuality continuum	76 70
3.4. Original patent sketch for the first head-mounted display 83 3.5. An overview of the three-dimensional display system 84 3.6. Clobal unit sales of virtual reality headsets in the fourth quarter of 2019 and the fourth quarter of 2020, by device 86 3.7. The general architecture of the metaverse 87 3.8. The diagram illustrates how humans perceive the virtual world from an an- thropocentric perspective 90 3.9. A comparison of three and six-degrees-of-freedom 91 3.10. In the five perspectives, virtual and augmented reality are analyzed with regard to their effects and fields of action 93 3.11. Manufacturing applications of immersive technologies in 2020 according to industry experts in the United States 96 3.12. The continuum of the XR training application 100 4.1. Real cymbal stand vs virtual reality cymbal stand. Both are fully assembled. 106 4.2. Objects are picked up using the grip button, while the touch-pad and trigger are used to interact with them 107 4.3. An example of the training tutorial and its components. 110 4.5. Real-world setup compared with virtual training environment 111 4.6. Physical assembly task in the real-world setup 112 4.7. Points displayed over the cymbal stand, confetti rain after completion of the assembly task 114 4.8. The distri	3.2. 3.3.	Mirror stereoscope front and top view	79 82
3.5. An overview of the three-dimensional display system	3.4.	Original patent sketch for the first head-mounted display	83
3.6. Global unit sales of virtual reality headsets in the fourth quarter of 2019 and the fourth quarter of 2020, by device	3.5.	An overview of the three-dimensional display system	84
3.7. The general architecture of the metaverse 87 3.8. The diagram illustrates how humans perceive the virtual world from an anthropocentric perspective 90 3.9. A comparison of three- and six-degrees-of-freedom 91 3.10. In the five perspectives, virtual and augmented reality are analyzed with regard to their effects and fields of action 93 3.11. Manufacturing applications of immersive technologies in 2020 according to industry experts in the United States 96 3.12. The continuum of the XR training application 100 4.1. Real cymbal stand vs virtual reality cymbal stand. Both are fully assembled. 106 4.2. Objects are picked up using the grip button, while the touch-pad and trigger are used to interact with them 107 4.3. An example of the training tutorial and its components 109 4.4. A combination of arrows, scales, and flashing material is used to provide indications 110 4.5. Real-world setup compared with virtual training environment 111 4.6. Physical assembly task in the real-world setup 112 4.7. Points displayed over the cymbal stand, confetti rain after completion of the assembly task 114 4.8. The distribution of the 50 participants by age 115 4.9. Measurement of the mean number of errors and criticality of participants with no previous VR experience for both versions of the test application, as well as stan	3.6.	the fourth guarter of 2020, by device	86
 3.8. The diagram illustrates how humans perceive the virtual world from an anthropocentric perspective	3.7.	The general architecture of the metaverse	87
3.9. A comparison of three- and six-degrees-of-freedom 91 3.10. In the five perspectives, virtual and augmented reality are analyzed with regard to their effects and fields of action 93 3.11. Manufacturing applications of immersive technologies in 2020 according to industry experts in the United States 96 3.12. The continuum of the XR training application 100 4.1. Real cymbal stand vs virtual reality cymbal stand. Both are fully assembled. 106 4.2. Objects are picked up using the grip button, while the touch-pad and trigger are used to interact with them 107 4.3. An example of the training tutorial and its components 109 4.4. A combination of arrows, scales, and flashing material is used to provide indications 110 4.5. Real-world setup compared with virtual training environment 111 4.6. Physical assembly task in the real-world setup 112 4.7. Points displayed over the cymbal stand, confetti rain after completion of the assembly task 114 4.8. The distribution of the 50 participants by age 115 4.9. Measurement of the mean number of errors and criticality of participants with no previous VR experience for both versions of the test application, along with the standard error 121 51. A female avatar and a male avatar from the participant's perspective in VR-ST 129 52. An overview of the study's phases in chronologi	3.8.	The diagram illustrates how humans perceive the virtual world from an an-	00
 3.10. In the five perspectives, virtual and augmented reality are analyzed with regard to their effects and fields of action	3.9.	A comparison of three- and six-degrees-of-freedom	90 91
to their effects and fields of action 93 3.11. Manufacturing applications of immersive technologies in 2020 according to industry experts in the United States 96 3.12. The continuum of the XR training application 100 4.1. Real cymbal stand vs virtual reality cymbal stand. Both are fully assembled. 106 4.2. Objects are picked up using the grip button, while the touch-pad and trigger are used to interact with them 107 4.3. An example of the training tutorial and its components 109 4.4. A combination of arrows, scales, and flashing material is used to provide indications 110 4.5. Real-world setup compared with virtual training environment 111 4.6. Physical assembly task in the real-world setup 112 4.7. Points displayed over the cymbal stand, confetti rain after completion of the assembly task 114 4.8. The distribution of the 50 participants by age 115 4.9. Measurement of the mean error count and criticalness for both versions of the testing application, along with the standard error 119 4.10. Measurement of the mean number of errors and criticality of participants with no previous VR experience for both versions of the test application, as well as standard errors for each version 121 5.1. A female avatar and a male avatar from the participant's perspective in VR-ST 129 5.2. An overview of the study's phases in	3.10.	In the five perspectives, virtual and augmented reality are analyzed with regard	
3.12. The continuum of the XR training application 96 3.12. The continuum of the XR training application 100 4.1. Real cymbal stand vs virtual reality cymbal stand. Both are fully assembled. 106 4.2. Objects are picked up using the grip button, while the touch-pad and trigger are used to interact with them 107 4.3. An example of the training tutorial and its components 109 4.4. A combination of arrows, scales, and flashing material is used to provide indications 110 4.5. Real-world setup compared with virtual training environment 111 4.6. Physical assembly task in the real-world setup 112 4.7. Points displayed over the cymbal stand, confetti rain after completion of the assembly task 114 4.8. The distribution of the 50 participants by age 115 4.9. Measurement of the mean error count and criticalness for both versions of the testing application, along with the standard error 119 4.10. Measurement of the mean number of errors and criticality of participants with no previous VR experience for both versions of the test application, as well as standard errors for each version 121 5.1. A female avatar and a male avatar from the participant's perspective in VR-ST 129 5.2. An overview of the study's phases in chronological order 131 5.3. An example of a virtual audience that is engaged and bored 133 </td <td>3 11</td> <td>to their effects and fields of action</td> <td>93</td>	3 11	to their effects and fields of action	93
 3.12. The continuum of the XR training application	0.11.	industry experts in the United States	96
 4.1. Real cymbal stand vs virtual reality cymbal stand. Both are fully assembled. 106 4.2. Objects are picked up using the grip button, while the touch-pad and trigger are used to interact with them	3.12.	The continuum of the XR training application	100
are used to interact with them 107 4.3. An example of the training tutorial and its components 109 4.4. A combination of arrows, scales, and flashing material is used to provide indications 109 4.4. A combination of arrows, scales, and flashing material is used to provide indications 110 4.5. Real-world setup compared with virtual training environment 111 4.6. Physical assembly task in the real-world setup 112 4.7. Points displayed over the cymbal stand, confetti rain after completion of the assembly task 114 4.8. The distribution of the 50 participants by age 115 4.9. Measurement of the mean error count and criticalness for both versions of the testing application, along with the standard error 119 4.10. Measurement of the mean number of errors and criticality of participants with no previous VR experience for both versions of the test application, as well as standard errors for each version 121 5.1. A female avatar and a male avatar from the participant's perspective in VR-ST 129 5.2. An overview of the study's phases in chronological order 131 5.3. An example of a virtual audience that is engaged and bored 133 5.4. The heatmap shown above is an example of what a participant viewed 134 5.5. An example of a graph showing words per minute in a report 135	4.1. 4.2.	Real cymbal stand vs virtual reality cymbal stand. Both are fully assembled Objects are picked up using the grip button, while the touch-pad and trigger	106
 4.3. An example of the training tutorial and its components		are used to interact with them	107
 indications in a lifeting states, and maturing matching is about to provide indications in the real-world setup is a set of provide indication indications in the real-world setup is a set of provide indication. In the real-world set indication indication indications in the real-world set indication indication indication. In the real-world set indication indication indication indication indications indication. In the real-world set indication indication indications in the real-world set indication. In the real-world set indication indication indication indication indication. In the real-world set indication indication indication indication indication. In the real-world set indication indication indication indication indication. In the real-world set indication indication indication indication indication indication. In the real-world set indication indication indication indication indication. In the real-world set indication indication indication indication. In the real-world set indication indication indication indication indication indication indication. In the real-world set indication indication indication indication indication. In the real-world set indication indication indication indication indication indication indication indication indication indication. In the real-world set indication indicating indication indication indication indicat	4.3. 4.4	An example of the training tutorial and its components	109
 4.5. Real-world setup compared with virtual training environment	1. 1.	indications	110
 4.6. Physical assembly task in the real-world setup	4.5.	Real-world setup compared with virtual training environment	111
 4.7. Founds displayed over the cyllibal stand, content fail after completion of the assembly task	4.6. 4 7	Physical assembly task in the real-world setup	112
 4.8. The distribution of the 50 participants by age	т./.	assembly task	114
 4.9. Measurement of the mean error count and criticalness for both versions of the testing application, along with the standard error	4.8.	The distribution of the 50 participants by age	115
 4.10. Measurement of the mean number of errors and criticality of participants with no previous VR experience for both versions of the test application, as well as standard errors for each version	4.9.	Measurement of the mean error count and criticalness for both versions of the	110
 no previous VR experience for both versions of the test application, as well as standard errors for each version	4.10.	Measurement of the mean number of errors and criticality of participants with	119
 standard errors for each version		no previous VR experience for both versions of the test application, as well as	
 5.1. A female avatar and a male avatar from the participant's perspective in VR-ST 129 5.2. An overview of the study's phases in chronological order		standard errors for each version	121
 5.2. An overview of the study's phases in chronological order	5.1.	A female avatar and a male avatar from the participant's perspective in VR-ST	129
 5.3. An example of a virtual audience that is engaged and bored	5.2.	An overview of the study's phases in chronological order	131
5.5. An example of a graph showing words per minute in a report	5.3. 54	An example of a virtual audience that is engaged and bored	133 124
	5.4. 5.5	An example of a graph showing words per minute in a report	134 135

5.6.	An analysis of the participant's physical movement based on a heatmap	136
5.7.	A report example with filler words	137
5.8.	An example of an analysis of body language of a report, which provides some	
	indication of performance	138
5.9.	An example of the fluctuating attention of the virtual audience during the	
	presentation	138
5.10.	A continuous cycle of practice and feedback	144
5.11.	Technology acceptance: the conceptual model	146
5.12.	The technology acceptance model	147
5.13.	A comparison of the simulation-based feedback and direct feedback versions .	149
5.14.	Female and male avatars in VR as seen by the participants	149
5.15.	Example of an animation of a bored character in the audience	150
5.16.	Gamified direct feedback in a VR speech situation	150
5.17.	A comparison of direct feedback interfaces	151
5.18.	At the end of the speech, a summary of the awarded stars that reflect the	
	quality of the performance was given	152
5.19.	The two phases of the study	155
7.1.	The four-phase model of XR training	173

List of Tables

 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. 2.4. 	Lifelong Learning: some definitions offered by the UNESCO-UNEVOC Characteristics of hard skills training	10 22 23 28
3.1.	Comparative properties of VR and traditional computer graphics	80
4.1.	An overview of all metrics collected during the experiment	117
4.2.	Comparison of the time results obtained by the two groups tested in the virtual training and in the real world test	118
4.3.	The number of errors made by the experimental and control groups during the	
	real-world task	118
4.4.	criticalness of errors committed by participants in the experimental and control groups during the real-world task	120
4.5.	Number of errors made by participants in the experimental and control groups	120
	with no prior VR experience during the real world task	120
4.6.	Criticalness of the errors made by participants with no prior VR experience in the experimental and control groups during the real task	122
5.1.	Summary of the criteria of successful public speaking	126
5.2.	A brief overview of learning outcomes	127
5.3.	System-checked filler words during presentations	130
5.4.	These metrics were used to generate reports for each participant and for the	
	adaptive attention system for the audience.	132
5.5.	Filler words	139
5.6.	Eye contact	140
5.7.	Body language	140
5.8.	Degree of attention: color coding	150
5.9.	Metrics used to generate feedback for each participant and determine the	
	audience's adaptive attention	153
5.10.	Characteristics and distributions of the sample	154
5.11.	H1: Estimated marginal means (EMM) and standard errors (SE)	156
5.12.	Results of the MANOVA for H1	157
5.13.	H2: Estimated marginal means (EMM) and standard errors (SE)	157
5.14.	Results of the MANOVA for H2	158

Acronyms

AR augmented reality.
DoF Degrees-of-Freedom.
ERG Existence, Relatedness and Growth.
MR mixed reality.
PRCS personal report of confidence as a speaker.
TAM technology acceptance model.
VR virtual reality.
VR-ST virtual reality speech training.
WPM words per minute.
XR extended reality.

Bibliography

- [Abi+19] M. H. Abidi, A. Al-Ahmari, A. Ahmad, W. Ameen, and H. Alkhalefah. "Assessment of virtual reality-based manufacturing assembly training system". In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 105.9 (2019), pp. 3743–3759.
- [AKH01] R. J. Adams, D. Klowden, and B. Hannaford. "Virtual training for a manual assembly task". In: *Haptics-e, The electronic journal of haptics research* 2.2 (2001), pp. 1–7.
- [AM03] M. de Aguilera and A. Mendiz. "Video Games and Education: (Education in the Face of a "Parallel School")". In: *Computers in Entertainment (CIE)* 1.1 (Oct. 2003).
- [Ald72] C. P. Alderfer. *Existence, relatedness, and growth: Human needs in organizational settings.* Free press, 1972.
- [AG79] C. P. Alderfer and R. A. Guzzo. "Life experiences and adults' enduring strength of desires in organizations". In: *Administrative Science Quarterly* (1979), pp. 347– 361.
- [Alj+19] H. M. Aljaroodi, M. T. P. Adam, R. Chiong, and T. Teubner. "Avatars and Embodied Agents in Experimental Information Systems Research: A Systematic Review and Conceptual Framework". In: *Australasian Journal of Information Systems* 23 (Oct. 2019). DOI: 10.3127/ajis.v23i0.1841. URL: https://journal.acs.org.au/index.php/ajis/article/view/1841.
- [Alm+21] J. Almaazmi, M. Alshurideh, B. Al Kurdi, and S. A. Salloum. "The Effect of Digital Transformation on Product Innovation: A Critical Review". In: *Proceedings of the International Conference on Advanced Intelligent Systems and Informatics 2020*. Ed. by A. E. Hassanien, A. Slowik, V. Snášel, H. El-Deeb, and F. M. Tolba. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2021, pp. 731–741.
- [ASM17] M. Alshmemri, L. Shahwan-Akl, and P. Maude. "Herzberg's two-factor theory". In: *Life Science Journal* 14.5 (2017), pp. 12–16.
- [Amb+10] S. A. Ambrose, M. W. Bridges, M. DiPietro, M. C. Lovett, and M. K. Norman. *How learning works: Seven research-based principles for smart teaching*. John Wiley & Sons, 2010.
- [Ame92] C. Ames. "Classrooms: Goals, structures, and student motivation." In: *Journal of educational psychology* 84.3 (1992), p. 261.

- [ASB15] S. Amrou, M. Semmann, and T. Böhmann. "Enhancing transfer-of-training for corporate training services: Conceptualizing transfer-supporting IT components with theory-driven design." In: *Wirtschaftsinformatik*. 2015, pp. 195–209.
- [Anj+21] N. Anjum, M. A. Islam, M. I. Choudhury, and J. Saha. "Do Intrinsic Rewards Matter on Motivation? Evidence from Primary School Teachers of Bangladesh". In: SEISENSE Journal of Management 4.1 (Jan. 2021), pp. 47–58. DOI: 10.33215/sjom. v4i1.534. URL: https://journal.seisense.com/index.php/jom/article/ view/534.
- [ARR21] A. Ansar, A. Rafi, and R. M. Rizvi. "Is behaviourism really dead? a scoping review to document the presence of behaviourism in current medical education". In: *Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association* 71.4 (2021), pp. 1214–1220.
- [AS16] R. P. de Araujo and V. T. Souto. "Information Design Elements in Videogames: A Proposed Classification". In: *Design, User Experience, and Usability: Novel User Experiences*. Ed. by A. Marcus. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016, pp. 294–302. ISBN: 978-3-319-40355-7.
- [Arn17] E. Arney. *Learning for organizational development: How to design, deliver and evaluate effective L&D.* Kogan Page Publishers, 2017.
- [AB02] C. Arnolds and C. Boshoff. "Compensation, esteem valence and job performance: an empirical assessment of Alderfer's ERG theory". In: *The International Journal of Human Resource Management* 13.4 (2002), pp. 697–719. DOI: 10.1080/09585190210125868. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/09585190210125868.
 URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/09585190210125868.
- [Arp13] V. P. J. Arponen. "The extent of cognitivism". In: History of the Human Sciences 26.5 (2013). PMID: 24014081, pp. 3–21. DOI: 10.1177/0952695113500778. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1177/0952695113500778. URL: https://doi.org/10. 1177/0952695113500778.
- [Ass+94] A. P. Association et al. "DSM-IV: diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders". In: *Washington, DC: The Association* 1 (1994), p. 994.
- [AA12] H. Ates and K. Alsal. "The importance of lifelong learning has been increasing". In: *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences* 46 (2012), pp. 4092–4096.
- [Azu+01] R. Azuma, Y. Baillot, R. Behringer, S. Feiner, S. Julier, and B. MacIntyre. "Recent advances in augmented reality". In: *IEEE computer graphics and applications* 21.6 (2001), pp. 34–47.
- [Azu97] R. T. Azuma. "A survey of augmented reality". In: *Presence: teleoperators & virtual environments* 6.4 (1997), pp. 355–385.
- [BJ06] P. Bach and C. Jordon. "At a Crossroads: Video Game Addiction". In: XRDS 13.2 (Dec. 2006), p. 2. ISSN: 1528-4972. DOI: 10.1145/1217728.1217730. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/1217728.1217730.

[Bea15]	K. S. Beard. "Theoretically speaking: An interview with Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi on flow theory development and its usefulness in addressing contemporary challenges in education". In: <i>Educational Psychology Review</i> 27.2 (2015), pp. 353–364.
[Bel+17]	B. S. Bell, S. I. Tannenbaum, J. K. Ford, R. A. Noe, and K. Kraiger. "100 years of training and development research: What we know and where we should go." In: <i>Journal of Applied Psychology</i> 102.3 (2017), p. 305.
[Ber19]	V. Berger. "Social norm-based gamification to promote eco-friendly food choice". In: <i>Journal of Consumer Marketing</i> (2019).
[Ber14]	S. B. Berkup. "Working With Generations X And Y In Generation Z Period: Management Of Different Generations In Business Life". In: <i>Mediterranean Journal</i> <i>of Social Sciences</i> 5.19 (Sept. 2014), p. 218.
[Bir09]	V. F. Birkenbihl. Signale des Körpers: Körpersprache verstehen. mvg Verlag, 2009.
[Bis19]	M. M. Bishop. "Addressing the Employment Challenge: The Use of Postsec- ondary Noncredit Training in Skills Development." In: <i>American Enterprise Insti-</i> <i>tute</i> (2019).
[BV19]	E. Bottani and G. Vignali. "Augmented reality technology in the manufacturing industry: A review of the last decade". In: <i>Iise Transactions</i> 51.3 (2019), pp. 284–310.
[Bou12]	P. Bouchard. "Self-directed Learning and Learner Autonomy". In: <i>Encyclopedia of the Sciences of Learning</i> . Ed. by N. M. Seel. Springer US, 2012, pp. 2997–3000. ISBN: 978-1-4419-1428-6. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1428-6_1781.
[Bow+14]	M. Bower, C. Howe, N. McCredie, A. Robinson, and D. Grover. "Augmented Reality in education–cases, places and potentials". In: <i>Educational Media International</i> 51.1 (2014), pp. 1–15.
[Boy09]	S. Boyer. "A virtual failure: Evaluating the success of Nintendo's Virtual Boy". In: <i>The Velvet Light Trap</i> 64 (2009), pp. 23–33.
[BD18]	A. Bozkurt and G. Durak. "A systematic review of gamification research: In pursuit of homo ludens". In: <i>International Journal of Game-Based Learning (IJGBL)</i> 8.3 (2018), pp. 15–33.
[BBG22]	H. Breuer, J. Bessant, and S. Gudiksen. <i>Using Games to Drive Innovation and Facilitate Learning</i> . Berlin, Boston: De Gruyter, 2022. ISBN: 9783110725582. DOI: doi:10.1515/9783110725582. URL: https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110725582.
[Bri06]	R. O. Brinkerhoff. "Increasing impact of training investments: An evaluation strat- egy for building organizational learning capability". In: <i>Industrial and commercial</i> <i>training</i> (2006).
[Bro99]	F. P. Brooks. "What's real about virtual reality?" In: <i>IEEE Computer graphics and applications</i> 19.6 (1999), pp. 16–27.

- [Bug+18] J. Bughin, E. Hazan, S. Lund, P. Dahlström, A. Wiesinger, and A. Subramaniam. Skill shift: Automation and the future of the workforce. 2018. URL: https: //www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/future-of-work/skill-shiftautomation-and-the-future-of-the-workforce (visited on 04/02/2019).
- [BT10] M. Bulearca and D. Tamarjan. "Augmented reality: A sustainable marketing tool". In: *Global business and management research: An international journal* 2.2 (2010), pp. 237–252.
- [Bur12] K. Burgun. *Game design theory: A new philosophy for understanding games*. AK Peters/CRC Press, 2012.
- [Bur14] B. Burke. Gartner Redefines Gamification. 2014. URL: https://blogs.gartner. com/brian_burke/2014/04/04/gartner-redefines-gamification/ (visited on 04/03/2021).
- [Cai01] R. Caillois. *Man, play, and games*. University of Illinois press, 2001.
- [CMP20] L. Caporarello, B. Manzoni, and B. Panariello. "Learning and Development Is the Key. How Well Are Companies Doing to Facilitate Employees' Learning?" In: *Methodologies and Intelligent Systems for Technology Enhanced Learning, 9th International Conference*. Ed. by R. Gennari, P. Vittorini, F. De la Prieta, T. Di Mascio, M. Temperini, R. Azambuja Silveira, and D. A. Ovalle Carranza. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2020, pp. 80–88. ISBN: 978-3-030-23990-9.
- [Cap15] P. H. Cappelli. "Skill gaps, skill shortages, and skill mismatches: Evidence and arguments for the United States". In: *ILR review* 68.2 (2015), pp. 251–290.
- [CNW17] M. T. Cardador, G. B. Northcraft, and J. Whicker. "A theory of work gamification: Something old, something new, something borrowed, something cool?" In: *Human Resource Management Review* 27.2 (2017), pp. 353–365.
- [Car03] R. Cartwright. *Implementing a Training and Development Strategy: Training and Development*. Capstone Publishing Limited (a Wiley company), 2003. ISBN: 9781841124940.
- [Cas03] E. Castronova. "Theory of the Avatar". In: SSRN Electronic Journal (2003). DOI: 10.2139/ssrn.385103. URL: https://www.ssrn.com/abstract=385103 (visited on 06/11/2022).
- [Cau12] J. R. Caulton. "The development and use of the theory of ERG: A literature review". In: *Emerging Leadership Journeys* 5.1 (2012), pp. 2–8.
- [Cha21] D. Chandross. Defining Gamification: My View. 2021. URL: https://www.linkedin. com/pulse/defining-gamification-my-view-david-chandross-ph-d-/ (visited on 03/10/2022).
- [CM22] G. Chapman and S. Macht. "The SAGE Encyclopedia of Higher Education". In: pages 972-975. 4 vols. Thousand Oaks, SAGE Publications, Inc., June 9, 2022. DOI: 10.4135/9781529714395. URL: https://sk.sagepub.com/reference/the-sageencyclopedia-of-higher-education.

- [Che07] J. Chen. "Flow in Games (and Everything Else)". In: Communications of the ACM 50.4 (Apr. 2007), pp. 31–34. ISSN: 0001-0782. DOI: 10.1145/1232743.1232769. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/1232743.1232769.
- [Cho+15] M. Chollet, T. Wörtwein, L.-P. Morency, A. Shapiro, and S. Scherer. "Exploring feedback strategies to improve public speaking: an interactive virtual audience framework". In: *Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing*. 2015, pp. 1143–1154.
- [Chu09] M. Chuttur. "Overview of the Technology Acceptance Model: Origins, Developments and Future Directions". In: *All Sprouts Content.* 290. (2009).
- [CW98] H. H. Clark and T. Wasow. "Repeating words in spontaneous speech". In: *Cognitive psychology* 37.3 (1998), pp. 201–242.
- [Cla17] K. R. Clark. "Managing multiple generations in the workplace". In: *Radiologic technology* 88.4 (2017), pp. 379–396.
- [Con19] Confederation of British Industry 2019. Employers and lifelong learning: the importance of upskilling and retraining in a modern economy. 2019. URL: https://www.cbi. org.uk/media/3715/employer-and-lifelong-learning-report.pdf (visited on 07/08/2021).
- [CN07] C. A. Coonradt and L. Nelson. *The game of work*. Gibbs Smith, 2007.
- [CS20] F. Corbett and E. Spinello. "Connectivism and leadership: harnessing a learning theory for the digital age to redefine leadership in the twenty-first century". In: *Heliyon* 6.1 (2020).
- [Cra+21] E. E. Cranmer, D.-I. D. Han, M. van Gisbergen, and T. Jung. "Esports matrix: Structuring the esports research agenda". In: *Computers in Human Behavior* 117 (2021), p. 106671.
- [Cro+21] R. D. Croon, J. Geuens, K. Verbert, and V. Vanden Abeele. "A systematic review of the effect of gamification on adherence across disciplines". In: *International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*. Springer. 2021, pp. 168–184.
- [CC06] M. Csikszentmihalyi and I. S. Csikszentmihalyi. *A life worth living: Contributions to positive psychology*. Oxford University Press, 2006.
- [CL89] M. Csikszentmihalyi and J. LeFevre. "Optimal experience in work and leisure." In: *Journal of personality and social psychology* 56.5 (1989), pp. 815–822.
- [Cuc+21] J. M. Cucina, K. A. Byle, N. R. Martin, S. T. Peyton, and I. F. Gast. "Generational differences in workplace attitudes and job satisfaction: Lack of sizable differences across cohorts". In: *Journal of Managerial Psychology* 33.3 (2021), pp. 246–264.
- [Cug13] B. Cugelman. "Gamification: what it is and why it matters to digital health behavior change developers". In: *JMIR serious games* 1.1 (2013), e3139.
- [Dal+15] M. Dalaya, S. Ishaquddin, M. Ghadage, and G. Hatte. "An interesting review on soft skills and dental practice". In: *Journal of clinical and diagnostic research (JCDR)* 9.3 (2015), ZE19.

- [Dal14] S. Dale. "Gamification: Making work fun, or making fun of work?" In: *Business information review* 31.2 (2014), pp. 82–90.
- [Dam+15] I. Damian, C. S. Tan, T. Baur, J. Schöning, K. Luyten, and E. André. "Augmenting social interactions: Realtime behavioural feedback using social signal processing techniques". In: *Proceedings of the 33rd annual ACM conference on Human factors in computing systems*. 2015, pp. 565–574.
- [Dan20] L. Daniela. New Perspectives on Virtual and Augmented Reality: Finding New Ways to Teach in a Transformed Learning Environment. Routledge, 2020.
- [Dav85] F. D. Davis. "A technology acceptance model for empirically testing new end-user information systems: Theory and results". PhD thesis. Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 1985.
- [DBW92] F. D. Davis, R. P. Bagozzi, and P. R. Warshaw. "Extrinsic and intrinsic motivation to use computers in the workplace". In: *Journal of applied social psychology* 22.14 (1992), pp. 1111–1132.
- [DBW89] F. D. Davis, R. P. Bagozzi, and P. R. Warshaw. "User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models". In: *Management science* 35.8 (1989), pp. 982–1003.
- [DS13] S. Deepa and M. Seth. "Do soft skills matter?-Implications for educators based on recruiters' perspective". In: *IUP Journal of Soft Skills* 7.1 (2013), p. 7.
- [Det+11a] S. Deterding, D. Dixon, R. Khaled, and L. Nacke. "From game design elements to gamefulness: defining "gamification"". In: *Proceedings of the 15th international* academic MindTrek conference: Envisioning future media environments. 2011, pp. 9–15.
- [Det+11b] S. Deterding, R. Khaled, L. E. Nacke, D. Dixon, et al. "Gamification: Toward a definition". In: CHI 2011 gamification workshop proceedings. Vol. 12. Vancouver BC, Canada. 2011, pp. 12–15.
- [DS20] M. Dhaliwal and V. Saravanan. "Study on Training and Development Practices in IT Companies". In: *JournalNX* (2020), pp. 15–20.
- [Die+15] J. Diemer, G. W. Alpers, H. M. Peperkorn, Y. Shiban, and A. Mühlberger. "The impact of perception and presence on emotional reactions: a review of research in virtual reality". In: *Frontiers in psychology* 6 (2015), p. 26.
- [DD98] K. E. Dill and J. C. Dill. "Video game violence: A review of the empirical literature". In: *Aggression and Violent Behavior* 3.4 (1998), pp. 407–428.
- [Doe+22] R. Doerner, W. Broll, B. Jung, P. Grimm, M. Göbel, and R. Kruse. "Introduction to Virtual and Augmented Reality". In: *Virtual and Augmented Reality (VR/AR): Foundations and Methods of Extended Realities (XR)*. Ed. by R. Doerner, W. Broll, P. Grimm, and B. Jung. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2022, pp. 1–37. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-79062-2_1.
- [Dom17] S. Domsch. "Dialogue in video games". In: *Dialogue across media* 28 (2017), p. 251.

- [Don+21] M. Dondi, J. Klier, F. Panier, and J. Schubert. Defining the skills citizens will need in the future world of work. 2021. URL: https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/ public-and-social-sector/our-insights/defining-the-skills-citizenswill-need-in-the-future-world-of-work (visited on 12/12/2021).
- [Dör+19] R. Dörner, W. Broll, P. Grimm, and B. Jung, eds. Virtual und Augmented Reality (VR/AR): Grundlagen und Methoden der Virtuellen und Augmentierten Realität. Springer Vieweg Berlin, Heidelberg, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-662-58861-1.
- [Duc+09] N. Ducheneaut, M.-H. Wen, N. Yee, and G. Wadley. "Body and Mind: A Study of Avatar Personalization in Three Virtual Worlds". In: *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. CHI '09. Boston, MA, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2009, pp. 1151–1160. ISBN: 9781605582467. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/1518701.1518877.
- [DR14] N. Duță and E. Rafailă. "Importance of the lifelong learning for professional development of university teachers–needs and practical Implications". In: *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences* 127 (2014), pp. 801–806.
- [ELL68] J. Ehrmann, C. Lewis, and P. Lewis. "Homo ludens revisited". In: *Yale French Studies* 41 (1968), pp. 31–57.
- [Eng+12] E. L. England, J. D. Herbert, E. M. Forman, S. J. Rabin, A. Juarascio, and S. P. Goldstein. "Acceptance-based exposure therapy for public speaking anxiety". In: *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science* 1.1 (2012), pp. 66–72. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2012.07.001.
- [EH99] J. Erpenbeck and V. Heyse. *Die kompetenzbiographie: Strategien der Kompetenzentwicklung durch selbstorganisiertes Lernen und multimediale Kommunikation.* Waxmann, 1999.
- [Eur17] European Commission. Employment, Social Affairs Inclusion: Understanding skills. 2017. URL: https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1215&langId=en (visited on 05/05/2019).
- [Eur01] European Commission (EC). *Making a European area of lifelong learning a reality*. European Commission, 2001.
- [Eur22] European Education and Culture Executive Agency (EACEA). Commission kickstarts work on the European Year of Skills. 2022. URL: https://epale.ec.europa.eu/ en/content/commission-kick-starts-work-european-year-skills (visited on 12/11/2022).
- [Eur19] European Education and Culture Executive Agency (EACEA). Is informal learning more valuable than formal education? 2019. URL: https://epale.ec.europa.eu/ en/blog/informal-learning-more-valuable-formal-education (visited on 02/07/2022).
- [FP18] A. Faisal and M. Peltoniemi. "Establishing Video Game Genres Using Data-Driven Modeling and Product Databases". In: *Games and Culture* 13.1 (2018), pp. 20–43. DOI: 10.1177/1555412015601541.

[FGL18]	Å. Fast-Berglund, L. Gong, and D. Li. "Testing and validating Extended Reality (xR) technologies in manufacturing". In: <i>Procedia Manufacturing</i> 25 (2018), pp. 31–38.
[Fau21]	A. Faust. <i>The Effects of Gamification on Motivation and Performance</i> . Springer Gabler Wiesbaden, 2021.
[Fer+20]	E. Fernández-Ahumada, J. Montejo-Gámez, P. Sánchez-Zamora, M. Benlloch-González, L. Ortiz-Medina, M. C. Beato, and E. V. Taguas. "Development of professional skills in higher education: Problem-based learning supported by immersive worlds". In: <i>New Perspectives on Virtual and Augmented Reality</i> . Routledge, 2020, pp. 64–81.
[FKC19]	V. Ferrari, G. Klinker, and F. Cutolo. "Augmented Reality in Healthcare". In: <i>Journal of Healthcare Engineering</i> vol. 2019 (2019), pp. 1–2.
[FBR21]	A. Fetsi, U. Bardak, and F. Rosso. <i>Changing skills for a changing world: understanding skills demand in EU neighbouring countries – a collection of articles</i> . European Training Foundation, 2021.
[Fis00]	G. Fischer. "Lifelong learning—more than training". In: <i>Journal of Interactive Learning Research</i> 11.3 (2000), pp. 265–294.
[FA77]	M. Fishbein and I. Ajzen. "Belief, attitude, intention, and behavior: An introduction to theory and research". In: <i>Philosophy and Rhetoric</i> 10.2 (1977).
[Fra13]	G. Frasca. "Simulation versus narrative: Introduction to ludology". In: <i>The video game theory reader</i> . Routledge, 2013, pp. 243–258.
[Fro03]	J. Fromme. "Computer games as a part of children's culture". In: <i>Game studies</i> 3.1 (2003), pp. 49–62.
[Fuc17]	P. Fuchs. <i>Virtual reality headsets-a theoretical and pragmatic approach</i> . CRC Press, 2017.
[Gaf22]	L. Gaff. Datenschutz bei Virtual und Augmented Reality - Datenschutz bei Virtual und Augmented Reality: Einwilligung und Interessenabwägung zur Legitimation von Bewegungstracking und Umgebungserfassung. Springer Wiesbaden, 2022.
[Gal+22]	A. Gallego, L. McHugh, M. Penttonen, and R. Lappalainen. "Measuring pub- lic speaking anxiety: self-report, behavioral, and physiological". In: <i>Behavior</i> <i>Modification</i> 46.4 (2022), pp. 782–798.
[Gal20]	Gallup, Inc. What Is Employee Engagement and How Do You Improve It? 2020. URL: https://www.gallup.com/workplace/285674/improve-employee-engagement-workplace.aspx (visited on 06/10/2022).
[Gar97]	T. N. Garavan. "Training, development, education and learning: different or the same?" In: <i>Journal of European industrial training</i> (1997).
[Gar18]	T. A. Garner. "Technological History". In: <i>Echoes of Other Worlds: Sound in Virtual Reality</i> . Springer, 2018, pp. 181–212.

[Gav+15]	N. Gavish, T. Gutiérrez, S. Webel, J. Rodriguez, M. Peveri, U. Bockholt, and F. Tecchia. "Evaluating virtual reality and augmented reality training for industrial maintenance and assembly tasks". In: <i>Interactive Learning Environments</i> 23.6 (2015), pp. 778–798.
[Ghe09]	S. Gherardi. <i>Organizational knowledge: The texture of workplace learning</i> . John Wiley & Sons, 2009.
[Gig93]	M. A. Gigante. "1 - Virtual Reality: Definitions, History and Applications". In: <i>Virtual Reality Systems</i> . Ed. by R. Earnshaw, M. Gigante, and H. Jones. Boston: Academic Press, 1993, pp. 3–14. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-227748-1.50009-3.
[GHS06]	R. Gleich, U. Handermann, and M. Shaffu. "Innovationskultur: Basis für nach- haltige Innovationsleistung". In: <i>Innovationskultur und Ideenmanagement: Strategien</i> <i>und praktische Ansätze für mehr Wachstum</i> . Ed. by T. Sommerlatte, G. Beyer, and S. Gerrit. Düsseldorf: Symposion Publishing GmbH, 2006, pp. 61–84.
[GR21]	C. Gong and V. Ribiere. "Developing a unified definition of digital transforma- tion". In: <i>Technovation</i> 102 (2021), p. 102217. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. technovation.2020.102217. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0166497220300894.
[Gon+20]	M. Gonzalez Franco, A. Steed, S. Hoogendyk, and E. Ofek. "Using Facial Anima- tion to Increase the Enfacement Illusion and Avatar Self-Identification". In: <i>IEEE</i> <i>Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics</i> (Mar. 2020).
[GP18]	M. Gonzalez-Franco and T. C. Peck. "Avatar embodiment. towards a standardized questionnaire". In: <i>Frontiers in Robotics and AI</i> 5 (2018), p. 74.
[Goo22]	Google Trends. <i>Google Trends, Query: Gamification.</i> 2022. URL: https://trends.google.com/trends/explore?q=gamification (visited on 09/04/2022).
[Got85]	A. E. Gottfried. "Academic intrinsic motivation in elementary and junior high school students." In: <i>Journal of educational psychology</i> 77.6 (1985), p. 631.
[Gra20]	A. Grabowski. Virtual reality and virtual environments: a tool for improving occupa- tional safety and health. CRC Press, 2020.
[GPH20]	D. Gramß, P. Pillath, and A. Holland-Cunz. "Lernen im digitalen Wandel – Äng- ste abbauen und digitale Kompetenzen von Beschäftigten fördern". In: <i>Führen und</i> <i>Managen in der digitalen Transformation: Trends, Best Practices und Herausforderungen.</i> Ed. by M. Harwardt, P. FJ. Niermann, A. M. Schmutte, and A. Steuernagel. Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, 2020, pp. 183–199. ISBN: 978-3-658-28670-5. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-28670-5_11.
[GLE14]	I. Granic, A. Lobel, and R. C. Engels. "The benefits of playing video games." In: <i>American psychologist</i> 69.1 (2014), p. 66.
[GA08]	A. M. Grant and S. J. Ashford. "The dynamics of proactivity at work". In: <i>Research in organizational behavior</i> 28 (2008), pp. 3–34.

- [GR17] J. Gray and B. Rumpe. "Models for the digital transformation". In: Software & Systems Modeling 16.2 (2017), pp. 307–308. DOI: 10.1007/s10270-017-0596-7. URL: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10270-017-0596-7 (visited on 06/08/2021).
- [Gra18] P. Gray. Benefits of Play Revealed in Research on Video Gaming. 2018. URL: https: //www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/freedom-learn/201803/benefitsplay-revealed-in-research-video-gaming (visited on 04/11/2021).
- [Gra15] P. Gray. Cognitive Benefits of Playing Video Games. 2015. URL: https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/freedom-learn/201502/cognitive-benefits-playing-video-games (visited on 04/10/2021).
- [Gri+83] J. L. Griffith, P. Voloschin, G. D. Gibb, and J. R. Bailey. "Differences in Eye-Hand Motor Coordination of Video-Game Users and Non-Users". In: *Perceptual and Motor Skills* 57.1 (1983), pp. 155–158. DOI: 10.2466/pms.1983.57.1.155.
- [Gri+06] H. Grillon, F. Riquier, B. Herbelin, and D. Thalmann. "Use of Virtual Reality as Therapeutic Tool for Behavioural Exposure in the Ambit of Social". In: *International Conference Series on Disability, Virtual Reality and Associated Technologies* (*ICDVRAT*). CONF. 2006.
- [Gru83] G. W. Grumet. "Eye contact: The core of interpersonal relatedness". In: *Psychiatry* 46.2 (1983), pp. 172–180.
- [Gue15] D. E. Guest. "Evaluation of Training". In: Wiley Encyclopedia of Management. John Wiley Sons, Ltd, 2015, pp. 1–3. ISBN: 9781118785317. DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1002/9781118785317.weom050028.URL: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/abs/10.1002/9781118785317.weom050028.
- [Gut08] S. F. Gutzeit. *Die Stimme wirkungsvoll einsetzen: das Stimm-Potenzial erfolgreich nutzen*. Vol. 620. Beltz, 2008.
- [Gya+14] D. Gyarmati, N. Leckie, M. Dowie, B. Palameta, T. Hui, E. Dunn, and S. Hébert. UPSKILL: A credible test of workplace literacy and essential skills training. 2014. URL: https://www.srdc.org/media/199774/upskill-technical-report-en.pdf (visited on 02/01/2019).
- [HO76] J. R. Hackman and G. R. Oldham. "Motivation through the design of work: Test of a theory". In: *Organizational behavior and human performance* 16.2 (1976), pp. 250–279.
- [HKS14] J. Hamari, J. Koivisto, and H. Sarsa. "Does gamification work?-a literature review of empirical studies on gamification". In: 2014 47th Hawaii international conference on system sciences. IEEE. 2014, pp. 3025–3034.
- [HS17] J. Hamari and M. Sjöblom. "What is eSports and why do people watch it?" In: *Internet research* (2017).
- [Ham05] C. J. Hamblin. "Transfer of *training from virtual reality environments". PhD thesis. Wichita State University, 2005.

- [Han+21] S. E. Hansen, N. Defenbaugh, S. S. Mathieu, L. C. Garufi, and J. A. Dostal. "A Mixed-Methods Exploration of the Developmental Trajectory of Autonomous Motivation in Graduate Medical Learners". In: *Medical Science Educator* 31.6 (2021), pp. 2017–2031.
- [HT91] E. S. Harri-Augstein and L. F. Thomas. *Learning conversations: the self-organised learning way to personal and organisational growth*. Routledge, 1991.
- [Har17] L. J. Harris. *Stand up, speak out: the practice and ethics of public speaking*. University of Wisconsin Milwaukee, 2017.
- [HT07] J. Hattie and H. Timperley. "The power of feedback". In: *Review of educational research* 77.1 (2007), pp. 81–112.
- [Hau22] S. Haunts. *Powerful Presentations: Selling Your Story on Stage or In The Boardroom*. Apress Berkeley, 2022.
- [Hei57] L. M. Heilig. Stereoscopic-television apparatus for individual use. Publication number: US2955156A, https://patentimages.storage.googleapis.com/81/df/f1/ f6cc2106f8c7ab/US2955156.pdf (visited on 05/08/2021). 1957.
- [Hei93] M. Heim. *The metaphysics of virtual reality*. Oxford University Press on Demand, 1993.
- [HM18] A. Hellerstedt and P. Mozelius. "From Comenius to Counter-Strike, 400 years of game-based learning as a didactic foundation". In: 12th Proceedings of ECGBL (2018), pp. 232–239.
- [Her03] F. Herzberg. "One More Time: How do You Motivate Employees?" In: *Harvard business review* (Jan. 2003), pp. 20–30.
- [Hin+11] M. Hincapié, A. Caponio, H. Rios, and E. G. Mendıvil. "An introduction to Augmented Reality with applications in aeronautical maintenance". In: 2011 13th international conference on transparent optical networks. IEEE. 2011, pp. 1–4.
- [HS13] C. Hohenberger and M. Spörrle. "Motivation und motivationsnahe Phänomene im Kontext wirtschaftlichen Handelns". In: *Psychologie der Wirtschaft*. Ed. by M. Landes and E. Steiner. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, 2013, pp. 103–121. ISBN: 978-3-531-18957-4. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-531-18957-4_4. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-531-18957-4_4.
- [HK20] P. Hongal and U. Kinange. "A Study on Talent Management and its Impact on Organization Performance-An Empirical Review". In: International Journal of Engineering and Management Research (IJEMR) 10.1 (2020), pp. 64–71.
- [HSY19] R. Huang, J. M. Spector, and J. Yang. "Introduction to Educational Technology". In: *Educational Technology: A Primer for the 21st Century*. Singapore: Springer Singapore, 2019, pp. 3–31. ISBN: 978-981-13-6643-7. DOI: 10.1007/978-981-13-6643-7_1. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6643-7_1.
- [HNF06] J. Huizinga, H. Nachod, and A. Flitner. *Homo ludens: vom Ursprung der Kultur im Spiel*. Rowohlt Taschenbuch Verlag, 2006.

[HLZ04]	R. Hunicke, M. LeBlanc, and R. Zubek. "MDA: A formal approach to game design and game research". In: <i>Proceedings of the AAAI Workshop on Challenges in Game AI</i> . Vol. 4. 1. San Jose, CA. 2004, p. 1722.
[HH12]	K. Huotari and J. Hamari. "Defining gamification: a service marketing perspec- tive". In: <i>Proceeding of the 16th international academic MindTrek conference</i> . 2012, pp. 17–22.
[Int21]	International Labour Office. Skills and Employability Branch. <i>Skilling, upskilling and reskilling of employees, apprentices and interns during the COVID-19 pandemic: findings from a global survey of enterprises.</i> 2021. URL: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/ed_emp/emp_ent/documents/publication/wcms_794569.pdf (visited on 05/05/2022).
[JCT18]	S. Jamet, E. Canton, and A. Thum-Thysen. <i>Investing in Europe's future: the role of education and skills</i> . European Investment Bank, Luxembourg, 2018.
[Jan+15]	B. Janta, N. Ratzmann, J. Ghez, D. Khodyakov, and O. Yaqub. <i>Employment and the changing labour market: Global societal trends to 2030: Thematic report 5.</i> RAND Corporation, 2015.
[Jar06]	P. Jarvis. Human learning: Towards a comprehensive theory. Routledge, 2006.
[Joh22]	H. John. Embracing the Need to 'Learn and Relearn'- A 21st-century education requires a new kind of literacy. 2022. URL: https://stanfordmag.org/contents/embracing-the-need-to-learn-and-relearn (visited on 07/11/2022).
[Joi12]	Joint Research Centre, Institute for Prospective Technological Studies and Ferrari, A. <i>Digital competence in practice : an analysis of frameworks</i> . Publications Office, 2012.
[JD21]	T. Jung and J. Dalton. XR case studies: using augmented reality and virtual reality technology in business. Springer Cham, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-72781-9.
[KF15]	A. N. Kaczkurkin and E. B. Foa. "Cognitive-behavioral therapy for anxiety disorders: an update on the empirical evidence". In: <i>Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience</i> 17.3 (2015), pp. 337–346. DOI: 10.31887/DCNS.2015.17.3/akaczkurkin.
[Kal09a]	S. Kalyuga. "Managing cognitive load in adaptive ICT-based learning". In: <i>Systemics, Cybernetics and Informatics</i> 7.5 (2009), pp. 16–21.
[Kal09b]	S. Kalyuga. <i>Managing Cognitive Load in Adaptive Multimedia Learning</i> . Information Science Reference - Imprint of: IGI Publishing, 2009. ISBN: 1605660493.
[Kap14]	K. Kapp. <i>Game Element: Feedback</i> . 2014. URL: http://karlkapp.com/game-element-feedback.
[Kap13]	K. M. Kapp. <i>The gamification of learning and instruction fieldbook: Ideas into practice.</i> John Wiley & Sons, 2013.
[Kap12]	K. M. Kapp. <i>The gamification of learning and instruction: game-based methods and strategies for training and education</i> . John Wiley & Sons, 2012.

- [Kat+08] P. M. Kato, S. W. Cole, A. S. Bradlyn, and B. H. Pollock. "A video game improves behavioral outcomes in adolescents and young adults with cancer: a randomized trial". In: *Pediatrics* 122.2 (2008), e305–e317.
- [Kau+14] T. Kautz, J. J. Heckman, R. Diris, B. ter Weel, and L. Borghans. Fostering and Measuring Skills: Improving Cognitive and Non-Cognitive Skills to Promote Lifetime Success. Working Paper 20749. National Bureau of Economic Research, Dec. 2014. DOI: 10.3386/w20749. URL: http://www.nber.org/papers/w20749.
- [Kel12] J. M. Keller. "ARCS Model of Motivation". In: *Encyclopedia of the Sciences of Learning*. Ed. by N. M. Seel. Boston, MA: Springer US, 2012, pp. 304–305. ISBN: 978-1-4419-1428-6. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4419-1428-6_217. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1428-6_217.
- [Kel87] J. M. Keller. "Development and use of the ARCS model of instructional design". In: *Journal of instructional development* 10.3 (Sept. 1, 1987), p. 2. ISSN: 0162-2641. DOI: 10.1007/BF02905780. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02905780.
- [Kel10] J. M. Keller. *Motivational design for learning and performance: the ARCS model approach*. Springer New York, NY, 2010.
- [KT80] E. W. Kelly Jr and J. H. True. "Eye contact and communication of facilitative conditions". In: *Perceptual and Motor Skills* 51.3 (1980), pp. 815–820.
- [Kim18] T. W. Kim. "Gamification of labor and the charge of exploitation". In: *Journal of business ethics* 152.1 (2018), pp. 27–39.
- [KOK17] H. Kimiloglu, M. Ozturan, and B. Kutlu. "Perceptions about and attitude toward the usage of e-learning in corporate training". In: Computers in Human Behavior 72 (2017), pp. 339–349. ISSN: 0747-5632. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb. 2017.02.062. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0747563217301437.
- [Kim19] R. Kimmons. *EdTech in the Wild*. EdTech Books, 2019.
- [KI21] R. Kimmons and J. Irvine. 50 Years of Education Research Trends. EdTech Books, 2021.
- [KS22] M. Knoll and S. Stieglitz. "Augmented Reality und Virtual Reality–Einsatz im Kontext von Arbeit, Forschung und Lehre". In: HMD Praxis der Wirtschaftsinformatik 59.1 (2022), pp. 6–22.
- [KH14] J. Koivisto and J. Hamari. "Demographic differences in perceived benefits from gamification". In: *Computers in Human Behavior* 35 (2014), pp. 179–188.
- [KH19] J. Koivisto and J. Hamari. "The rise of motivational information systems: A review of gamification research". In: International Journal of Information Management 45 (2019), pp. 191–210. ISSN: 0268-4012. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijinfomgt.2018.10.013. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0268401217305169.

- [KS15] O. Korn and A. Schmidt. "Gamification of Business Processes: Re-designing Work in Production and Service Industry". In: Procedia Manufacturing 3 (2015). 6th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics (AHFE 2015) and the Affiliated Conferences, AHFE 2015, pp. 3424-3431. ISSN: 2351-9789. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.616. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2351978915006174. [KMK22] J. Krath, B. Morschheuser, and H. von Korflesch. "Designing Gamification for Sustainable Employee Behavior: Insights on Employee Motivations, Design Features and Gamification Elements". In: Proceedings of the 55th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences. 2022. [Lab18] D. Labode. "The Effect of Gamification on Learning in Virtual Reality Serious Games - an empirical Study". MA thesis. Technical University of Munich, 2018. [LP11] D. R. Laker and J. L. Powell. "The differences between hard and soft skills and their relative impact on training transfer". In: Human Resource Development Quarterly 22.1 (2011), pp. 111–122. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.20063.
- [Lam+06] Y. S. Lam, D. W. Man, S. F. Tam, and P. L. Weiss. "Virtual reality training for stroke rehabilitation". In: *NeuroRehabilitation* 21.3 (2006), pp. 245–253.

URL: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/hrdq.20063.

- [Lan14] R. N. Landers. "Developing a theory of gamified learning: Linking serious games and gamification of learning". In: *Simulation & gaming* 45.6 (2014), pp. 752–768.
- [Lee12] K. Lee. "Augmented reality in education and training". In: *TechTrends* 56.2 (2012), pp. 13–21.
- [Lee21] R. C. Lee. "Are Video Games a Waste of Time?" In: *Take a Stand!* Routledge, 2021.
- [LP00] S. H. Lee and J. A. Pershing. "Evaluation of corporate training programs: Perspectives and issues for further research". In: *Performance Improvement Quarterly* 13.3 (2000), pp. 244–260.
- [Lei21] A. Leifels. "Weiterbildung bricht in der Krise ein—Bedarf an Digitalkompetenzen wächst". In: *KfW Research, Fokus Volkswirtschaft* 329 (2021).
- [LRZ18] T. A. Leopold, V. S. Ratcheva, and S. Zahidi. The Future of Jobs Report 2018, Insight Report. 2018. URL: https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Future_of_Jobs_2020. pdf (visited on 08/02/2021).
- [Li22] L. Li. "Reskilling and upskilling the future-ready workforce for industry 4.0 and beyond". In: *Information Systems Frontiers* (2022), pp. 1–16.
- [Lin21] S. Lindlahr. *Statista Digital Market Outlook*. 2021. URL: https://www.statista.com/study/39310/video-games (visited on 01/10/2022).
- [Lon11] M. London. "Lifelong learning: introduction". In: *The Oxford handbook of lifelong learning*. Oxford University Press, 2011, pp. 3–11.

[LJ12]	R. Low and P. Jin. "Self-organized Learning". In: <i>Encyclopedia of the Sciences of Learning</i> . Ed. by N. M. Seel. Springer US, 2012, pp. 3008–3011. ISBN: 978-1-4419-1428-6. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1428-6_201.
[MWI97]	J. D. Maes, T. G. Weldy, and M. L. Icenogle. "A managerial perspective: Oral communication competency is most important for business students in the workplace". In: <i>Journal of Business Communication</i> 34 (1997), pp. 67–80.
[Mal82]	T. W. Malone. "Heuristics for designing enjoyable user interfaces: Lessons from computer games". In: <i>Proceedings of the 1982 conference on Human factors in computing systems</i> . 1982, pp. 63–68.
[Mal81]	T. W. Malone. "Toward a theory of intrinsically motivating instruction". In: <i>Cognitive science</i> 5.4 (1981), pp. 333–369.
[Mal80]	T. W. Malone. "What makes things fun to learn? A study of intrinsically motivat- ing computer games". PhD thesis. Stanford University, 1980.
[MMK20]	O. Mamatelashvili, E. Mukhamadieva, and T. Khisamova. "Corporate training as a strategic factor of competitiveness". In: <i>E3S Web of Conferences</i> . Vol. 208. EDP Sciences. 2020, p. 09026.
[Man+03]	F. Mantovani, G. Castelnuovo, A. Gaggioli, and G. Riva. "Virtual reality training for health-care professionals". In: <i>CyberPsychology & Behavior</i> 6.4 (2003), pp. 389–395.
[Mar+19]	M. M. Maravilla, A. Cisneros, A. Stoddard, D. D. Scretching, B. K. Murray, and E. Redmiles. "Defining virtual reality: Insights from research and practice". In: <i>iConference</i> 2019 <i>Proceedings</i> (2019).
[Mar18]	A. Marczewski. <i>Even Ninja Monkeys like to play: gemification, game thinking and motivational design</i> . Unicorn edition. Großbritannien: Gamified UK, independently published, 2018. ISBN: 9781724017109.
[Mar15]	A. Marczewski. <i>Grinding to Mastery and Flow</i> . 2015. URL: https://www.gamified.uk/2015/11/17/grinding-to-mastery-and-flow (visited on 10/11/2020).
[Mar21]	A. Marczewski. <i>I was wrong: A definition of gamification that should make sense to everyone!</i> 2021. URL: https://www.gamified.uk/2021/11/15/i-was-wrong-a-definition-of-gamification-that-should-make-sense-to-everyone (visited on 08/12/2022).
[MG95]	A. Marini and R. Généreux. "The challenge of teaching for transfer." In: <i>Teaching for transfer: Fostering generalization in learning</i> . Mahwah, N. J.: Erlbaum, 1995, pp. 1–19.
[Mar11]	T. Marsh. "Serious games continuum: Between games for purpose and experien- tial environments for purpose". In: <i>Entertainment Computing</i> 2.2 (2011), pp. 61– 68.
[Mas43]	A. H. Maslow. "A theory of human motivation." In: <i>Psychological review</i> 50.4 (1943), pp. 370–396.

- [Mat12] M. Matschnig. 30 Minuten Körpersprache verstehen. GABAL Verlag GmbH, 2012.
- [Mäy08] F. Mäyrä. *An introduction to game studies*. SAGE Publications Ltd, 2008.
- [MHD18] C. McCutcheon, M. Hitchens, and A. Drachen. "eSport vs irlSport". In: Advances in Computer Entertainment Technology. Ed. by A. D. Cheok, M. Inami, and T. Romão. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2018, pp. 531–542. ISBN: 978-3-319-76270-8.
- [MB20] D. Mclain and N. Bailey. How Fast Feedback Fuels Performance. 2020. URL: https:// www.gallup.com/workplace/357764/fast-feedback-fuels-performance.aspx (visited on 06/11/2022).
- [McL03] G. McLeod. "Learning theory and instructional design". In: *learning matters* 2.3 (2003), pp. 35–43.
- [Mel+21] A. K. Melzer, A. K. Roarsen, M. H. Hagen, and L. Jaccheri. "Towards Suitable Free-to-Play Games for Children". In: *Entertainment Computing – ICEC 2021*. Ed. by J. Baalsrud Hauge, J. C. S. Cardoso, L. Roque, and P. A. Gonzalez-Calero. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2021, pp. 264–276.
- [MC+99] P. Milgram, H. Colquhoun, et al. "A taxonomy of real and virtual world display integration". In: *Mixed reality: Merging real and virtual worlds* 1.1999 (1999), pp. 1– 26.
- [MK94] P. Milgram and F. Kishino. "A taxonomy of mixed reality visual displays". In: *IEICE TRANSACTIONS on Information and Systems* 77.12 (1994), pp. 1321–1329.
- [Mil+95] P. Milgram, H. Takemura, A. Utsumi, and F. Kishino. "Augmented reality: a class of displays on the reality-virtuality continuum". In: *Telemanipulator and Telepresence Technologies*. Ed. by H. Das. Vol. 2351. International Society for Optics and Photonics. SPIE, 1995, pp. 282–292. DOI: 10.1117/12.197321. URL: https://doi.org/10.1117/12.197321.
- [Mil+20] M. R. Miller, F. Herrera, H. Jun, J. A. Landay, and J. N. Bailenson. "Personal identifiability of user tracking data during observation of 360-degree VR video". In: *Scientific Reports* 10.1 (2020), pp. 1–10.
- [MBG12] J. Mishra, D. Bavelier, and A. Gazzaley. "How to assess gaming-induced benefits on attention and working memory". In: *Games for Health: Research, Development, and Clinical Applications* 1.3 (2012), pp. 192–198.
- [MS04] A. Mitchell and C. Savill-Smith. *The use of computer and video games for learning: A review of the literature*. Learning and Skills Development Agency, 2004.
- [MVG15] L. Molyneux, K. Vasudevan, and H. Gil de Zúñiga. "Gaming Social Capital: Exploring Civic Value in Multiplayer Video Games". In: *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* 20.4 (May 2015), pp. 381–399.

- [Mor+15] N. Morina, H. Ijntema, K. Meyerbröker, and P. M. Emmelkamp. "Can virtual reality exposure therapy gains be generalized to real-life? A meta-analysis of studies applying behavioral assessments". In: *Behaviour research and therapy* 74 (2015), pp. 18–24.
- [Mor04] E. H. Mory. "Feedback research revisited". In: *Handbook of research on educational communications and technology* 2 (2004), pp. 745–783.
- [MSH04] T. S. Mujber, T. Szecsi, and M. S. Hashmi. "Virtual reality applications in manufacturing process simulation". In: *Journal of materials processing technology* 155 (2004), pp. 1834–1838.
- [Mt+16] L. Mtna Kureková, M. Beblav, C. Haita, and A.-E. Thum. "Employers' skill preferences across Europe: between cognitive and non-cognitive skills". In: *Journal of Education and Work* 29.6 (2016), pp. 662–687.
- [ND17] L. E. Nacke and C. S. Deterding. "The maturing of gamification research". In: *Computers in Human Behaviour* (2017), pp. 450–454.
- [NN09] L. Nagowah and S. Nagowah. "A Reflection on the Dominant Learning Theories: Behaviourism, Cognitivism and Constructivism." In: International Journal of Learning 16.2 (2009).
- [Nah+19] F. F.-H. Nah, B. Eschenbrenner, C. C. Claybaugh, and P. B. Koob. "Gamification of enterprise systems". In: *Systems* 7.1 (2019).
- [NC09] J. Nakamura and M. Csikszentmihalyi. "Flow theory and research". In: *Handbook* of positive psychology (2009), pp. 195–206.
- [NC02] J. Nakamura and M. Csikszentmihalyi. *The concept of flow. Handbook of Positive Psychology*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2002.
- [Nee+12] A. Y. Nee, S. Ong, G. Chryssolouris, and D. Mourtzis. "Augmented reality applications in design and manufacturing". In: *CIRP annals* 61.2 (2012), pp. 657–679.
- [NH08] D. B. Nieborg and J. Hermes. "What is game studies anyway?" In: *European Journal of Cultural Studies* 11.2 (2008), pp. 131–147.
- [Nie16] P. Nieradka. "The use of mobile applications in the group of generation Y". In: *Management, Knowledge and Learning Joint International Conference* 2016. 2016, pp. 811–819.
- [NS17a] P. F.-J. Niermann and A. M. Schmutte. "Mythos Motivation". In: *Managemententscheidungen: Methoden, Handlungsempfehlungen, Best Practices* (2017), pp. 155–163.
- [Nie14] P. F.-J. Niermann. "Was ist Management?" In: Exzellente Managemententscheidungen: Methoden, Handlungsempfehlungen, Best Practices. Ed. by P. F.-J. Niermann and A. M. Schmutte. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, 2014, pp. 3–54.
 ISBN: 978-3-658-02246-4. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-658-02246-4_1. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-02246-4_1.

- [NP23] P. F.-J. Niermann and F. Palmas. "Die Zukunft ist hier: Schlüsselkompetenzen mit Virtual Reality trainieren!" In: Lernen im Zeitalter der Digitalisierung: Einblicke und Handlungsempfehlungen für die neue Arbeitswelt. Ed. by M. Harwardt, P. F.-J. Niermann, A. M. Schmutte, and A. Steuernagel. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, 2023, pp. 113–143. ISBN: 978-3-658-37901-8. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-658-37901-8_8. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-37901-8_8.
- [NS20] P. F.-J. Niermann and A. P. Schmitz. "Digitale Disruption. So lernen wir morgen!" In: Führen und Managen in der digitalen Transformation: Trends, Best Practices und Herausforderungen. Ed. by M. Harwardt, P. F.-J. Niermann, A. M. Schmutte, and A. Steuernagel. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, 2020, pp. 313–332.
 ISBN: 978-3-658-28670-5. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-658-28670-5_17. URL: https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-28670-5_17.
- [NS17b] P. F.-J. Niermann and A. M. Schmutte. "Mythos Motivation". In: Managemententscheidungen: Methoden, Handlungsempfehlungen, Best Practices. Ed. by P. F.-J. Niermann and A. M. Schmutte. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, 2017, pp. 155–163. ISBN: 978-3-658-10181-7. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-658-10181-7_14. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-10181-7_14.
- [Nin19] M. Nink. Engagement Index Deutschland 2019: Warum der Faktor Mensch im Zeitalter der Digitalisierung so wichtig ist. Gallup, Inc., 2019.
- [OWB05] H. F. O'Neil, R. Wainess, and E. L. Baker. "Classification of learning outcomes: Evidence from the computer games literature". In: *The Cirriculum Journal* 16.4 (2005), pp. 455–474.
- [Ocu12] Oculus. Oculus Rift: Step Into the Game. 2012. URL: https://www.kickstarter. com/projects/1523379957/oculus-rift-step-into-the-game?lang=de (visited on 03/10/2020).
- [Oli+21] W. Oliveira, O. Pastushenko, L. Rodrigues, A. M. Toda, P. T. Palomino, J. Hamari, and S. Isotani. "Does gamification affect flow experience? A systematic literature review". In: 2021 Proceedings of the 5th International GamiFIN Conference (2021).
- [Ore+12] M. Oren, P. Carlson, S. Gilbert, and J. M. Vance. "Puzzle assembly training: Real world vs. virtual environment". In: 2012 IEEE Virtual Reality Workshops (VRW). IEEE. 2012, pp. 27–30.
- [OIB18] K. Osmundsen, J. Iden, and B. Bygstad. "Digital Transformation: Drivers, Success Factors, and Implications". In: *Mediterranean Conference on Information Systems* (MCIS) 2018 Proceedings. 37. MCIS. 2018.
- [Oxf16] Oxford University Press. Alvin Toffler 1928-2016 American writer. 2016. URL: https://www.oxfordreference.com/display/10.1093/acref/9780191826719. 001.0001/q-oro-ed4-00010964;jsessionid=1464928F534208112085EE22CF991A96 (visited on 05/02/2022).

- [PFM18] F. Pallavicini, A. Ferrari, and F. Mantovani. "Video Games for Well-Being: A Systematic Review on the Application of Computer Games for Cognitive and Emotional Training in the Adult Population". In: *Frontiers in Psychology* 9 (2018). URL: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02127.
- [PPM22] F. Pallavicini, A. Pepe, and F. Mantovani. "The Effects of Playing Video Games on Stress, Anxiety, Depression, Loneliness, and Gaming Disorder During the Early Stages of the COVID-19 Pandemic: PRISMA Systematic Review". In: Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking (2022).
- [Pal+15] F. Pallavicini, N. Toniazzi, L. Argenton, L. Aceti, and F. Mantovani. "Developing effective virtual reality training for military forces and emergency operators: from technology to human factors". In: *International Conference on Modeling and Applied Simulation, MAS 2015.* 2015, pp. 206–210.
- [Pal+18] R. Palmarini, J. A. Erkoyuncu, R. Roy, and H. Torabmostaedi. "A systematic review of augmented reality applications in maintenance". In: *Robotics and Computer-Integrated Manufacturing* 49 (2018), pp. 215–228.
- [Pal21] F. Palmas. "Die Zukunft des Corporate Training: Gamified Extended Reality Training". In: PersonalEntwickeln. Ed. by S. Laske, A. Orthey, and M. Schmid. Köln: Deutscher Wirtschaftsdienst, 2021. ISBN: 978-3-87156-116-0.
- [Pal+19a] F. Palmas, J. Cichor, D. A. Plecher, and G. Klinker. "Acceptance and effectiveness of a virtual reality public speaking training". In: 2019 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality (ISMAR). IEEE. 2019, pp. 363–371.
- [PK21] F. Palmas and G. Klinker. "Defining Adverlearning: a Novel Concept to Enhance Learning Using In-Game Advertising". In: 2021 International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT). IEEE. 2021, pp. 72–74.
- [PK20] F. Palmas and G. Klinker. "Defining Extended Reality Training: A Long-Term Definition for All Industries". In: 2020 IEEE 20th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT). IEEE. 2020, pp. 322–324.
- [Pal+19b] F. Palmas, D. Labode, D. A. Plecher, and G. Klinker. "Comparison of a Gamified and Non-Gamified Virtual Reality Training Assembly Task". In: 2019 11th International Conference on Virtual Worlds and Games for Serious Applications (VS-Games). 2019, pp. 1–8. DOI: 10.1109/VS-Games.2019.8864583.
- [PN21] F. Palmas and P. F.-J. Niermann. *Extended Reality Training: Ein Framework für die virtuelle Lernkultur in Organisationen*. Springer Gabler Wiesbaden, 2021.
- [Pal+22] F. Palmas, P. F. J. Niermann, D. A. Plecher, and G. Klinker. "Extended Reality Training for Business and Education: The New Generation of Learning Experiences". In: 2022 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality Adjunct (ISMAR-Adjunct). 2022, pp. 322–326. DOI: 10.1109/ISMAR-Adjunct57072. 2022.00071.
- [PRK20] F. Palmas, J. Raith, and G. Klinker. "A novel approach to interactive dialogue generation based on natural language creation with context-free grammars and sentiment analysis". In: 2020 IEEE 20th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT). IEEE. 2020, pp. 79–83.
- [Pal+21] F. Palmas, R. Reinelt, J. E. Cichor, D. A. Plecher, and G. Klinker. "Virtual reality public speaking training: Experimental evaluation of direct feedback technology acceptance". In: 2021 IEEE Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR). IEEE. 2021, pp. 463–472.
- [PRK21] F. Palmas, R. Reinelt, and G. Klinker. "In-Game Advertising: Brand Integration and Player Involvement as Key Influencing Factors on Brand Recall". In: *International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*. Springer. 2021, pp. 352– 367.
- [PS20] S. Pandita and A. Stevenson Won. "Clinical applications of virtual reality in patient-centered care". In: *Technology and Health*. Ed. by J. Kim and H. Song. Academic Press, 2020, pp. 129–148. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816958-2.00007-1.
- [PLT10] J. Pange, A. Lekka, and E. I. Toki. "Different learning theories applied to diverse learning subjects A pilot study". In: *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences* 9 (2010), pp. 800–804.
- [PU21] E. Parry and P. Urwin. "Generational categories: A broken basis for human resource management research and practice". In: *Human Resource Management Journal* 31.4 (2021), pp. 857–869.
- [Pen22] R. Pendell. The World's \$7.8 Trillion Workplace Problem. 2022. URL: https://www.gallup.com/workplace/393497/world-trillion-workplace-problem.aspx (visited on 07/12/2022).
- [PSB01] D. Pertaub, M. Slater, and C. Barker. "An experiment on fear of public speaking in virtual reality". In: *Studies in health technology and informatics* (2001), pp. 372– 378.
- [PE16] V. Pieterse and M. v. Eekelen. "Which are harder? Soft skills or hard skills?" In: Annual Conference of the Southern African Computer Lecturers' Association. Springer. 2016, pp. 160–167.
- [PG22] A. S. Pillai and G. Guazzaroni. *Extended Reality Usage During COVID 19 Pandemic*. Springer Cham, 2022.
- [PWK19] D. A. Plecher, M. Wandinger, and G. Klinker. "Mixed reality for cultural heritage". In: 2019 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR). IEEE. 2019, pp. 1618–1622.
- [Pom+09] E. A. Pomery, F. X. Gibbons, M. Reis-Bergan, and M. Gerrard. "From willingness to intention: Experience moderates the shift from reactive to reasoned behavior". In: *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 35.7 (2009), pp. 894–908.

[Poo04]	S. Poole. <i>Trigger happy: Videogames and the entertainment revolution</i> . Arcade Publishing, 2004.
[Por19]	S. Porges. The Oculus Quest Is The Most Impressive Consumer Gadget In Years. 2019. URL: https://www.forbes.com/sites/sethporges/2019/05/01/the-oculus- quest-is-the-most-impressive-consumer-gadget-in-years (visited on 04/10/2020).
[Pos09]	B. Poston. "Maslow's hierarchy of needs". In: <i>The surgical technologist</i> 41.8 (2009), pp. 347–353.
[PG20]	A. S. Praetorius and D. Görlich. "How avatars influence user behavior: a review on the proteus effect in virtual environments and video games". In: <i>International</i> <i>Conference on the Foundations of Digital Games</i> . 2020.
[Pre+22]	P. Premkumar, N. Heym, P. L. Anderson, D. Brown, and A. Sumich. "Editorial: The Use of Virtual-Reality Interventions in Reducing Anxiety". In: <i>Frontiers in</i> <i>Virtual Reality</i> 3 (2022). ISSN: 2673-4192. DOI: 10.3389/frvir.2022.853678. URL: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/frvir.2022.853678.
[PS04]	C. Püttjer and U. Schnierda. <i>Geheimnisse der Körpersprache: mehr Erfolg im Beruf.</i> Campus Verlag, 2004.
[Qui14]	C. N. Quinn. <i>Revolutionize learning & development: Performance and innovation strategy for the information age.</i> John Wiley & Sons, 2014.
[Ram22]	E. J. Ramirez. <i>The Ethics of Virtual and Augmented Reality: Building Worlds</i> . Routledge, 2022.
[RK12]	R. Rani and S. Kumar-Lenka. "Motivation and work motivation: concepts, the ories & researches". In: <i>International Journal of Research in IT & Management</i> 2.8 (2012), pp. 4–6.
[Rat19]	D. Ratajczyk. "Uncanny Valley in Video Games: An Overview". In: <i>Homo Ludens</i> 1 (12) (2019), pp. 135–148.
[RFH19]	P. A. Rauschnabel, R. Felix, and C. Hinsch. "Augmented reality marketing: How mobile AR-apps can improve brands through inspiration". In: <i>Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services</i> 49 (2019), pp. 43–53.
[Rau+22a]	P. A. Rauschnabel, B. J. Babin, M. C. tom Dieck, N. Krey, and T. Jung. "What is augmented reality marketing? Its definition, complexity, and future". In: <i>Journal of Business Research</i> 142 (2022), pp. 1140–1150. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.12.084.
[Rau+22b]	P. A. Rauschnabel, R. Felix, C. Hinsch, H. Shahab, and F. Alt. "What is XR? Towards a Framework for Augmented and Virtual Reality". In: <i>Computers in</i> <i>Human Behavior</i> 133 (2022), p. 107289. ISSN: 0747-5632. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chb.2022.107289. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S074756322200111X.

[Reg98]	E. Regnet. In: Zeitschrift für Personalforschung / German Journal of Research in Human Resource Management 12.3 (1998), pp. 365–367. ISSN: 01796437, 18620000. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/23276964 (visited on 06/11/2022).
[Rei19]	R. Reinelt. "Empirische Untersuchung der Akzeptanz und Verbesserung der Präsentationsfähigkeiten durch ein Virtual Reality Public Speaking Training und Gegenüberstellung des Wirkungserfolgs der gamifizierten und nicht gami- fizierten Anwendung". MA thesis. Ismaning (Germany): University of Applied Management, 2019.
[Rey+21]	C. Reynaldo, R. Christian, H. Hosea, and A. A. S. Gunawan. "Using Video Games to Improve Capabilities in Decision Making and Cognitive Skill: A Literature Review". In: <i>Procedia Computer Science</i> 179 (2021). 5th International Conference on Computer Science and Computational Intelligence 2020, pp. 211–221.
[Ric20]	F. Richter. <i>Gaming: The Most Lucrative Entertainment Industry By Far.</i> 2020. URL: https://www.statista.com/chart/22392/global-revenue-of-selected-entertainment-industry-sectors (visited on 06/02/2021).
[Rie04]	M. Riesenhuber. "An action video game modifies visual processing". In: <i>TRENDS in Neurosciences</i> 27.2 (2004), pp. 72–74.
[Riz+13]	A. Rizzo, B. John, B. Newman, J. Williams, A. Hartholt, C. Lethin, and J. G. Buckwalter. "Virtual reality as a tool for delivering PTSD exposure therapy and stress resilience training". In: <i>Military Behavioral Health</i> 1.1 (2013), pp. 52–58.
[Rob12]	M. M. Robles. "Executive perceptions of the top 10 soft skills needed in today's workplace". In: <i>Business communication quarterly</i> 75.4 (2012), pp. 453–465.
[Rod06]	H. Rodriguez. "The playful and the serious: An approximation to Huizinga's Homo Ludens". In: <i>Game Studies</i> 6.1 (2006), pp. 1604–7982.
[Rug14]	D. Ruggiero. "Problem Solving Through Video Game Creation". In: <i>Curriculum Models for the 21st Century: Using Learning Technologies in Higher Education</i> . Ed. by M. Gosper and D. Ifenthaler. New York, NY: Springer New York, 2014, pp. 295–311.
[Rui+20]	M. Ruiz, J. Igartua, M. Mindeguia, and M. Orobengoa. "Understanding and representation of organizational training programs and their evaluation". In: <i>International Journal of Production Management and Engineering</i> 8.2 (2020), pp. 99–109.
[RD00a]	R. M. Ryan and E. L. Deci. "Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions". In: <i>Contemporary educational psychology</i> 25.1 (2000), pp. 54–67.
[RD00b]	R. M. Ryan and E. L. Deci. "Self-determination theory and the facilitation of in- trinsic motivation, social development, and well-being." In: <i>American psychologist</i> 55.1 (2000), pp. 68–78.

[RD17]	R. M. Ryan and E. L. Deci. Self-determination theory: Basic psychological needs in
	motivation, development, and wellness. Guilford Publications, 2017.

- [RRP06] R. M. Ryan, C. S. Rigby, and A. Przybylski. "The Motivational Pull of Video Games: A Self-Determination Theory Approach". In: *Motivation and Emotion* 30.4 (Dec. 2006), pp. 344–360. ISSN: 1573-6644. DOI: 10.1007/s11031-006-9051-8. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-006-9051-8.
- [Sai+17] M. Sailer, J. U. Hense, S. K. Mayr, and H. Mandl. "How gamification motivates: An experimental study of the effects of specific game design elements on psychological need satisfaction". In: *Computers in Human Behavior* 69 (2017), pp. 371–380.
 ISSN: 0747-5632. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.12.033. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S074756321630855X.
- [SH19] M. Sailer and L. Homner. "The Gamification of Learning: a Meta-analysis". In: Educational Psychology Review (Aug. 2019). ISSN: 1573-336X. DOI: 10.1007/s10648-019-09498-w. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-019-09498-w.
- [Sak02] A. M. Saks. "So what is a good transfer of training estimate? A reply to Fitzpatrick". In: *The Industrial-Organizational Psychologist* 39.3 (2002), pp. 29–30.
- [SB06] A. M. Saks and M. Belcourt. "An investigation of training activities and transfer of training in organizations". In: *Human Resource Management: Published in Cooperation with the School of Business Administration, The University of Michigan and in alliance with the Society of Human Resources Management* 45.4 (2006), pp. 629–648.
- [SZ04] K. Salen and E. Zimmerman. *Rules of play: Game design fundamentals*. MIT press, 2004.
- [SS05] M. V. Sanchez-Vives and M. Slater. "From presence to consciousness through virtual reality". In: *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 6.4 (2005), pp. 332–339.
- [Sau+22] B. Sauce, M. Liebherr, N. Judd, and T. Klingberg. "The impact of digital media on children's intelligence while controlling for genetic differences in cognition and socioeconomic background". In: *Scientific reports* 12.1 (2022), pp. 1–14.
- [Sch+18] M. Schmid Mast, E. P. Kleinlogel, B. Tur, and M. Bachmann. "The future of interpersonal skills development: Immersive virtual reality training with virtual humans". In: *Human Resource Development Quarterly* 29.2 (2018), pp. 125–141.
- [Sch+06] E. F. Schneider, A. Lang, M. Shin, and S. D. Bradley. "Death with a Story: How Story Impacts Emotional, Motivational, and Physiological Responses to First-Person Shooter Video Games". In: *Human Communication Research* 30.3 (Jan. 2006), pp. 361–375. ISSN: 0360-3989. DOI: 10.1111/j.1468-2958.2004.tb00736.x. eprint: https://academic.oup.com/hcr/article-pdf/30/3/361/22338096/ jhumcom0361.pdf.URL: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2958.2004.tb00736. x.
- [Sch21] D. U. Schott. *Souverän präsentieren-Die erste Botschaft bist Du*. Springer Gabler Wiesbaden, 2021.

- [Sch12] D. H. Schunk. *Learning theories an educational perspective sixth edition*. Pearson, 2012.
- [Seu+20] S. Seufert, J. Guggemos, C. Meier, and K. H. Helfritz. *Trendstudie 2020. Auf dem Weg zur digital lernenden Organisation–Kompetenzen für die Personalentwicklung*. Universität St. Gallen (scil)/Deutsche Gesellschaft für Personalentwicklung. St. Gallen, 2020.
- [SC18a] R. W. Sherman and B. A. Craig. "Virtual Reality: Past, Present, Future". In: Understanding Virtual Reality (Second Edition). Ed. by W. R. Sherman and B. A. Craig. Second Edition. The Morgan Kaufmann Series in Computer Graphics. Boston: Morgan Kaufmann, 2018, pp. 780–821. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-800965-9.00010-6.
- [SC18b] W. R. Sherman and A. B. Craig. "Bringing the Virtual World to Life". In: Understanding Virtual Reality (Second Edition). Ed. by W. R. Sherman and A. B. Craig. Second Edition. The Morgan Kaufmann Series in Computer Graphics. Boston: Morgan Kaufmann, 2018, pp. 658–723. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800965-9.00008-8.
- [Shu01] T. Shuell. "Learning Theories and Educational Paradigms". In: International Encyclopedia of the Social Behavioral Sciences. Ed. by N. J. Smelser and P. B. Baltes. Oxford: Pergamon, 2001, pp. 8613–8620. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-08-043076-7/02385-8. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/B0080430767023858.
- [SE16] S. S. Shyam and I. Elizabeth Joy. "Public speaking skills". In: *Training Manual on Theeranaipunya Equipping Fisherwomen Youth for Future* (2016), pp. 129–132.
- [Sie05] G. Siemens. "Connectivism: A Learning Theory for the Digital Age". In: International Journal of Instructional Technology and Distance Learning. 2 (2005). URL: http://www.itdl.org/Journal/Jan_05/article01.htm.
- [SSW21] R. Skarbez, M. Smith, and M. C. Whitton. "Revisiting Milgram and Kishino's Reality-Virtuality Continuum". In: Frontiers in Virtual Reality 2 (2021). DOI: 10. 3389/frvir.2021.647997. URL: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10. 3389/frvir.2021.647997.
- [Sla18] M. Slater. "Immersion and the illusion of presence in virtual reality". In: *British Journal of Psychology* 109.3 (2018), pp. 431–433.
- [Sla17] M. Slater. "Implicit learning through embodiment in immersive virtual reality". In: *Virtual, augmented, and mixed realities in education*. Springer, 2017, pp. 19–33.
- [Sla+20] M. Slater, C. Gonzalez-Liencres, P. Haggard, C. Vinkers, R. Gregory-Clarke, S. Jelley, Z. Watson, G. Breen, R. Schwarz, W. Steptoe, et al. "The ethics of realism in virtual and augmented reality". In: *Frontiers in Virtual Reality* 1 (2020), p. 1.

[Sla+06]	M. Slater, C. Guger, G. Edlinger, R. Leeb, G. Pfurtscheller, A. Antley, M. Garau, A. Brogni, and D. Friedman. "Analysis of physiological responses to a social situation in an immersive virtual environment". In: <i>Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments</i> 15.5 (2006), pp. 553–569.
[SY17]	S. T. Slota and M. F. Young. "Stories, Games, and Learning through Play: The Affordances of Game Narrative for Education". In: <i>Handbook of Research on Serious Games for Educational Applications</i> . IGI Global, 2017, pp. 294–319.
[SB19]	S. R. Sorko and M. Brunnhofer. "Potentials of augmented reality in training". In: <i>Procedia Manufacturing</i> 31 (2019), pp. 85–90.
[SHC17]	C. Sousa, S. Henriques, and C. Costa. "Are Videogames a Waste of Time?-The Pedagogical Value of Videogames: a Multi-Stakeholder Approach". In: <i>Proceedings of EDULEARN17 Conference</i> . 2017, pp. 2336–2341.
[Sou20]	E. Southgate. <i>Virtual reality in curriculum and pedagogy: Evidence from secondary classrooms</i> . Routledge, 2020.
[Squ06]	K. Squire. "From content to context: Videogames as designed experience". In: <i>Educational researcher</i> 35.8 (2006), pp. 19–29.
[SB05]	P. J. Standen and D. J. Brown. "Virtual reality in the rehabilitation of people with intellectual disabilities". In: <i>Cyberpsychology & behavior</i> 8.3 (2005), pp. 272–282.
[Sta21a]	Statista. <i>eSports market worldwide</i> . 2021. URL: https://www.statista.com/study/34163/esports-market-worldwide-statista-dossier (visited on 06/07/2022).
[Sta21b]	Statista. <i>Gaming monetization</i> . 2021. URL: https://www.statista.com/study/41424/gaming-monetization-statista-dossier (visited on 02/12/2022).
[Sta21c]	Statista. <i>Gaming video content worldwide</i> . 2021. URL: https://www.statista.com/ study/33687/gaming-video-content-worldwide-statista-dossier (visited on 06/01/2022).
[Sta21d]	Statista Research Department. <i>eSports digital advertising revenue in the U.S.</i> 2017-2021. 2021. URL: https://www.statista.com/statistics/991136/digital-ad-revenue-us-esports (visited on 06/11/2022).
[SN16]	M. Stevens and R. Norman. "Industry expectations of soft skills in IT graduates: a regional survey". In: <i>Proceedings of the Australasian Computer Science Week Multiconference</i> . 2016, pp. 1–9.
[Sto04]	B. Stone. "Whatever happened to virtual reality?-sector focus: virtual reality". In: <i>Information Professional</i> 1.4 (2004), pp. 12–15.
[Sup21]	SuperData Research. Virtual reality (VR) headset unit sales worldwide in 4th quarter 2019 and 4th quarter 2020, by device (in 1,000s). In Statista. 2021. URL: https://www.statista.com/statistics/987701/vr-unit-sales-brand (visited on 04/11/2022).
[Sut68]	I. E. Sutherland. "A head-mounted three dimensional display". In: <i>Proceedings of the December 9-11, 1968, fall joint computer conference, part I.</i> 1968, pp. 757–764.

[Sut65] I. E. Sutherland. "The ultimate display". In: Proceedings of the IFIP Congress, 65(2):506-508 (1965). [SAK11] J. Sweller, P. L. Ayres, and S. Kalyuga. *Cognitive load theory*. Explorations in the learning sciences, instructional systems and performance technologies. Springer, 2011. [Tan+16] M. I. Tanveer, R. Zhao, K. Chen, Z. Tiet, and M. E. Hoque. "Automanner: An automated interface for making public speakers aware of their mannerisms". In: Proceedings of the 21st International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces. 2016, pp. 385–396. [Tay+18] L. M. Taylor, N. Kerse, T. Frakking, and R. Maddison. "Active video games for improving physical performance measures in older people: a meta-analysis". In: Journal of geriatric physical therapy (2001) 41.2 (2018), p. 108. [The22] The Insight Partners. Augmented reality (AR), virtual reality (VR), and mixed reality (MR) market size worldwide in 2021 and 2028 (in billion U.S. dollars). In Statista. 2022. URL: https://www.statista.com/statistics/591181/global-augmentedvirtual-reality-market-size (visited on 06/11/2022). [Tho03] P. Thompson. "Disconnected Capitalism: Or Why Employers Can't Keep Their Side of the Bargain". In: Work, Employment and Society 17.2 (2003), pp. 359-378. DOI: 10.1177/0950017003017002007. URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0950017003017002007. [THH91] R. L. Thompson, C. A. Higgins, and J. M. Howell. "Personal Computing: Toward a Conceptual Model of Utilization". In: MIS Quarterly 15.1 (1991), pp. 125–143. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/249443. [Tig98] M. Tight. "Lifelong Learning: Opportunity or Compulsion?" In: British Journal of Educational Studies 46.3 (1998), pp. 251–263. DOI: 10.1111/1467-8527.00082. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8527.00082. URL: https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1467-8527.00082. [Tim19] Time. Best Invention 2019 - User-Friendly VR - Oculus Quest. 2019. URL: https: //time.com/collection/best-inventions-2019/5733051/oculus-quest (visited on 07/03/2020). [TJ12] H. Tohidi and M. M. Jabbari. "The effects of motivation in education". In: Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences 31 (2012). World Conference on Learning, Teaching Administration - 2011, pp. 820–824. ISSN: 1877-0428. DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.sbspro.2011.12.148.URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S1877042811030771. [Ton+19] G. F. Tondello, A. Mora, A. Marczewski, and L. E. Nacke. "Empirical validation of the gamification user types hexad scale in English and Spanish". In: International Journal of Human-Computer Studies 127 (2019), pp. 95–111.

- [TST19] M. H. Trahan, K. S. Smith, and T. B. Talbot. "Past, present, and future: Editorial on virtual reality applications to human services". In: *Journal of Technology in Human Services* 37.1 (2019), pp. 1–12.
- [Tuc93] S. A. Tucker. "Evaluation as feedback in instructional technology: The role of feedback in program evaluation". In: *Interactive Instruction and Feedback. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Educational Technology Publications* (1993), pp. 301–342.
- [Tys20] W. Tyson. "Introduction: Employability Skills in the Twenty-First Century Workforce". In: *Teaching and Learning Employability Skills in Career and Technical Education*. Springer, 2020, pp. 1–21.
- [Ull+17] A. Ullrich, C. Thim, G. Vladova, and N. Gronau. "Wandlungsbereitschaft und Wandlungsfähigkeit von Mitarbeitern bei der Transformation zu Industrie 4.0".
 In: *Industrie* 4.0. Springer, 2017, pp. 91–115.
- [Ulm+20] J. Ulmer, S. Braun, C.-T. Cheng, S. Dowey, and J. Wollert. "Gamified Virtual Reality Training Environment for the Manufacturing Industry". In: 2020 19th International Conference on Mechatronics - Mechatronika (ME). 2020, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/ME49197.2020.9286661.
- [UNE14] UNESCO. International Centre for Technical and Vocational Education and Training (UNESCO-UNEVOC). TVETipedia glossary: Lifelong learning (LLL). 2014. URL: https://unevoc.unesco.org/home/TVETipedia+Glossary/filt=all/id= 317 (visited on 05/07/2022).
- [Van+20] S. Van Ginkel, D. Ruiz, A. Mononen, C. Karaman, A. de Keijzer, and J. Sitthiworachart. "The impact of computer-mediated immediate feedback on developing oral presentation skills: An exploratory study in virtual reality". In: *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning* 36.3 (2020), pp. 412–422.
- [Vel21] J. Velasquez. BEM Gamification: The value of a definition. 2021. URL: https:// www.linkedin.com/pulse/bem-gamification-value-definition-javiervelasquez/ (visited on 03/10/2022).
- [VD96] V. Venkatesh and F. D. Davis. "A model of the antecedents of perceived ease of use: Development and test". In: *Decision sciences* 27.3 (1996), pp. 451–481.
- [Vey+17] K. Vey, T. Fandel-Meyer, J. S. Zipp, and C. Schneider. "Learning & Development in Times of Digital Transformation: Facilitating a Culture of Change and Innovation." In: *International Journal of Advanced Corporate Learning* 10.1 (2017).
- [Via19] G. Vial. "Understanding digital transformation: A review and a research agenda". In: *The journal of strategic information systems* 28.2 (2019), pp. 118–144.
- [Von+17] G. S. Von Itzstein, M. Billinghurst, R. T. Smith, and B. H. Thomas. "Augmented Reality Entertainment: Taking Gaming Out of the Box". In: *Encyclopedia of Computer Graphics and Games*. Ed. by N. Lee. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2017, pp. 1–9. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08234-9_81-1.

- [Wad02] N. J. Wade. "Charles Wheatstone (1802–1875)." In: *Perception* 31.3 (2002), pp. 265–272.
- [Wal20] O. Wallach. The history of the gaming industry in one chart. 2020. URL: https: //www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/11/gaming-games-consels-xbox-playstation-fun (visited on 06/11/2022).
- [Wan12] V. C. Wang. "Understanding and Promoting Learning Theories." In: *International Forum of Teaching & Studies.* Vol. 8. 2. 2012.
- [Wan+22] Y. Wang, Z. Su, N. Zhang, D. Liu, R. Xing, T. H. Luan, and X. Shen. A Survey on Metaverse: Fundamentals, Security, and Privacy. 2022. DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.2203. 02662. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/2203.02662.
- [WK18] K. E. Watkins and K. Kim. "Current status and promising directions for research on the learning organization". In: *Human Resource Development Quarterly* 29.1 (2018), pp. 15–29.
- [Web+20] R. Weber, K. M. Behr, J. T. Fisher, C. Lonergan, and C. Quebral. "Video Game Violence and Interactivity: Effect or Equivalence?" In: *Journal of Communication* 70.2 (Apr. 2020), pp. 219–244.
- [Wel05] J. K. Wellington. "The "soft skills" of success". In: *Vital speeches of the day* 71.20 (2005), p. 628.
- [WH20] K. Werbach and D. Hunter. For the Win, Revised and Updated Edition: The Power of Gamification and Game Thinking in Business, Education, Government, and Social Impact. University of Pennsylvania Press, 2020.
- [WH12] K. Werbach and D. Hunter. *For the win: How game thinking can revolutionize your business.* Wharton Digital Press, 2012.
- [WH15] K. Werbach and D. Hunter. *The gamification toolkit: dynamics, mechanics, and components for the win.* University of Pennsylvania Press, 2015.
- [Wig+04] A. Wigfield, J. T. Guthrie, S. Tonks, and K. C. Perencevich. "Children's motivation for reading: Domain specificity and instructional influences". In: *The Journal of Educational Research* 97.6 (2004), pp. 299–310.
- [Wil89] W. Wilder. *Optimal experience: psychological studies of flow in consciousness.* JSTOR, 1989.
- [Wil18] C. William. Making Strategic Investments In Employee Development Is Crucial For Success. 2018. URL: https://www.forbes.com/sites/williamcraig/2018/07/ 31/making-strategic-investments-in-employee-development-is-crucialfor-success (visited on 07/03/2019).
- [Wor20a] World Economic Forum. *The future of jobs report 2020*. 2020. URL: https://www3. weforum.org/docs/WEF_Future_of_Jobs_2020.pdf (visited on 07/02/2021).
- [Wor16] World Economic Forum. The future of jobs: Employment, skills and workforce strategy for the fourth industrial revolution. 2016. URL: https://www3.weforum.org/docs/ WEF_Future_of_Jobs.pdf (visited on 08/05/2021).

- [Wor20b] World Economic Forum. The Global Social Mobility Report 2020: Equality, Opportunity and a New Economic Imperative. 2020. URL: https://www3.weforum.org/docs/ Global_Social_Mobility_Report.pdf (visited on 06/03/2021).
- [Wri91] P. L. Wright. "Motivation in Organizations". In: Analyzing Organizational Behaviour. Ed. by M. Smith. London: Macmillan Education UK, 1991, pp. 77–102. ISBN: 978-1-349-21542-3. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-349-21542-3_5. URL: https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-1-349-21542-3_5.
- [XCD16] J. Y. Xie, H.-Y. W. Chen, and B. Donmez. "Gaming to Safety: Exploring Feedback Gamification for Mitigating Driver Distraction". In: *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*. Vol. 60. 1. SAGE Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA. 2016, pp. 1884–1888.
- [XRA20] XRA. Leading applications of immersive technologies in the manufacturing sector in the next two years according to XR/AR/VR/MR industry experts in the United States in 2020. In Statista. 2020. URL: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1185073/ applications-immersive-technologies-xr-ar-vr-mr-manufacturing/ (visited on 03/11/2021).
- [ZZ09] M. Zachara and J. P. Zagal. "Challenges for success in stereo gaming: a Virtual Boy case study". In: Proceedings of the international conference on Advances in Computer Enterntainment Technology. 2009, pp. 99–106.
- [ZA20] M. Zahabi and A. M. Abdul Razak. "Adaptive virtual reality-based training: a systematic literature review and framework". In: *Virtual Reality* 24.4 (2020), pp. 725–752.
- [ZTJ21] P. Zhang, J. Tang, and E. E. Jeong. "A Meta-review of Gamification Research". In: *International Conference on Information*. Springer. 2021, pp. 361–373.
- [Zhu+14] E. Zhu, A. Hadadgar, I. Masiello, and N. Zary. "Augmented reality in healthcare education: an integrative review". In: *PeerJ* 2 (2014), e469.
- [ZC11] G. Zichermann and C. Cunningham. *Gamification by design: Implementing game mechanics in web and mobile apps.* " O'Reilly Media, Inc.", 2011.
- [ZL13] G. Zichermann and J. Linder. *Gamification revolution: The Gamification Revolution: How Leaders Leverage Game Mechanics to Crush the Competition.* McGraw-Hill Publishing, 2013.
- [ZS20] T. Zigart and S. Schlund. "Evaluation of Augmented Reality Technologies in Manufacturing – A Literature Review". In: Advances in Human Factors and Systems Interaction. Ed. by I. L. Nunes. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2020, pp. 75–82.
- [Zub20] R. Zubek. *Elements of game design*. MIT Press, 2020.